## SABBATH SCHOOL LESSONS

For the Second Half Year 2015

# Keep the Truth Faithfully Parts 1 and 2

Published by the General Conference International Missionary Society Seventh-day Adventist Church Reform Movement

> 625 West Avenue Cedartown, GA 30125 Telephone 770-748-0077 Fax 770-748-0095 Email: info@sda1844.org Internet: www.sda1844.org

Author: Antonino Di Franca

Review and editing of content by the General Conference Ministerial Department

Translation, editing, and design by the General Conference Publishing Department

### **CONTENTS**

Introduction	.4
Part 1	
1. Living Daily by the Word of God	
2. Our Loving Father	
3. Emmanuel, God with Us	17
4. Comforter and Spirit of Truth	
5. Man's Origin	27
6. The Plan of Redemption	31
7. The Ten Commandments	36
8. The Holy Sabbath	
9. Respect for Life	<b>17</b>
Missionary Report from Ethiopia	52
10. A Holy Commitment	54
12. Tampering with God's Law	59
13. The Law of Sacrifices	34
13. The Old and New Covenants	39
Part 2	
14. Man's Fall	74
15. The Gift of Grace	78
16. Christ Our Righteousness	33
17. Need of Repentance	37
18. Confession of Sin	92
Missionary Report from the International Health Organization	<b>97</b>
19. Birth by the Spirit	00
20. Biblical Baptism	)3
21. The Church of the Lord	<b>7</b>
22. The Feet Washing	12
23. The Lord's Supper	16
24. The Spirit of Prophecy	20
25. The Temple of God	24
26. The Christian and Govrnment	29
Missionary Appeal for The Sabbath Watchman	34

#### Introduction

He had studied Roman law. He was the governor of Judea, and to a great degree the freedom of millions depended on his decisions. He even had the authority to judge whether the Son of God should live or die. But he was ignorant of the truth. He lived in such darkness that, when Jesus was in his presence and mentioned the word "truth," his immediate question was: "What is truth?" John 18:38. The judge of an entire region did not know what the truth was! How could Pilate make decisions when he was ignorant of the most basic factor in decision making? And he was not alone.

Two men had a problem and submitted themselves to arbitration before a judge. The plaintiff was very eloquent and persuasive in presenting his case.

When he finished, the judge nodded in approval and said, "That's right."

On hearing this, the defendant jumped up and said, "Wait a moment, Judge! You haven't even heard my side of the case yet." So, the judge told the defendant to state his case. And he, too, was very persuasive and eloquent.

When he finished, the judge said, "That's right."

When the court clerk heard this, he jumped up and said, "Judge, they both can't be right!"

The judge looked at the clerk of court and said, "That's also right." It seems that this judge had no more understanding of the truth than did Pilate in his day.

Can we say that people know more truth today than is represented in these two cases?

We can thank the Lord that we are not abandoned to the confusion of the world, for the greatest Authority in the universe has revealed who is the truth and where we can find it. "Jesus saith unto him, I am the Way, the Truth, and the Life: no man cometh unto the Father, but by Me." Later, referring to the word of God, He stated: "Sanctify them through Thy truth: Thy word is truth." John 14:6; 17:1. Thus, Jesus and God's holy word are the truth; we have this truth in our hands, just as Pilate had Jesus in his presence. Did the governor value for His excellence the One who was the truth? And what about us? What use are we making of this great treasure?

Knowing the great darkness of error and sin existing in the world, Jesus gave the great commission to His people to go and preach the truth of the gospel. "And He said unto them, Go ye into all the world, and preach the gospel to every creature." "And Jesus

came and spake unto them, saying, All power is given unto Me in heaven and in earth. Go ye therefore, and teach all nations, baptizing them in the name of the Father, and of the Son, and of the Holy Ghost: Teaching them to observe all things whatsoever I have commanded you: and, lo, I am with you alway, even unto the end of the world." Mark 16:15; Matthew 28:18-20. Faithful to this mandate, the apostle Paul could say that he had "not shunned to declare ... all the counsel of God." To the believers in his charge he repeated that "by the space of three years I ceased not to warn every one night and day with tears." Acts 20:27, 31.

To carry out the divine commission, we have to study the word of the Lord with all that it contains. The Spirit of prophecy states: "If we are to be sanctified through a knowledge of the truth found in the word of God, we must have an intelligent knowledge of His will therein revealed. We must search the Scriptures, not merely rush through a chapter and repeat it, taking no pains to understand it, but we must dig for the jewel of truth which will enrich the mind, and fortify the soul against the wiles and temptations of the archdeceiver." –Counsels on Sabbath School Work, p. 19.

These Sabbath School Lessons have been prepared so we can understand "all the counsel of God." They cover the list of subjects found in the *Principles of Faith*. In the last half of 2015 and in the first quarter of 2016, we will study the Principles in order. It is our sincere desire that this will result in a great blessing for God's people all around the world.

Truth is like light; and as light scatters darkness, so truth reveals and conquers error. More than this, divine truth has the capacity to transform. "The Scriptures are the great agency in ... transformation of character.... If studied and obeyed, the word of God works in the heart, subduing every unholy attribute. The Holy Spirit comes to convict of sin, and the faith that springs up in the heart works by love to Christ, conforming us, body, soul, and spirit, to His will." —*Christ's Object Lessons*, p. 100.

Let us make this wonderful experience of transformation as from Sabbath to Sabbath we study the truth deeply, not just consider it as a theoretical message from God. We are urged to go even further, bringing all truth into our daily lives, for "However enlightened the youth may be through Bible studies, their nature is such that unless the truth of which they have knowledge is practiced in the daily life, every attempt to elevate and ennoble will be unavailing." —*Counsels on Sabbath School Work*, p. 68.

Therefore, dear brothers and sisters, let us study these lessons not only to know the truth and be able to present it to others, but with a much higher goal—to obey it, to "be established in the present truth." And being established in the truth, let us be purified in our "souls in obeying the truth through the Spirit." 2 Peter 1:12; 1 Peter 1:22.

"The Father," writes the Spirit of prophecy, "sets His love upon His elect people who live in the midst of men. These are the people whom Christ has redeemed by the price of His own blood; and because they respond to the drawing of Christ, through the sovereign mercy of God, they are elected to be saved as His obedient children. Upon them is manifested the free grace of God, the love wherewith He hath loved them. Everyone who will humble himself as a little child, who will receive and obey the Word of God with a child's simplicity will be among the elect of God." —Seventh-day Adventist Bible Commentary, vol. 6, p. 1114.

Let us pray earnestly together that this will be our experience as from day to day and from Sabbath to Sabbath we study and live the precious truth that the Lord permits to shine on our pathway.

 $-The\ brothers\ and\ sisters\ of\ the\ General\ Conference$ 

#### Special Sabbath School Offering for GENERAL CONFERENCE INTERNET BROADCASTING AND WEBSITE

Let God's great love for you be seen in your gifts!

1

Sabbath, July 4, 2015

# Living Daily by the Word of God

"Christ resisted Satan with Scripture. He might have had recourse to His own divine power, and used His own words; but He said, 'It is written, Man shall not live by bread alone, but by every word that proceedeth out of the mouth of God.' If the Sacred Scriptures were studied and followed, the Christian would be fortified to meet the wily foe; but the word of God is neglected, and disaster and defeat follow." —Counsels on Stewardship, p. 210.

#### God's inspired word

1. Where did the instructions to write the books of the Holy Scriptures come from? Is there anything in the Bible that was written directly by God?

Exodus 34:27 And the Lord said unto Moses, Write thou these words: for after the tenor of these words I have made a covenant with thee and with Israel.

Isaiah 30:8 Now go, write it before them in a table, and note it in a book, that it may be for the time to come for ever and ever.

REVELATION 1:11, FIRST PART Saying, I am Alpha and Omega, the first and the last: and, What thou seest, write in a book, and send it unto the seven churches which are in Asia...

Exodus 31:18 And he gave unto Moses, when he had made an end of communing with him upon mount Sinai, two tables of testimony, tables of stone, written with the finger of God. (See Exodus 32:16).

"He did not even then trust His precepts to the memory of a people who were prone to forget His requirements, but wrote them upon tables of stone. He would remove from Israel all possibility of mingling heathen traditions with His holy precepts, or of confounding His requirements with human ordinances or customs. But He did not stop with giving them the precepts of the Decalogue. The people had shown themselves so easily led astray that He would leave no door of temptation unguarded. Moses was commanded to write, as God should bid him, judgments and laws giving minute instruction as to what was required. These directions relating to the duty of the people to God, to one another, and to the stranger were only the principles of the Ten Commandments amplified and given in a specific manner, that none need err. They were designed to guard the sacredness of the ten precepts engraved on the tables of stone." —Patriarchs and Prophets, p. 364.

# 2. In what ways did the Lord convey His messages to the prophets? What special guidance did they receive as they recorded the messages?

Amos 3:7 Surely the Lord God will do nothing, but he revealeth his secret unto his servants the prophets.

Numbers 12:6 And he said, Hear now my words: If there be a prophet among you, I the Lord will make myself known unto him in a vision, and will speak unto him in a dream.

- **2** Timothy **3:16** All scripture is given by inspiration of God, and is profitable for doctrine, for reproof, for correction, for instruction in righteousness.
- 1 Peter 1:21 For the prophecy came not in old time by the will of man: but holy men of God spake as they were moved by the Holy Ghost.

"The secret things,' says Moses, 'belong unto the Lord our God: but those things which are revealed belong unto us and to our children forever;' and the Lord declares by the prophet Amos, that He 'will do nothing, but He revealeth His secret unto His servants the prophets.' Deuteronomy 29:29; Amos 3:7. The students of God's word may, then, confidently expect to find the most stupendous event to take place in human history clearly pointed out in the Scriptures of truth." –The Great Controversy, p. 324.

"The Saviour had spoken through all the prophets. The Spirit of Christ which was in them' 'testified beforehand the sufferings of Christ, and the glory that should follow.' 1 Peter 1:11." —*The Desire of Ages*, p. 234.

"Through the inspiration of His Spirit the Lord gave His apostles truth, to be expressed according to the development of their minds by the Holy Spirit. But the mind is not cramped, as if forced into a certain mold."—Selected Messages, book 1, p. 22.

## 3. What are the Scriptures called, reflecting their holy origin and manner of transmission?

- 2 Samuel 22:31 As for God, his way is perfect; the word of the Lord is tried: he is a buckler to all them that trust in him.
- 1 Chronicles 17:3 And it came to pass the same night, that the word of God came to Nathan,...

REVELATION 1:1 The Revelation of Jesus Christ, which God gave unto him, to show unto his servants things which must shortly come to pass; and he sent and signified it by his angel unto his servant John.

Romans 3:2 Much every way: chiefly, because that unto them were committed the oracles of God.

"This Holy Book has withstood the assaults of Satan, who has united with evil men to make everything of divine character shrouded in clouds and darkness. But the Lord has preserved this Holy Book by His own miraculous power in its present shape—a chart or guidebook to the human family to show them the way to heaven.... This Word ... is the guidebook to the inhabitants of a fallen world, bequeathed to them, that by studying and obeying the directions, not one soul would lose its way....

"How many are betrayed into sin, because they have not, through prayerful study of the Word of God, realized the sinfulness of sin, and found out how they may steadfastly resist it. When temptation comes upon them, they seem to be off guard, and ignorant of the devices of the enemy. We are living in perilous times, and as we draw near the close of earth's history, there will be no safety for those who do not become familiar with the Word of God." —Sons and Daughters of God, p. 190.

#### FOR LIGHT AND INSPIRATION

4. For what purpose did the Lord give this valuable resource to man? Having a divine origin, how long will it be valid?

PSALM 119:105 Thy word is a lamp unto my feet, and a light unto my path.

2 Timothy 3:16, 17 All scripture is given by inspiration of God, and is profitable for doctrine, for reproof, for correction, for instruction in righteousness: <sup>17</sup>That the man of God may be perfect, thoroughly furnished unto all good works.

Isaiah 40:8 The grass withereth, the flower fadeth: but the word of our God shall stand for ever.

Luke 21:33 Heaven and earth shall pass away: but my words shall not pass away.

"In His word, God has committed to men the knowledge necessary for salvation. The Holy Scriptures are to be accepted as an authoritative, infallible revelation of His will. They are the standard of character, the revealer of doctrines, and the test of experience." —The Great Controversy, p. vii.

"The Bible is the standard by which to test the claims of all who profess sanctification. Jesus prayed that His disciples might be sanctified through the truth, and He says, 'Thy word is truth;' while the psalmist declares, 'Thy law is the truth.' All whom God is leading will manifest a high regard for the Scriptures in which His voice is heard. The Bible will be to them 'profitable for doctrine, for reproof, for correction, for instruction in righteousness: that the man of God may be perfect, throughly furnished unto all good works.'" —Seventh-day Adventist Bible Commentary, vol. 5. p. 1147.

5. How powerful is God's word? What happened when the Lord spoke at creation or when Jesus responded to those who pleaded for healing?

JOHN 6:63 It is the spirit that quickeneth; the flesh profiteth nothing: the words that I speak unto you, they are spirit, and they are life.

Psalm 33:9 For he spake, and it was done; he commanded, and it stood fast.

MARK 4:39, 41 And he arose, and rebuked the wind, and said unto the sea, Peace, be still. And the wind ceased, and there was a great calm.... <sup>41</sup>And they feared exceedingly, and said one to another, What manner of man is this, that even the wind and the sea obey him?

Matthew 12:13 Then saith he to the man, Stretch forth thine hand. And he stretched it forth; and it was restored whole, like as the other.

"The creative energy that called the worlds into existence is in the word of God. This word imparts power; it begets life. Every command is a promise; accepted by the will, received into the soul, it brings with it the life of the Infinite One. It transforms the nature and re-creates the soul in the image of God." –*Education*, p. 126.

"The word of God-the truth—is the channel through which the Lord manifests His Spirit and power. Obedience to the word produces fruit of the required quality—'unfeigned love of the brethren.' This love is heaven-born and leads to high motives and unselfish actions."—The Acts of the Apostles, p. 519.

#### Conditions for receiving the blessings

6. In studying the inspired letter of our heavenly Father, what is a prerequisite for understanding it? What attitude makes it possible for one to receive the promised blessings?

2 Chronicles 20:20, last part Believe in the Lord your God, so shall ye be established; believe his prophets, so shall ye prosper.

John 11:40 Jesus saith unto her, Said I not unto thee, that, if thou wouldest believe, thou shouldest see the glory of God?

Luke 11:28 But he said, Yea rather, blessed are they that hear the word of God, and keep it.

Romans 2:13 For not the hearers of the law are just before God, but the doers of the law shall be justified.

"We are accountable only for the light that shines upon us. The commandments of God and the testimony of Jesus are testing us. If we are faithful and obedient, God will delight in us, and bless us as His own chosen, peculiar people. When perfect faith and perfect love and obedience abound, working in the hearts of those who are Christ's followers, they will have a powerful influence....

"The light of prophecy still burns for the guidance of souls, saying, 'This is the way, walk ye in it.' It shines on the pathway of the just to commend, and on the way of the unjust to lead to repentance and conversion. Through its agency sin will be rebuked and iniquity unmasked. It is progressive in the performance of its duty to reflect light on the past, the present, and the future." —My Life Today, pp. 42, 43.

7. What other attitudes are necessary to receive divine revelation? What does this spiritual food produce when it is "eaten" daily like bread?

Matthew 11:25 At that time Jesus answered and said, I thank thee, O Father, Lord of heaven and earth, because thou hast hid these things from the wise and prudent, and hast revealed them unto babes. (See Matthew 18:3.)

JOHN 5:39 Search the scriptures; for in them ye think ye have eternal life: and they are they which testify of me.

Matthew 4:4 But he answered and said, It is written, Man shall not live by bread alone, but by every word that proceedeth out of the mouth of God.

JEREMIAH 15:16 Thy words were found, and I did eat them; and thy word was unto me the joy and rejoicing of mine heart.

"We must be constantly meditating upon the word, eating it, digesting it, and by practice, assimilating it, so that it is taken into the life current. He who feeds on Christ daily will by his example teach others to think less of that which they eat, and to feel much greater anxiety for the food they give to the soul." –*Counsels on Diet and Foods*, pp. 89, 90.

"The Bible is God's voice speaking to us just as surely as though we could hear Him with our ears. The word of the living God is not merely written, but spoken. Do we receive the Bible as the oracle of God? If we realized the importance of this Word, with what awe would we open it, and with what earnestness would we search its precepts. The reading and contemplating of the Scriptures would be regarded as an audience with the Most High." —In Heavenly Places, p. 134.

- How much do I love the word of God and eating it as daily spiritual food?
- Do I consider the Bible's messages merely as information or as living principles?
- What do I choose to follow when discrepancies seem to appear between God's word and man's interests?

\* \* \*

### Our Loving Father

"'God is love' is written upon every opening bud, upon every spire of springing grass.... The word of God reveals His character. He Himself has declared His infinite love and pity. When Moses prayed, 'Show me Thy glory,' the Lord answered, 'I will make all My goodness pass before thee.' Exodus 33:18, 19. This is His glory." —Steps to Christ, p. 10.

#### Creation reveals God's existence

1. Before the alphabet was developed or any word of the Bible was written, what powerful evidence did men receive of God's existence? Do you see differences between nature's revelation and the written revelation in the Holy Scriptures?

PSALM 19:1, 2 The heavens declare the glory of God; and the firmament sheweth his handiwork. <sup>2</sup>Day unto day uttereth speech, and night unto night sheweth knowledge.

Isaiah 40:26 Lift up your eyes on high, and behold who hath created these things, that bringeth out their host by number: he calleth them all by names by the greatness of his might, for that he is strong in power; not one faileth.

"In the beginning, God was revealed in all the works of creation." – The Desire of Ages, p. 20.

"God has surrounded us with nature's beautiful scenery to attract and interest the mind. It is His design that we should associate the glories of nature with His character. If we faithfully study the book of nature, we shall find it a fruitful source for contemplating the infinite love and power of God." –Messages to Young People, pp. 365, 366.

"His works, as seen in the natural world, are not one half comprehended or appreciated. These silent preachers will teach human beings their lessons, if they will only be attentive hearers....

"Sin has obscured his [man's] vision, and of himself he cannot interpret nature without placing it above God. He cannot discern in it God, or Jesus Christ, whom He has sent. He is in the same position as were the Athenians, who erected their altars for the worship of nature." –Seventh-day Adventist Bible Commentary, vol. 6, pp. 1067, 1068.

#### The Bible begins by presenting God and His work

2. Of whom do the first book, first chapter, and first line of the Holy Bible testify? How is God presented here and elsewhere? Genesis 1:1 In the beginning God created the heaven and the earth.

PSALM 33:6 By the word of the Lord were the heavens made; and all the host of them by the breath of his mouth.

"Since the book of nature and the book of revelation bear the impress of the same master mind, they cannot but speak in harmony. By different methods, and in different languages, they witness to the same great truths." –*Education*, p. 128.

"The duty to worship God is based upon the fact that He is the Creator and that to Him all other beings owe their existence. And wherever, in the Bible, His claim to reverence and worship, above the gods of the heathen, is presented, there is cited the evidence of His creative power.... Says the psalmist: 'Know ye that the Lord He is God: it is He that hath made us, and not we ourselves.' 'O come, let us worship and bow down: let us kneel before the Lord our Maker.' Psalms 100:3; 95:6. And the holy beings who worship God in heaven state, as the reason why their homage is due to Him: 'Thou art worthy, O Lord, to receive glory and honor and power: for Thou hast created all things.' Revelation 4:11." —The Great Controversy, pp. 436, 437.

#### GOD IS REVEALED AS PERSONAL

# 3. Is God presented as an abstract entity, or as a personal being with a clear identity? What reveals His loving, joyful generosity?

Genesis 1:26, 27 And God said, Let us make man in our image, after our likeness: and let them have dominion over the fish of the sea, and over the fowl of the air, and over the cattle, and over all the earth, and over every creeping thing that creepeth upon the earth. <sup>27</sup>So God created man in his own image, in the image of God created he him; male and female created he them.

John 14:9 Jesus saith unto him, Have I been so long time with you, and yet hast thou not known me, Philip? he that hath seen me hath seen the Father; and how sayest thou then, Show us the Father?

PSALM 145:15, 16 The eyes of all wait upon thee; and thou givest them their meat in due season. <sup>16</sup>Thou openest thine hand, and satisfiest the desire of every living thing.

"The Lord created man out of the dust of the earth. He made Adam a partaker of His life, His nature. There was breathed into him the breath of the Almighty, and he became a living soul. Adam was perfect in formstrong, comely, pure, bearing the image of his Maker." —Seventh-day Adventist Bible Commentary, vol. 1, p. 1081.

"In the creation of man was manifest the agency of a personal God. When God had made man in His image, the human form was perfect in all its arrangements, but it was without life. Then a personal, self-existing God breathed into that form the breath of life, and man became a living, intelligent being. All parts of the human organism were set in action. The heart, the arteries, the veins, the tongue, the hands, the feet, the senses, the faculties of the mind, all began their work, and all were

placed under law. Man became a living soul. Through Christ the Word, a personal God created man and endowed him with intelligence and power."—*Ministry of Healing*, p. 415.

#### GOD'S SUPERIORITY

4. What is revealed about God's superior nature? Can we imagine or understand everything about His nature?

John 4:24 God is a Spirit: and they that worship him must worship him in spirit and in truth.

2 Corinthians 3:17 Now the Lord is that Spirit: and where the Spirit of the Lord is, there is liberty.

Luke 24:39, last part ... A spirit hath not flesh and bones, as ye see me have.

Job 36:26 Behold, God is great, and we know him not, neither can the numbers of his years be searched out.

"The mighty power that works through all nature and sustains all things is not, as some men of science claim, merely an all-pervading principle, an actuating energy. God is a spirit; yet He is a personal being, for man was made in His image. As a personal being, God has revealed Himself in His Son. Jesus, the outshining of the Father's glory, 'and the express image of His person' (Hebrews 1:3), was on earth found in fashion as a man. As a personal Saviour He came to the world. As a personal Saviour He ascended on high. As a personal Saviour He intercedes in the heavenly courts. Before the throne of God in our behalf ministers 'One like the Son of man.' Daniel 7:13." – Education, pp. 131, 132.

5. While man receives life as a gift and can retain it for a limited time, what great prerogative does God possess? Despite being so different and so much higher than man, how does He relate to those who believe in Him as well as to those who do not?

PSALM 36:9 For with thee is the fountain of life: in thy light shall we see light.

Jeremiah 10:10, first part But the Lord is the true God, he is the living God, and an everlasting king:...

John 5:26 For as the Father hath life in himself; so hath he given to the Son to have life in himself.

Matthew 5:16, 45 Let your light so shine before men, that they may see your good works, and glorify your Father which is in heaven... <sup>45</sup>That ye may be the children of your Father which is in heaven: for he maketh his sun to rise on the evil and on the good, and sendeth rain on the just and on the unjust.

"God is the source of life and light and joy to the universe. Like rays of light from the sun, blessings flow out from Him to all the creatures

He has made. In His infinite love He has granted men the privilege of becoming partakers of the divine nature, and, in their turn, of diffusing blessings to their fellow men. This is the highest honor, the greatest joy, that it is possible for God to bestow upon men." –*Counsels on Stewardship*, p. 23.

"God is acquainted with our trials, and sympathizes with our griefs. Every son and daughter of Adam may understand that our Creator is the friend of sinners. For in every doctrine of grace, every promise of joy, every deed of love, every divine attraction presented in the Saviour's life on earth, we see 'God with us." —The Desire of Ages, p. 24.

#### More divine attributes

## 6. What other wonderful characteristics show the enormous difference between God and man?

1 Timothy 1:17 Now unto the King eternal, immortal, invisible, the only wise God, be honour and glory for ever and ever. Amen.

Romans 11:33-36 O the depth of the riches both of the wisdom and knowledge of God! how unsearchable are his judgments, and his ways past finding out! <sup>34</sup>For who hath known the mind of the Lord? or who hath been his counsellor? <sup>35</sup>Or who hath first given to him, and it shall be recompensed unto him again? <sup>36</sup>For of him, and through him, and to him, are all things: to whom be glory for ever. Amen.

LEVITICUS 19:2 Speak unto all the congregation of the children of Israel, and say unto them, Ye shall be holy: for I the Lord your God am holy.

Luke 18:19 And Jesus said unto him, Why callest thou me good? none is good, save one, that is, God.

"The Lord existed before He purposed to create the world. He is 'from everlasting.' 'Before the mountains were brought forth, or ever Thou hadst formed the earth and the world, even from everlasting to everlasting, Thou art God." —Manuscript Releases, vol. 19, p. 249.

"Jehovah, the eternal, self-existent, uncreated One, Himself the Source and Sustainer of all, is alone entitled to supreme reverence and worship." —*Patriarchs and Prophets*, p. 305.

"Each heartbeat, each breath, is the inspiration of Him who breathed into the nostrils of Adam the breath of life—the inspiration of the ever-present God, the great I AM....

"Upon all created things is seen the impress of the Deity. Nature testifies of God. The susceptible mind, brought in contact with the miracle and mystery of the universe, cannot but recognize the working of infinite power. Not by its own inherent energy does the earth produce its bounties, and year by year continue its motion around the sun." –*Medical Ministry*, p. 9.

## 7. What holy attributes are often mentioned about God? Therefore, what should constantly increase in our lives?

1 John 4:16 And we have known and believed the love that God hath to us. God is love; and he that dwelleth in love dwelleth in God, and God in him.

Exodus 34:6 And the Lord passed by before him, and proclaimed, The Lord, The Lord God, merciful and gracious, longsuffering, and abundant in goodness and truth.

HEBREWS 11:6 But without faith it is impossible to please him: for he that cometh to God must believe that he is, and that he is a rewarder of them that diligently seek him.

PSALM 9:10 And they that know thy name will put their trust in thee: for thou, Lord, hast not forsaken them that seek thee.

"God is love. Like rays of light from the sun, love and light and joy flow out from Him to all His creatures. It is His nature to give. His very life is the outflow of unselfish love. 'His glory is His children's good; His joy, His tender Fatherhood." —Thoughts from the Mount of Blessing, p. 77.

"We are called to represent to the world the character of God as it was revealed to Moses. In answer to the prayer of Moses, 'Show me Thy glory,' the Lord promised, 'I will make all My goodness pass before thee.' 'And the Lord passed by before him, and proclaimed, The Lord, The Lord God, merciful and gracious, longsuffering, and abundant in goodness and truth, keeping mercy for thousands, forgiving iniquity and transgression and sin.' Exodus 33:18, 19; 34:6, 7. This is the fruit that God desires from His people. In the purity of their characters, in the holiness of their lives, in their mercy and loving-kindness and compassion, they are to demonstrate that the 'law of the Lord is perfect, converting the soul.' Psalm 19:7."—Testimonies for the Church, vol. 6, p. 221.

## 8. What affectionate term did Jesus use when He spoke about God? What does this mean for us?

Matthew 5:16, 45, 48 Let your light so shine before men, that they may see your good works, and glorify your Father which is in heaven... <sup>45</sup>That ye may be the children of your Father which is in heaven: for he maketh his sun to rise on the evil and on the good, and sendeth rain on the just and on the unjust... <sup>48</sup>Be ye therefore perfect, even as your Father which is in heaven is perfect.

"The first lesson that children are to be taught is that God is their Father. This lesson should be given them in their earliest years. Parents are to realize that they are responsible before God for making their children acquainted with their heavenly Father.... That God is love is to be taught by every lesson." —Child Guidance, p. 487.

"The Creator of the universe addresses you as an affectionate Father. If you separate from the world in your affections, and remain free from its contamination, escaping the corruption that is in the world through lust, God will be your Father, He will adopt you into His family, and you will be His heir. In place of the world, He will give you, for a life of obedience, the kingdom under the whole heavens. He will give you an eternal weight of glory and a life that is as enduring as eternity.

"Your heavenly Father proposes to make you a member of the royal family, that through His exceeding great and precious promises you may be a partaker of the divine nature, having escaped the corruption that is in the world through lust." —*Testimonies for the Church*, vol. 2, p. 44.

- What personal knowledge do I have of God? Where did I get this from?
- Do I have the faith that He wants to see in me as His child?
- What am I doing every day to become better acquainted with Him?

\* \* \*

3

Sabbath, July 18, 2015

### Emmanuel, God with Us

"'Emmanuel, God with us,' this means everything to us. What a broad foundation does it lay for our faith. What a hope big with immortality does it place before the believing soul. God with us in Christ Jesus to accompany us every step of the journey to heaven. The Holy Spirit with us as a comforter, a guide in our perplexities, to soothe our sorrows, and shield us in temptation. 'O the depth of the riches both of the wisdom and knowledge of God!" —My Life Today, p. 290.

#### Jesus' existence before His incarnation

1. What did the prophets testify concerning Messiah's existence before coming to earth as a baby? What special names were applied to Him?

MICAH 5:2 But thou, Bethlehem Ephratah, though thou be little among the thousands of Judah, yet out of thee shall he come forth unto me that is to be ruler in Israel; whose goings forth have been from of old, from everlasting.

Isaiah 7:14 Therefore the Lord himself shall give you a sign; Behold, a virgin shall conceive, and bear a son, and shall call his name Immanuel.

Matthew 1:23 Behold, a virgin shall be with child, and shall bring forth a son, and they shall call his name Emmanuel, which being interpreted is, God with us.

Isaiah 9:6 For unto us a child is born, unto us a son is given: and the government shall be upon his shoulder: and his name shall be called Wonderful, Counsellor, The mighty God, The everlasting Father, The Prince of Peace.

"Since Jesus came to dwell with us, we know that God is acquainted with our trials and sympathizes with our griefs. Every son and daughter of Adam may understand that our Creator is the friend of sinners....

"'God with us' is the surety of our deliverance from sin, the assurance of our power to obey the law of heaven.

"Christ sought to teach the grand truth so needful for us to learn, that God is always with us, an inmate of every dwelling, that He is acquainted with every action performed on earth. He knows the thoughts that are framed in the mind and endorsed by the soul. He hears every word that falls from the lips of human beings." —My Life Today, p. 290.

#### PROPHECIES OF HIS COMING

2. What great mission was He to fulfill when He came to earth? Like travelers who supply their itinerary to those who are waiting for them, what was specified by the Lord so the people would recognize and watch for Him?

Isaiah 53:10, 11 Yet it pleased the Lord to bruise him; he hath put him to grief: when thou shalt make his soul an offering for sin, he shall see his seed, he shall prolong his days, and the pleasure of the Lord shall prosper in his hand. <sup>11</sup>He shall see of the travail of his soul, and shall be satisfied: by his knowledge shall my righteous servant justify many; for he shall bear their iniquities.

Daniel 9:24, 25 Seventy weeks are determined upon thy people and upon thy holy city, to finish the transgression, and to make an end of sins, and to make reconciliation for iniquity, and to bring in everlasting righteousness, and to seal up the vision and prophecy, and to anoint the most Holy. <sup>25</sup>Know therefore and understand, that from the going forth of the commandment to restore and to build Jerusalem unto the Messiah the Prince shall be seven weeks, and threescore and two weeks: the street shall be built again, and the wall, even in troublous times.

MICAH 5:2 But thou, Bethlehem Ephratah, though thou be little among the thousands of Judah, yet out of thee shall he come forth unto me that is to be ruler in Israel; whose goings forth have been from of old, from everlasting.

"God could not do more for man than He has done in giving His beloved Son, nor could He do less and yet secure the redemption of man and maintain the dignity of the divine law.... In this act He unveiled to man the character of His Father, showing to every human being that God can be just and yet the justifier of him that believeth in Jesus.

"The Majesty of heaven pleased not Himself. Whatever He did was in reference to the salvation of man. Selfishness in all its forms stood rebuked in His presence. He assumed our nature that He might suffer in our stead, making His soul an offering for sin. He was stricken of God and afflicted to save man from the blow which he deserved because of the transgression of God's law. By the light shining from the cross, Christ proposed to draw all men unto Him. His human heart yearned over the race. His arms were opened to receive them, and He invited all to come to Him. His life on earth was one continued act of self-denial and condescension." –*Testimonies for the Church*, vol. 4, p. 418.

#### $oldsymbol{A}$ heavenly voice confirming $oldsymbol{H}$ is divine nature

3. What voice was heard at various times affirming the Messiah's divine nature? What did Jesus say concerning His relationship to the heavenly Father?

Matthew 3:17; 17:5 And lo a voice from heaven, saying, This is my beloved Son, in whom I am well pleased.... 17:5While he yet spake, behold, a bright cloud overshadowed them: and behold a voice out of the cloud, which said, This is my beloved Son, in whom I am well pleased; hear ye him

John 10:29, 30 My Father, which gave them me, is greater than all; and no man is able to pluck them out of my Father's hand. <sup>30</sup>I and my Father are one.

"Jesus claimed His sonship to the Eternal.... Jesus was no less the Son of God in His lowly home, in His submission to His parents, than when God spoke from His eternal throne, saying, "This is My beloved Son." —Sons and Daughters of God, p. 129.

"The glory that rested upon Christ is a pledge of the love of God for us. It tells of the power of prayer—how the human voice may reach the ear of God, and our petitions find acceptance in the courts of heaven. The light that fell from the open portals upon the head of our Saviour, will fall upon us as we pray for help to resist temptation. The voice that spoke to Jesus says to every believing soul, "This is my beloved child, in whom I am well pleased." —Our High Calling, p. 156.

#### PARTAKER OF FLESH AND BLOOD

# 4. At the same time, what is known about His human nature? Why was it necessary for Him to be made like His brethren?

John 1:14 And the Word was made flesh, and dwelt among us, (and we beheld his glory, the glory as of the only begotten of the Father,) full of grace and truth.

HEBREWS 2:14, 17 Forasmuch then as the children are partakers of flesh and blood, he also himself likewise took part of the same; that through death he might destroy him that had the power of death, that is, the devil.... <sup>17</sup>Wherefore in all things it behoved him to be made like unto his brethren, that he might be a merciful and faithful high priest in things pertaining to God, to make reconciliation for the sins of the people.

"Christ alone was able to represent the Deity. He who had been in the presence of the Father from the beginning, He who was the express image of the invisible God, was alone sufficient to accomplish this work. No verbal description could reveal God to the world. Through a life of purity, a life of perfect trust and submission to the will of God, a life of humiliation such as even the highest seraph in heaven would have shrunk from, God Himself must be revealed to humanity. In order to do this, our Saviour clothed His divinity with humanity. He employed the human faculties, for only by adopting these could He be comprehended by humanity. Only humanity could reach humanity. He lived out the character of God through the human body which God had prepared for Him. He blessed the world by living out in human flesh the life of God, thus showing that He had the power to unite humanity to divinity." – Seventh-day Adventist Bible Commentary, vol. 7, p. 924.

#### PROCLAIMED SAVIOUR AND LORD

5. Although He took the nature of His brethren, as what was He announced before and on the day of His birth? What testimony do we have of His character and life?

Matthew 1:21 And she shall bring forth a son, and thou shalt call his name JESUS: for he shall save his people from their sins.

Luke 2:11 For unto you is born this day in the city of David a Saviour, which is Christ the Lord.

Hebrews 7:26 For such an high priest became us, who is holy, harmless, undefiled, separate from sinners, and made higher than the heavens.

1 Peter 2:22 Who did no sin, neither was guile found in his mouth.

"The theme of redemption is one that the angels desire to look into; it will be the science and the song of the redeemed throughout the ceaseless ages of eternity. Is it not worthy of careful thought and study now? The infinite love and mercy of Jesus, the sacrifice made in our behalf, calls for the most serious and solemn reflection. We should dwell upon the character of our dear Redeemer and Intercessor. We should meditate upon the mission of Him who came to save His people from their sins. As we thus contemplate heavenly themes, our faith and love will grow stronger, and our prayers will be more and more acceptable to God, because they will be more and more mixed with faith and love. They will be intelligent and fervent. There will be more constant confidence in Jesus, and a daily, living experience in His power to save to the utmost all that come unto God by Him." –Steps to Christ, p. 88.

#### PLEADING IN HEAVEN

6. After His sacrifice on the cross, what ministry did Jesus go to heaven to carry out on man's behalf? Being assured that He is pleading for us, what should we do?

Romans 8:34 Who is he that condemneth? It is Christ that died, yea rather, that is risen again, who is even at the right hand of God, who also maketh intercession for us.

Hebrews 7:25; 10:22 Wherefore he is able also to save them to the uttermost that come unto God by him, seeing he ever liveth to make intercession for them.... <sup>10:22</sup>Let us draw near with a true heart in full assurance of faith, having our hearts sprinkled from an evil conscience, and our bodies washed with pure water.

"Christ might commission the angels of heaven to pour out the vials of wrath on our world, full of hypocrisy and sin, destroying those who are filled with hatred to God. He might blot this dark spot from His universe. But He does not do this. He is today standing at the altar of incense, presenting before God the prayers of those who desire His help. 'Who is he that condemneth? It is Christ that died, yea rather, that is risen again, who is even at the right hand of God, who also maketh intercession for us.'

"Jesus is to be loved and trusted. All who will be obedient He leads upward step by step, as fast as they can advance, that, while standing by the side of the Sin-bearer, in the light that proceeds from the throne of God, they may breathe the air of the heavenly courts." —Daughters of God, p. 240.

#### RETURNING IN GLORY

7. What will happen when Jesus' ministry in the heavenly sanctuary is finished? What glory will accompany Him when He comes to take the redeemed to His Father's house?

JOHN 14:3 And if I go and prepare a place for you, I will come again, and receive you unto myself; that where I am, there ye may be also.

Matthew 16:27 For the Son of man shall come in the glory of his Father with his angels; and then he shall reward every man according to his works.

1 Peter 5:4 And when the chief Shepherd shall appear, ye shall receive a crown of glory that fadeth not away.

"Christ has made every provision that His church shall be a transformed body, illumined with the Light of the world, possessing the glory of Immanuel. It is His purpose that every Christian shall be surrounded with a spiritual atmosphere of light and peace. He desires that we shall reveal His own joy in our lives....

"Christ is coming with power and great glory. He is coming with His own glory and with the glory of the Father. And the holy angels will attend Him on His way. While all the world is plunged in darkness, there will be light in every dwelling of the saints. They will catch the first light of His second appearing. The unsullied light will shine from His splendor, and Christ the Redeemer will be admired by all who have served Him. While the wicked flee, Christ's followers will rejoice in His presence.

"Then it is that the redeemed from among men will receive their promised inheritance." -Prophets and Kings, p. 720.

- How do you feel when you think of your Saviour giving His life to save you from eternal death?
- What is your desire, since He lives to intercede for you?
- What do you expect to happen on the glorious day of His coming?

\* \* \*

### Comforter and Spirit of Truth

"The Spirit is given as a regenerating agency, to make effectual the salvation wrought by the death of our Redeemer. The Spirit is constantly seeking to draw the attention of men to the great offering that was made on the cross of Calvary, to unfold to the world the love of God, and to open to the convicted soul the precious things of the Scriptures." —The Acts of the Apostles, p. 52.

#### THE LORD'S SPIRIT AT CREATION

1. What stupendous work did the Spirit of God carry out in this earth's creation? Are we debtors to the Holy Spirit for our existence?

Psalm 33:6 By the word of the Lord were the heavens made; and all the host of them by the breath of his mouth.

Job 33:4 The spirit of God hath made me, and the breath of the Almighty hath given me life.

Genesis 2:7 And the Lord God formed man of the dust of the ground, and breathed into his nostrils the breath of life; and man became a living soul.

Psalm 104:30 Thou sendest forth thy spirit, they are created: and thou renewest the face of the earth.

"'When He, the Spirit of truth, is come, He will guide you into all truth.' John 16:13. Only by the aid of that Spirit who in the beginning 'was brooding upon the face of the waters;' of that Word by whom 'all things were made;' of that 'true Light, which lighteth every man that cometh into the world,' can the testimony of science be rightly interpreted. Only by Their guidance can its deepest truths be discerned." –*Education*, p. 134.

#### THE HOLY SPIRIT AND PROPHECY

2. What happens when people are filled with the Holy Spirit? Who even made this experience in past times?

1 Samuel 10:9-12 And it was so, that when he had turned his back to go from Samuel, God gave him another heart: and all those signs came to pass that day. <sup>10</sup>And when they came thither to the hill, behold, a company of prophets met him; and the spirit of God came upon him, and he prophesied among them. <sup>11</sup>And it came to pass, when all that knew him beforetime saw that, behold, he prophesied among the prophets, then the

people said one to another, What is this that is come unto the son of Kish? Is Saul also among the prophets? <sup>12</sup>And one of the same place answered and said, But who is their father? Therefore it became a proverb, Is Saul also among the prophets?

"The Lord would not leave Saul to be placed in a position of trust without divine enlightenment. He was to have a new calling, and the Spirit of the Lord came upon him. The effect was that he was changed into a new man. The Lord gave Saul a new spirit, other thoughts, other aims and desires than he had previously had. This enlightenment, with the spiritual knowledge of God, placing him on vantage ground, was to bind his will to the will of Jehovah." –Seventh-day Adventist Bible Commentary, vol. 2, p. 1013.

"The manifestation of the Holy Spirit was similar to its manifestation in the days of Samuel and Saul in the school of the prophets. On one occasion the showers of grace were outpoured, and all that were gathered together were prophesying." —Special Testimonies on Education, p. 79.

"When the Spirit of the Lord rested upon the elders about the tabernacle, it fell also upon them, and they prophesied, speaking words of wisdom and eloquence." —The Signs of the Times, August 12, 1880.

#### Inspiring the prophets

- 3. Who were inspired during the centuries to convey light and guidance to God's people? Thanks to this wonderful process, what did they receive from the Lord's mouth?
  - 2 Peter 1:21 For the prophecy came not in old time by the will of man: but holy men of God spake as they were moved by the Holy Ghost.
  - 2 Timothy 3:16, 17 All scripture is given by inspiration of God, and is profitable for doctrine, for reproof, for correction, for instruction in righteousness: <sup>17</sup>That the man of God may be perfect, thoroughly furnished unto all good works.

"I take the Bible just as it is, as the Inspired Word. I believe its utterances in an entire Bible....

"The writers of the Bible had to express their ideas in human language. It was written by human men. These men were inspired of the Holy Spirit....

"The Infinite One by His Holy Spirit has shed light into the minds and hearts of His servants. He has given dreams and visions, symbols and figures; and those to whom the truth was thus revealed, have themselves embodied the thought in human language." —Selected Messages, book 1, pp. 17, 19, 25.

#### Powerful support during Jesus' ministry

4. How was the Holy Spirit's presence revealed after Jesus' baptism? In His ministry, did Jesus receive this precious Gift in a limited way?

Luke 3:21, 22; 4:18 Now when all the people were baptized, it came to pass, that Jesus also being baptized, and praying, the heaven was opened, And the Holy Ghost descended in a bodily shape like a dove upon him, and a voice came from heaven, which said, Thou art my beloved Son; in thee I am well pleased.... 4:18The Spirit of the Lord is upon me, because he hath anointed me to preach the gospel to the poor; he hath sent me to heal the brokenhearted, to preach deliverance to the captives, and recovering of sight to the blind, to set at liberty them that are bruised.

John 3:34 For he whom God hath sent speaketh the words of God: for God giveth not the Spirit by measure unto him.

"The Lord had promised to give John a sign whereby he might know who was the Messiah, and now as Jesus went up out of the water, the promised sign was given; for he saw the heavens opened, and the Spirit of God, like a dove of burnished gold, hovered over the head of Christ, and a voice came from heaven, saying, 'This is My beloved Son, in whom I am well pleased.'...

"What does this scene mean to us?... The Holy Spirit will be given to those who seek for its power and grace, and will help our infirmities when we would have audience with God. Heaven is open to our petitions, and we are invited to come 'boldly unto the throne of grace, that we may obtain mercy, and find grace to help in time of need.' We are to come in faith, believing that we shall obtain the very things we ask of Him."—Seventh-day Adventist Bible Commentary, vol. 5, pp. 1077, 1078.

#### Comforter and Guide to the truth

5. What special guidance was promised to the church following Jesus' ascension? Being another Comforter and Spirit of truth, into what will those who receive this divine light be guided?

John 14:16; 15:26; 16:13, 8 And I will pray the Father, and he shall give you another Comforter, that he may abide with you for ever... <sup>15:26</sup>But when the Comforter is come, whom I will send unto you from the Father, even the Spirit of truth, which proceedeth from the Father, he shall testify of me.... <sup>16:13</sup>Howbeit when he, the Spirit of truth, is come, he will guide you into all truth: for he shall not speak of himself; but whatsoever he shall hear, that shall he speak: and he will show you things to come.... <sup>8</sup>And when he is come, he will reprove the world of sin, and of righteousness, and of judgment.

"Christ declared that, after His ascension, He would send to His church, as His crowning gift, the Comforter, who was to take His place. This Comforter is the Holy Spirit—the soul of His life, the efficacy of His church, the light and life of the world. With His Spirit, Christ sends a reconciling influence and a power to take away sin." —This Day with God, p. 257.

"From the beginning, God has been working by His Holy Spirit through human instrumentalities for the accomplishment of His purpose in behalf of the fallen race. This was manifest in the lives of the patriarchs. To the church in the wilderness also, in the time of Moses, God gave His 'good Spirit to instruct them.' Nehemiah 9:20. And in the days of the apostles He wrought mightily for His church through the agency of the Holy Spirit. The same power that sustained the patriarchs, that gave Caleb and Joshua faith and courage, and that made the work of the apostolic church effective, has upheld God's faithful children in every succeeding age. It was through the power of the Holy Spirit that during the Dark Ages the Waldensian Christians helped to prepare the way for the Reformation." –*The Acts of the Apostles*, p. 53.

#### Fullness of gifts

- 6. What gifts, administrations, and operations were supported by the Holy Spirit in the apostolic church? What are the believers urged to do?
  - 1 Corinthians 12:8-11, 31 For to one is given by the Spirit the word of wisdom; to another the word of knowledge by the same Spirit;  ${}^{9}$ To another faith by the same Spirit; to another the gifts of healing by the same Spirit;  ${}^{10}$ To another the working of miracles; to another prophecy; to another discerning of spirits; to another divers kinds of tongues; to another the interpretation of tongues:  ${}^{11}$ But all these worketh that one and the selfsame Spirit, dividing to every man severally as he will....  ${}^{31}$ But covet earnestly the best gifts: and yet show I unto you a more excellent way.

"The talents that Christ entrusts to His church represent especially the gifts and blessings imparted by the Holy Spirit. 1 Corinthians 12:8-11. All men do not receive the same gifts, but to every servant of the Master some gift of the Spirit is promised." –*Christ's Object Lessons*, p. 327.

"The gifts of the Spirit are promised to every believer according to his need for the Lord's work. The promise is just as strong and trustworthy now as in the days of the apostles.... This is the privilege of God's children, and faith should lay hold on all that it is possible to have as an endorsement of faith." –*The Desire of Ages*, p. 823.

#### PROMISE OF A SPECIAL OUTPOURING

7. To whom is a special outpouring of the Holy Spirit promised at the end of time? Who received this fullness in the apostolic days?

JOEL 2:28, 29 And it shall come to pass afterward, that I will pour out my spirit upon all flesh; and your sons and your daughters shall prophesy, your old men shall dream dreams, your young men shall see visions: <sup>29</sup>And also upon the servants and upon the handmaids in those days will I pour out my spirit.

Acts 5:32 And we are his witnesses of these things; and so is also the Holy Ghost, whom God hath given to them that obey him.

"Before the final visitation of God's judgments upon the earth,... the Spirit and power of God will be poured out upon His children. At that time many will separate themselves from those churches in which the love of this world has supplanted love for God and His word. Many, both of ministers and people, will gladly accept those great truths which God has caused to be proclaimed at this time to prepare a people for the Lord's second coming. The enemy of souls desires to hinder this work; and before the time for such a movement shall come, he will endeavor to prevent it by introducing a counterfeit. In those churches which he can bring under his deceptive power he will make it appear that God's special blessing is poured out; there will be manifest what is thought to be great religious interest. Multitudes will exult that God is working marvelously for them, when the work is that of another spirit." –The Great Controversy, p. 464.

#### AN ABUNDANCE OF FRUIT

8. What do those who receive the gift of the Spirit produce? What else is possible through the power of the Spirit?

GALATIANS 5:22, 23 But the fruit of the Spirit is love, joy, peace, longsuffering, gentleness, goodness, faith, <sup>23</sup>Meekness, temperance: against such there is no law.

2 Corinthians 3:17 Now the Lord is that Spirit: and where the Spirit of the Lord is, there is liberty.

Ephesians 3:16 That he would grant you, according to the riches of his glory, to be strengthened with might by his Spirit in the inner man.

"Those who become new creatures in Christ Jesus will bring forth the fruits of the Spirit, 'love, joy, peace, long-suffering, gentleness, goodness, faith, meekness, temperance.' Galatians 5:22, 23."—Steps to Christ, p. 58.

"As you receive the Spirit of Christ—the Spirit of unselfish love and labor for others—you will grow and bring forth fruit. The graces of the Spirit will ripen in your character. Your faith will increase, your convictions deepen, your love be made perfect. More and more you will reflect the likeness of Christ in all that is pure, noble, and lovely." —Christ's Object Lessons, p. 67.

"To all who believe, He is as the tree of life in the Paradise of God. His branches reach to this world, that the blessings which He has purchased for us may be brought within our reach.... He has given us a Comforter, the Holy Spirit, which will present to us the precious fruit from the tree of life. From this tree we may pluck and eat, and we may then guide others to it, that they also may eat." —My Life Today, p. 50.

- For what mission was the gift of the Holy Spirit promised to the disciples?
- In your church, is there harmony and continual mutual prayer as there was in the days of Pentecost?
- What obstacles keep the Holy Spirit from empowering your life and ministry?
- What would you do if tomorrow the Lord poured the Holy Spirit upon you with all power?

\* \* \*

### Man's Origin

"Since the book of nature and the book of revelation bear the impress of the same master mind, they cannot but speak in harmony. By different methods, and in different languages, they witness to the same great truths. Science is ever discovering new wonders; but she brings from her research nothing that, rightly understood, conflicts with divine revelation. The book of nature and the written word shed light upon each other. They make us acquainted with God by teaching us something of the laws through which He works." –Education, p. 128.

#### CREATION OF THE EARTH

## 1. What clear testimony is given of God's work in creating the earth, in total contradiction to evolutionary ideas?

Genesis 1:1 In the beginning God created the heaven and the earth.

Nehemiah 9:6 Thou, even thou, art Lord alone; thou hast made heaven, the heaven of heavens, with all their host, the earth, and all things that are therein, the seas, and all that is therein, and thou preservest them all; and the host of heaven worshippeth thee.

Jeremiah 32:17 Ah Lord God! behold, thou hast made the heaven and the earth by thy great power and stretched out arm, and there is nothing too hard for thee.

"Inferences erroneously drawn from facts observed in nature have, however, led to supposed conflict between science and revelation; and in the effort to restore harmony, interpretations of Scripture have been adopted that undermine and destroy the force of the word of God. Geology has been thought to contradict the literal interpretation of the Mosaic record of the creation. Millions of years, it is claimed, were required for the evolution of the earth from chaos; and in order to accommodate the Bible to this supposed revelation of science, the days of creation are assumed to have been vast, indefinite periods, covering thousands or even millions of years.

"Such a conclusion is wholly uncalled for." –*Education*, pp. 128, 129. "The Bible recognizes no long ages in which the earth was slowly evolved from chaos." –*Patriarchs and Prophets*, p. 112.

"The Bible is the most instructive and comprehensive history that has ever been given to the world. Its sacred pages contain the only authentic account of the creation. Here we behold the power that 'stretched forth the heavens, and laid the foundations of the earth.' Here we have a truthful history of the human race, one that is unmarred by human prejudice or human pride." –Fundamentals of Christian Education, pp. 84, 85.

2. How did the world come into existence? What clear refutation of long geological ages do we find in the holy Scriptures?

PSALM 33:6-9; 148:4, 5 By the word of the Lord were the heavens made; and all the host of them by the breath of his mouth. <sup>7</sup>He gathereth the waters of the sea together as an heap: he layeth up the depth in storehouses. <sup>8</sup>Let all the earth fear the Lord: let all the inhabitants of the world stand in awe of him. <sup>9</sup>For he spake, and it was done; he commanded, and it stood fast.... <sup>148:4</sup>Praise him, ye heavens of heavens, and ye waters that be above the heavens. <sup>5</sup>Let them praise the name of the Lord: for he commanded, and they were created.

Hebrews 11:3 Through faith we understand that the worlds were framed by the word of God, so that things which are seen were not made of things which do appear.

2 Peter 3:5 For this they willingly are ignorant of, that by the word of God the heavens were of old, and the earth standing out of the water and in the water.

"In the formation of our world, God was not beholden to preexistent substance or matter. For the 'things which are seen were not made of things which do appear.' Hebrews 11:3. On the contrary, all things, material or spiritual, stood up before the Lord Jehovah at His voice, and were created for His own purpose. The heavens and all the host of them, the earth and all things that are therein, are not only the work of His hand; they came into existence by the breath of His mouth." –*Upward Look*, p. 340.

#### THE DAYS OF CREATION

3. What numerous Bible verses give the length of the days of creation? What is natural to conclude when the record states that every creation day was made of an evening and a morning, or day and night?

Genesis 1:5, 8, 13, 19, 23, 31 And God called the light Day, and the darkness he called Night. And the evening and the morning were the first day.... \*And God called the firmament Heaven. And the evening and the morning were the second day.... <sup>13</sup>And the evening and the morning were the third day.... <sup>19</sup>And the evening and the morning were the fourth day.... <sup>23</sup>And the evening and the morning were the fifth day.... <sup>31</sup>And God saw every thing that he had made, and, behold, it was very good. And the evening and the morning were the sixth day.

"Of each successive day of creation, the sacred record declares that it consisted of the evening and the morning, like all other days that have followed. At the close of each day is given the result of the Creator's work. The statement is made at the close of the first week's record, "These are the generations of the heavens and of the earth when they were created." Genesis 2:4. But this does not convey the idea that the days of creation were other than literal days." —*Patriarchs and Prophets*, p. 112.

"'For in six days the Lord made heaven and earth, the sea, and all that in them is, and rested the seventh day; wherefore the Lord blessed the Sabbath day, and hallowed it.' Exodus 20:8-11. This reason appears beautiful and forcible when we understand the days of creation to be literal. The first six days of each week are given to man for labor, because God employed the same period of the first week in the work of creation." –*Christian Education*, p. 190.

# 4. Do the Holy Scriptures refer to the days of creation in other places? Is there any indication of a day of creation being longer than a normal day?

Exodus 20:11; 31:17, last part For in six days the Lord made heaven and earth, the sea, and all that in them is, and rested the seventh day: wherefore the Lord blessed the sabbath day, and hallowed it. 31:17... For in six days the Lord made heaven and earth, and on the seventh day he rested, and was refreshed.

"Human philosophy declares that an indefinite period of time was taken in the creation of the world. Does God state the matter thus? No; He says, 'It is a sign between Me and the children of Israel forever: for in six days [not six indefinite periods of time; for then there would be no possible way for man to observe the day specified in the fourth commandment] the Lord made heaven and earth, and on the seventh day He rested, and was refreshed.' Please read carefully the fifth chapter of Deuteronomy. God says again, 'Remember [do not forget] the Sabbath day, to keep it holy.... For in six days the Lord made heaven and earth, the sea, and all that in them is, and rested the seventh day: wherefore the Lord blessed the Sabbath day, and hallowed it.'" – Testimonies to Ministers and Gospel Workers, p. 135.

# 5. Because the first seventh day was a day of rest, is it conceivable that this Sabbath was longer than any other day? Is it imaginable that Adam rested for thousands of years?

Genesis 2:1-3 Thus the heavens and the earth were finished, and all the host of them. <sup>2</sup>And on the seventh day God ended his work which he had made; and he rested on the seventh day from all his work which he had made. <sup>3</sup>And God blessed the seventh day, and sanctified it: because that in it he had rested from all his work which God created and made.

Mark 2:27, first part And he said unto them, The sabbath was made for man....

"Like the Sabbath, the week originated at creation, and it has been preserved and brought down to us through Bible history. God himself measured off the first week as a sample for successive weeks to the close of time. Like every other, it consisted of seven literal days. Six days were employed in the work of creation; upon the seventh, God rested, and he then blessed this day, and set it apart as a day of rest for man." –*Christian Education*, p. 190.

6. While many people follow human hypotheses, what clear, irrefutable statement does God's word provide regarding man's origin? What can we conclude from the fact that Adam found no suitable companion among the animals?

Genesis 1:26, 27; 9:6 And God said, Let us make man in our image, after our likeness: and let them have dominion over the fish of the sea, and over the fowl of the air, and over the cattle, and over all the earth, and over every creeping thing that creepeth upon the earth. <sup>27</sup>So God created man in his own image, in the image of God created he him; male and female created he them.... <sup>9:6</sup>Whoso sheddeth man's blood, by man shall his blood be shed: for in the image of God made he man.

"There is no ground for the supposition that man was evolved by slow degrees of development from the lower forms of animal or vegetable life. Such teaching lowers the great work of the Creator to the level of man's narrow, earthly conceptions. Men are so intent upon excluding God from the sovereignty of the universe that they degrade man and defraud him of the dignity of his origin. He who set the starry worlds on high and tinted with delicate skill the flowers of the field, who filled the earth and the heavens with the wonders of His power, when He came to crown His glorious work, to place one in the midst to stand as ruler of the fair earth, did not fail to create a being worthy of the hand that gave him life. The genealogy of our race, as given by inspiration, traces back its origin, not to a line of developing germs, mollusks, and quadrupeds, but to the great Creator. Though formed from the dust, Adam was 'the son of God.'" —Patriarchs and Prophets, p. 44.

#### KEEP HUMAN THEORY IN ITS PROPER PLACE

- 7. What was written long ago about those who accept fanciful ideas and human hypotheses? What will help us avoid falling victim to fables?
  - 2 Timothy 4:1-4 I charge thee therefore before God, and the Lord Jesus Christ, who shall judge the quick and the dead at his appearing and his kingdom; <sup>2</sup>Preach the word; be instant in season, out of season; reprove, rebuke, exhort with all longsuffering and doctrine. <sup>3</sup>For the time will come when they will not endure sound doctrine; but after their own lusts shall they heap to themselves teachers, having itching ears; <sup>4</sup>And they shall turn away their ears from the truth, and shall be turned unto fables.

"Jesus brought into His teaching none of the science of men. His teaching is full of grand, ennobling, saving truth, to which man's highest ambitions and proudest inventions can bear no comparison; and yet things of minor consequence engross the minds of men. The great plan of the redemption of a fallen race was wrought out in the life of Christ in human flesh. This scheme of restoring the moral image of God in debased humanity entered into every purpose of the life and charac-

ter of Christ. His majesty could not mingle with human science, which will disconnect from the great source of all wisdom in a day. The topic of human science never escaped His hallowed lips." –*Fundamentals of Christian Education*, p. 408.

- How many sources has God provided for those who want to know the truth?
- Do you believe that the evolutionary theory is supported by the Bible?
- How should one consider atheism, evolution, theistic evolution, and similar constructs?

\* \* \*

6

Sabbath, August 8, 2015

### The Plan of Redemption

"The great plan of redemption results in fully bringing back the world into God's favor. All that was lost by sin is restored. Not only man but the earth is redeemed, to be the eternal abode of the obedient. For six thousand years Satan has struggled to maintain possession of the earth. Now God's original purpose in its creation is accomplished. "The saints of the Most High shall take the kingdom, and possess the kingdom forever, even forever and ever." Daniel 7:18." —Patriarchs and Prophets, p. 342.

#### Man's original state and fall

## 1. With what dignity and glory was man created? What happened to them?

Genesis 1:27; 3:6, 17 So God created man in his own image, in the image of God created he him; male and female created he them. <sup>3:6</sup>And when the woman saw that the tree was good for food, and that it was pleasant to the eyes, and a tree to be desired to make one wise, she took of the fruit thereof, and did eat, and gave also unto her husband with her; and he did eat.... <sup>17</sup>And unto Adam he said, Because thou hast hearkened unto the voice of thy wife, and hast eaten of the tree, of which I commanded thee, saying, Thou shalt not eat of it: cursed is the ground for thy sake; in sorrow shalt thou eat of it all the days of thy life; Thorns also and thistles shall it bring forth to thee; and thou shalt eat the herb of the field; In the sweat of thy face shalt thou eat bread, till thou return unto the ground; for out of it wast thou taken: for dust thou art, and unto dust shalt thou return.

"Created to be 'the image and glory of God' (1 Corinthians 11:7), Adam and Eve had received endowments not unworthy of their high destiny. Graceful and symmetrical in form, regular and beautiful in feature, their countenances glowing with the tint of health and the light of joy and hope, they bore in outward resemblance the likeness of their Maker. Nor was this likeness manifest in the physical nature only. Every faculty of mind and soul reflected the Creator's glory. Endowed with high mental and spiritual gifts, Adam and Eve were made but 'little lower than the angels' (Hebrews 2:7), that they might not only discern the wonders of the visible universe, but comprehend moral responsibilities and obligations." – Education, p. 20.

"The race from that time forward was to be afflicted by Satan's temptations. A life of perpetual toil and anxiety was appointed unto Adam, instead of the happy, cheerful labor he had hitherto enjoyed. They should be subject to disappointment, grief, and pain, and finally come to dissolution. They were made of the dust of the earth, and unto dust should they return." —The Story of Redemption, p. 40.

#### **O**THER CONSEQUENCES

## 2. What other consequences resulted from man's fall into sin? Could he get out of the abyss into which he had fallen?

Isaiah 59:2 But your iniquities have separated between you and your God, and your sins have hid his face from you, that he will not hear.

Romans 5:12; 3:23 Wherefore, as by one man sin entered into the world, and death by sin; and so death passed upon all men, for that all have sinned:... 3:23 For all have sinned, and come short of the glory of God;

Jeremiah 13:23 Can the Ethiopian change his skin, or the leopard his spots? then may ye also do good, that are accustomed to do evil.

"It is impossible for us, of ourselves, to escape from the pit of sin in which we are sunken. Our hearts are evil, and we cannot change them. Who can bring a clean thing out of an unclean? not one.' The carnal mind is enmity against God: for it is not subject to the law of God, neither indeed can be.' Job 14:4; Romans 8:7. Education, culture, the exercise of the will, human effort, all have their proper sphere, but here they are powerless. They may produce an outward correctness of behavior, but they cannot change the heart; they cannot purify the springs of life. There must be a power working from within, a new life from above, before men can be changed from sin to holiness. That power is Christ. His grace alone can quicken the lifeless faculties of the soul, and attract it to God, to holiness." –Steps to Christ, p. 18.

#### GOD'S LOVE FOR MAN

## 3. How did the Lord view mankind's fall and its terrible consequences? As the loving Father, what is His greatest wish?

EZEKIEL 33:11 Say unto them, As I live, saith the Lord God, I have no pleasure in the death of the wicked; but that the wicked turn from his way and live: turn ye, turn ye from your evil ways; for why will ye die, O house of Israel?

1 Timothy 2:3, 4 For this is good and acceptable in the sight of God our Saviour; 4Who will have all men to be saved, and to come unto the knowledge of the truth.

"God is our Father, who loves and cares for us as His children; He is also the great King of the universe. The interests of His kingdom are our interests, and we are to work for its upbuilding." —Thoughts from the Mount of Blessing, p. 107.

"Christ's death proves God's great love for man. It is our pledge of salvation. To remove the cross from the Christian would be like blotting the sun from the sky. The cross brings us near to God, reconciling us to Him. With the relenting compassion of a father's love, Jehovah looks upon the suffering that His Son endured in order to save the race from eternal death, and accepts us in the Beloved." –*The Acts of the Apostles*, p. 209.

#### The promise of redemption

4. What good news was given to our first parents immediately after they fell? What was included in this promise?

Genesis 3:15 And I will put enmity between thee and the woman, and between thy seed and her seed; it shall bruise thy head, and thou shalt bruise his heel.

Matthew 1:21 And she shall bring forth a son, and thou shalt call his name JESUS: for he shall save his people from their sins.

"In the sentence pronounced upon Satan was given an intimation of redemption. 'I will put enmity between thee and the woman,' God said, 'and between thy seed and her seed; it shall bruise thy head, and thou shalt bruise His heel.' Genesis 3:15. This sentence, spoken in the hearing of our first parents, was to them a promise." – *Education*, p. 27.

"This declaration contained the first gospel promise to man." -Confrontation, p. 18.

"Plain and specific prophecies had been given regarding the appearance of the Promised One. To Adam was given an assurance of the coming of the Redeemer. The sentence pronounced on Satan,... was to our first parents a promise of the redemption to be wrought out through Christ." – The Acts of the Apostles, p. 222.

#### A PLAN LAID BEFORE THE FOUNDATION OF THE WORLD

- 5. Was the plan of salvation a resolution thought up by God after sin's entrance, or was it in place before that? When was it ordained that the Lamb of God would give His precious life for man in the event that sin should enter the world?
  - 1 Peter 1:19, 20 But with the precious blood of Christ, as of a lamb without blemish and without spot: <sup>20</sup>Who verily was foreordained before the foundation of the world, but was manifest in these last times for you.

2 Timothy 1:9, 10 Who hath saved us, and called us with an holy calling, not according to our works, but according to his own purpose and grace, which was given us in Christ Jesus before the world began, <sup>10</sup>But is now made manifest by the appearing of our Saviour Jesus Christ, who hath abolished death, and hath brought life and immortality to light through the gospel.

"The plan for our redemption was not an afterthought, a plan formulated after the fall of Adam. It was a revelation of 'the mystery which hath been kept in silence through times eternal.' Romans 16:25, R. V. It was an unfolding of the principles that from eternal ages have been the foundation of God's throne. From the beginning, God and Christ knew of the apostasy of Satan, and of the fall of man through the deceptive power of the apostate. God did not ordain that sin should exist, but He foresaw its existence, and made provision to meet the terrible emergency. So great was His love for the world, that He covenanted to give His only-begotten Son, 'that whosoever believeth in Him should not perish, but have everlasting life.' John 3:16." —The Desire of Ages, p. 22.

6. What do other verses confirm about when the plan of redemption was laid? What do Jesus' words indicate about when the kingdom was prepared?

REVELATION 13:8; 17:8 And all that dwell upon the earth shall worship him, whose names are not written in the book of life of the Lamb slain from the foundation of the world.... <sup>17:8</sup>The beast that thou sawest was, and is not; and shall ascend out of the bottomless pit, and go into perdition: and they that dwell on the earth shall wonder, whose names were not written in the book of life from the foundation of the world, when they behold the beast that was, and is not, and yet is.

MATTHEW 25:34 Then shall the King say unto them on his right hand, Come, ye blessed of my Father, inherit the kingdom prepared for you from the foundation of the world.

"The plan of salvation had been laid before the creation of the earth; for Christ is 'the Lamb slain from the foundation of the world' (Revelation 13:8); yet it was a struggle, even with the King of the universe, to yield up His Son to die for the guilty race. But 'God so loved the world, that He gave His only-begotten Son, that whosoever believeth in Him should not perish, but have everlasting life.' John 3:16. Oh, the mystery of redemption! the love of God for a world that did not love Him! Who can know the depths of that love which 'passeth knowledge'? Through endless ages immortal minds, seeking to comprehend the mystery of that incomprehensible love, will wonder and adore." —Patriarchs and Prophets, pp. 63, 64.

#### Searching for the time of fulfillment

7. Who lived in hope of the day of redemption? Over the centuries, who searched diligently to find out the manner and time when God's grace would be manifested for man's salvation?

Hebrews 11:13 These all died in faith, not having received the promises, but having seen them afar off, and were persuaded of them, and embraced them, and confessed that they were strangers and pilgrims on the earth.

1 Peter 1:10, 11 Of which salvation the prophets have inquired and searched diligently, who prophesied of the grace that should come unto you: "Searching what, or what manner of time the Spirit of Christ which was in them did signify, when it testified beforehand the sufferings of Christ, and the glory that should follow.

"Even the prophets who were favored with the special illumination of the Spirit did not fully comprehend the import of the revelations committed to them. The meaning was to be unfolded from age to age, as the people of God should need the instruction therein contained." –*The Great Controversy*, p. 344.

"The prophets to whom these great scenes were revealed longed to understand their import. They 'inquired and searched diligently.... searching what, or what manner of time the Spirit of Christ which was in them did signify.... Unto whom it was revealed, that not unto themselves, but unto us they did minister the things, which are now reported unto you;... which things the angels desire to look into.' 1 Peter 1:10-12.

"To us who are standing on the very verge of their fulfillment, of what deep moment, what living interest, are these delineations of the things to come—events for which, since our first parents turned their steps from Eden, God's children have watched and waited, longed and prayed!"—*Education*, p. 183.

- What reveals the marvelous plan for man's redemption?
- How does our interest in the fulfillment of the plan of redemption compare with that of the patriarchs and prophets?
- How is one's faith affected by the reality that the plan of redemption has been progressively revealed to God's people?

\* \* \*

### The Ten Commandments

"The precepts of the Decalogue are adapted to all mankind, and they were given for the instruction and government of all. Ten precepts, brief, comprehensive, and authoritative, cover the duty of man to God and to his fellow man; and all based upon the great fundamental principle of love. Thou shalt love the Lord thy God with all thy heart, and with all thy soul, and with all thy strength, and with all thy mind; and thy neighbor as thyself.' Luke 10:27." —Patriarchs and Prophets, p. 305.

#### Important guide for all mankind

1. What did the Lord give as a daily guide for His people and indeed for all mankind? How important is the observance of His holy law?

**D**EUTERONOMY 4:13 And he declared unto you his covenant, which he commanded you to perform, even ten commandments; and he wrote them upon two tables of stone.

ECCLESIASTES 12:13 (IN SOME VERSIONS, VERSE 15) Let us hear the conclusion of the whole matter: Fear God, and keep his commandments: for this is the whole duty of man.

"Those commandments Christ shows to be exceedingly broad, reaching even the thoughts, intents, and purposes of the heart. Here is where many are delinquent. Their heart imaginings are not of the pure, holy character which God requires; and however high their calling, however talented they may be, God will mark iniquity against them and will count them as far more guilty and deserving of His wrath than those who have less talent, less light, less influence." —Testimonies for the Church, vol. 5, p. 594.

"The commandments of God are comprehensive and far reaching; in a few words they unfold the whole duty of man." –Selected Messages, book 1, p. 320.

#### Effective in the patriarchal age

2. What role did the Ten Commandments play in the time of the patriarchs? How is this shown in the book of Genesis?

Genesis 4:10; 39:7-9 And he said, What hast thou done? the voice of thy brother's blood crieth unto me from the ground. And now art thou cursed from the earth, which hath opened her mouth to receive thy brother's blood from thy hand;... <sup>39-7</sup>And it came to pass after these things, that his master's wife cast her eyes upon Joseph; and she said, Lie with me. <sup>8</sup>But he refused, and said unto his master's wife, Behold, my master wotteth

not what is with me in the house, and he hath committed all that he hath to my hand; <sup>9</sup>There is none greater in this house than I; neither hath he kept back any thing from me but thee, because thou art his wife: how then can I do this great wickedness, and sin against God?

"The law of God existed before man was created. The angels were governed by it. Satan fell because he transgressed the principles of God's government. After Adam and Eve were created, God made known to them His law. It was not then written, but was rehearsed to them by Jehovah." —The Story of Redemption, p. 145.

"The descendants of Cain were not careful to respect the day upon which God rested. They chose their own time for labor and for rest, regardless of Jehovah's special command. There were two distinct classes upon the earth. One class were in open rebellion against God's law; while the other class obeyed His commandments, and revered His Sabbath."—Spiritual Gifts, vol. 3, p. 53.

#### Jesus taught fidelity

# 3. What did Jesus teach concerning the Ten Commandments? What is said of those who view lightly even one of the holy commandments?

Matthew 19:16-19; 5:18, 19 And, behold, one came and said unto him, Good Master, what good thing shall I do, that I may have eternal life? <sup>17</sup>And he said unto him, Why callest thou me good? there is none good but one, that is, God: but if thou wilt enter into life, keep the commandments. <sup>18</sup>He saith unto him, Which? Jesus said, Thou shalt do no murder, Thou shalt not commit adultery, Thou shalt not steal, Thou shalt not bear false witness, <sup>19</sup>Honour thy father and thy mother: and, Thou shalt love thy neighbour as thyself.... <sup>5:18</sup>For verily I say unto you, Till heaven and earth pass, one jot or one tittle shall in no wise pass from the law, till all be fulfilled. <sup>19</sup>Whosoever therefore shall break one of these least commandments, and shall teach men so, he shall be called the least in the kingdom of heaven: but whosoever shall do and teach them, the same shall be called great in the kingdom of heaven.

"If God's commandments are to be binding for a thousand generations, it will take them into the kingdom of God, into the presence of God and His holy angels. This is an argument that cannot be controverted. The commandments of God will endure through all time and eternity. Are they, then, given us as a burden?" –Fundamentals of Christian Education, pp. 413, 414.

"The most eloquent sermon that can be preached upon the law of Ten Commandments is to do them. Obedience should be made a personal duty. Negligence of this duty is flagrant sin. God lays us under obligations not only to secure heaven ourselves, but to feel it a binding duty to show others the way and, through our care and disinterested love, to lead toward Christ those who come within the sphere of our influence. The singular absence of principle that characterizes the lives of many professed Christians is alarming. Their disregard of God's law disheartens those who recognize its sacred claims and tends to turn those from the truth who would otherwise accept it."—Testimonies for the Church, vol. 4, p. 58.

#### The law of love

## 4. What did the apostles teach in this regard? What is the foundation of God's law?

James 2:10, 11 For whosoever shall keep the whole law, and yet offend in one point, he is guilty of all. "For he that said, Do not commit adultery, said also, Do not kill. Now if thou commit no adultery, yet if thou kill, thou art become a transgressor of the law.

Romans 13:8-10 Owe no man any thing, but to love one another: for he that loveth another hath fulfilled the law. <sup>9</sup>For this, Thou shalt not commit adultery, Thou shalt not kill, Thou shalt not steal, Thou shalt not bear false witness, Thou shalt not covet; and if there be any other commandment, it is briefly comprehended in this saying, namely, Thou shalt love thy neighbour as thyself. <sup>10</sup>Love worketh no ill to his neighbour: therefore love is the fulfilling of the law.

"The first four of the Ten Commandments are summed up in the one great precept, 'Thou shalt love the Lord thy God with all thy heart.' The last six are included in the other, 'Thou shalt love thy neighbor as thyself.' Both these commandments are an expression of the principle of love.... And only as we love God supremely is it possible to love our neighbor impartially." –*The Desire of Ages*, p. 607.

"The law of God, from its very nature, is unchangeable. It is a revelation of the will and the character of its Author. God is love, and His law is love. Its two great principles are love to God and love to man. 'Love is the fulfilling of the law.' Romans 13:10."—*The Great Controversy*, p. 467.

#### The commandments in practical life

5. How fully do you value the first four commandments in your practical life? With your view of God, in what ways are you tempted to follow worldly customs and ideas in place of Scripture?

Exodus 20:1-11 And God spake all these words, saying, <sup>2</sup>I am the Lord thy God, which have brought thee out of the land of Egypt, out of the house of bondage. <sup>3</sup>Thou shalt have no other gods before me. <sup>4</sup>Thou shalt not make unto thee any graven image, or any likeness of any thing that is in heaven above, or that is in the earth beneath, or that is in the water under the earth: <sup>5</sup>Thou shalt not bow down thyself to them, nor serve them: for I the Lord thy God am a jealous God, visiting the iniquity of the fathers upon the children unto the third and fourth generation of them that hate me; <sup>6</sup>And showing mercy unto thousands of them that love me, and keep my commandments. Thou shalt not take the name of the Lord thy God in vain: for the Lord will not hold him guiltless that taketh his name in vain. <sup>8</sup>Remember the sabbath day, to keep it holy. <sup>9</sup>Six days shalt thou labour, and do all thy work: 10 But the seventh day is the sabbath of the Lord thy God: in it thou shalt not do any work, thou, nor thy son, nor thy daughter, thy manservant, nor thy maidservant, nor thy cattle, nor thy stranger that is within thy gates: 11 For in six days the Lord made heaven and earth, the sea, and all that in them is, and rested the seventh day: wherefore the Lord blessed the sabbath day, and hallowed it.

"Those who would be worshipers of the true God must sacrifice every idol.... The first four precepts of the Decalogue allow no separation of affections from God. Nor must anything share our supreme delight in Him. We cannot advance in Christian experience until we put away everything that separates us from God." –*Counsels to Parents, Teachers and Students*, p. 329.

"Though in a different form, idolatry exists in the Christian world today as verily as it existed among ancient Israel in the days of Elijah. The god of many professedly wise men, of philosophers, poets, politicians, journalists—the god of polished fashionable circles, of many colleges and universities, even of some theological institutions—is little better than Baal, the sun-god of Phoenicia.

"No error accepted by the Christian world strikes more boldly against the authority of Heaven,... none is more pernicious in its results, than the modern doctrine, so rapidly gaining ground, that God's law is no longer binding upon men." —The Great Controversy, pp. 583, 584.

6. When you compare the last six commandments with your personal experience and character, what do you see? How is God's love evident in every commandment?

Exodus 20:12-17 Honour thy father and thy mother: that thy days may be long upon the land which the Lord thy God giveth thee. <sup>13</sup>Thou shalt not kill. <sup>14</sup>Thou shalt not commit adultery. <sup>15</sup>Thou shalt not steal. <sup>16</sup>Thou shalt not bear false witness against thy neighbour. <sup>17</sup>Thou shalt not covet thy neighbour's house, thou shalt not covet thy neighbour's wife, nor his manservant, nor his maidservant, nor his ox, nor his ass, nor any thing that is thy neighbour's.

"Let those who feel inclined to make a high profession of holiness look into the mirror of God's law. As they see its far-reaching claims, and understand its work as a discerner of the thoughts and intents of the heart, they will not boast of sinlessness. 'If we,' says John, not separating himself from his brethren, 'say that we have no sin, we deceive ourselves, and the truth is not in us.' 'If we say that we have not sinned, we make Him a liar, and His word is not in us.' 'If we confess our sins, He is faithful and just to forgive us our sins, and to cleanse us from all unrighteousness.' 1 John 1:8, 10, 9." —The Acts of the Apostles, p. 562.

"God's law is the mirror presenting a complete reflection of the man as he is, and holding up before him the correct likeness. Some will turn away and forget this picture, while others will employ abusive epithets against the law, as though this would cure their defects of character. Still others who are condemned by the law will repent of their transgressions and, through faith in Christ's merits, will perfect Christian character." —Faith and Works, p. 31.

#### DIVINE HELP

7. Is it natural for us to keep these fundamental principles? What makes it possible to do so?

Romans 7:12; 8:7, 3, 4 Wherefore the law is holy, and the commandment holy, and just, and good.... <sup>8:7</sup>Because the carnal mind is enmity against God: for it is not subject to the law of God, neither indeed can be.... <sup>3</sup>For what the law could not do, in that it was weak through the flesh, God sending his own Son in the likeness of sinful flesh, and for sin, condemned sin in the flesh: <sup>4</sup>That the righteousness of the law might be fulfilled in us, who walk not after the flesh, but after the Spirit.

"In the ten commandments God has laid down the laws of His kingdom." – Seventh-day Adventist Bible Commentary, vol. 1, p. 1105.

"If our hearts are renewed in the likeness of God, if the divine love is implanted in the soul, will not the law of God be carried out in the life? When the principle of love is implanted in the heart, when man is renewed after the image of Him that created him, the new-covenant promise is fulfilled, 'I will put My laws into their hearts, and in their minds will I write them.' Hebrews 10:16. And if the law is written in the heart, will it not shape the life? Obedience—the service and allegiance of love—is the true sign of discipleship. Thus the Scripture says, 'This is the love of God, that we keep His commandments.' 'He that saith, I know Him, and keepeth not His commandments, is a liar, and the truth is not in him.' 1 John 5:3; 2:4. Instead of releasing man from obedience, it is faith, and faith only, that makes us partakers of the grace of Christ, which enables us to render obedience." —Steps to Christ, pp. 60, 61.

## 8. What does the Lord promise to those who love and obey His holy commandments?

Isaiah 48:18 O that thou hadst hearkened to my commandments! then had thy peace been as a river, and thy righteousness as the waves of the sea.

Psalm 119:165 Great peace have they which love thy law: and nothing shall offend them.

Are the ten commandments only orders and prohibitions? "The ten commandments, Thou shalt, and Thou shalt not, are ten promises assured to us if we render obedience to the law governing the universe." —Sons and Daughters of God, p. 56.

"Through love 'the righteousness of the law' will be 'fulfilled in us, who walk not after the flesh, but after the Spirit.' Romans 8:4." – *Thoughts from the Mount of Blessing*, p. 77.

"Obedience to the law is essential, not only to our salvation, but to our own happiness and the happiness of all with whom we are connected. 'Great peace have they which love Thy law: and nothing shall offend them' (Psalm 119:165), says the Inspired Word." –Selected Messages, book 1, pp. 218, 219.

- How are the Ten Commandments like a wall of protection?
- What can we do in this time of the end to help people receive the light of the Ten Commandments?
- What will be the result when the Commandments and the gospel are shown to be inseparable?

\* \* \*

### The Holy Sabbath

"Since the Sabbath is the memorial of creative power, it is the day above all others when we should acquaint ourselves with God through His works. In the minds of the children the very thought of the Sabbath should be bound up with the beauty of natural things. Happy is the family who can go to the place of worship on the Sabbath as Jesus and His disciples went to the synagogue—across the fields, along the shores of the lake, or through the groves. Happy the father and mother who can teach their children God's written word with illustrations from the open pages of the book of nature; who can gather under the green trees, in the fresh, pure air, to study the word and to sing the praise of the Father above."—Education, p. 251.

#### Established in the beginning

## 1. When was the sacred day of rest instituted? Who participated in the work of creation and thus also in the Sabbath?

Genesis 2:1-3 Thus the heavens and the earth were finished, and all the host of them. <sup>2</sup>And on the seventh day God ended his work which he had made; and he rested on the seventh day from all his work which he had made. <sup>3</sup>And God blessed the seventh day, and sanctified it: because that in it he had rested from all his work which God created and made.

Colossians 1:16 For by him were all things created, that are in heaven, and that are in earth, visible and invisible, whether they be thrones, or dominions, or principalities, or powers: all things were created by him, and for him.

"The Sabbath was hallowed at the creation. As ordained for man, it had its origin when 'the morning stars sang together, and all the sons of God shouted for joy.' Job 38:7. Peace brooded over the world; for earth was in harmony with heaven. 'God saw everything that He had made, and, behold, it was very good;' and He rested in the joy of His completed work. Genesis 1:31.

"Because He had rested upon the Sabbath, 'God blessed the seventh day, and sanctified it'—set it apart to a holy use. He gave it to Adam as a day of rest. It was a memorial of the work of creation, and thus a sign of God's power and His love...

"All things were created by the Son of God. In the beginning was the Word, and the Word was with God.... All things were made by Him; and without Him was not anything made that was made.' John 1:1-3. And since the Sabbath is a memorial of the work of creation, it is a token of the love and power of Christ." —The Desire of Ages, p. 281.

2. During the forty years the Israelites encamped in the wilderness, why did the manna not fall on the seventh day? What special provision was there for the people's sustenance when the manna was not provided?

Exodus 16:25, 4, 5, 16, 19, 20, 24 And Moses said, Eat that to day; for to day is a sabbath unto the Lord: to day ye shall not find it in the field....

Then said the Lord unto Moses, Behold, I will rain bread from heaven for you; and the people shall go out and gather a certain rate every day, that I may prove them, whether they will walk in my law, or no.

And it shall come to pass, that on the sixth day they shall prepare that which they bring in; and it shall be twice as much as they gather daily....

Gather of it every man according to his eating, an omer for every man, according to the numbers of your persons; take ye every man for them which are in his tents.... Pand Moses said, Let no man leave of it till the morning. Notwithstanding they hearkened not unto Moses; but some of them left of it until the morning, and it bred worms, and stank: and Moses was wroth with them.... And they laid it up till the morning, as Moses bade: and it did not stink, neither was there any worm therein.

"Every week during their long sojourn in the wilderness the Israelites witnessed a threefold miracle, designed to impress their minds with the sacredness of the Sabbath: a double quantity of manna fell on the sixth day, none on the seventh, and the portion needed for the Sabbath was preserved sweet and pure, when if any were kept over at any other time it became unfit for use.

"In the circumstances connected with the giving of the manna, we have conclusive evidence that the Sabbath was not instituted, as many claim, when the law was given at Sinai. Before the Israelites came to Sinai they understood the Sabbath to be obligatory upon them. In being obliged to gather every Friday a double portion of manna in preparation for the Sabbath, when none would fall, the sacred nature of the day of rest was continually impressed upon them. And when some of the people went out on the Sabbath to gather manna, the Lord asked, 'How long refuse ye to keep My commandments and My laws?'" —Patriarchs and Prophets, pp. 296, 297.

#### Day of rest and holy convocation

3. What did the Lord say about the Sabbath day when He gave the Ten Commandments and later? What phrase in the fourth commandment indicates that the Sabbath is for all people?

Exodus 20:8-11 Remember the sabbath day, to keep it holy. Six days shalt thou labour, and do all thy work: But the seventh day is the sabbath of the Lord thy God: in it thou shalt not do any work, thou, nor thy son, nor thy daughter, thy manservant, nor thy maidservant, nor thy cattle, nor thy stranger that is within thy gates: For in six days the Lord

made heaven and earth, the sea, and all that in them is, and rested the seventh day: wherefore the Lord blessed the sabbath day, and hallowed it.

LEVITICUS 23:3 Six days shall work be done: but the seventh day is the sabbath of rest, an holy convocation; ye shall do no work therein: it is the sabbath of the Lord in all your dwellings.

"The Sabbath was given to all mankind to commemorate the work of creation. The great Jehovah, when He had laid the foundations of the earth, when He had dressed the whole world in its garb of beauty, and created all the wonders of the land and the sea, instituted the Sabbath day and made it holy. When the morning stars sang together, and all the sons of God shouted for joy, the Sabbath was set apart as God's memorial. God sanctified and blessed the day in which He has rested from all His wondrous work. And this Sabbath, sanctified of God, was to be kept for a perpetual covenant. It was a memorial that was to stand from age to age, till the close of earth's history....

"There are those who hold that the Sabbath was given only for the Jews; but God has never said this...; but the very fact that the desert of Sinai, and not Palestine, was the place selected by Him in which to proclaim His law, reveals that He intended it for all mankind. The law of ten commandments is as old as creation. Therefore the Sabbath institution has no special relation to the Jews, any more than to all other created beings. God has made the observance of the Sabbath obligatory upon all men." –Lift Him Up, p. 53.

#### The most consistent Sabbath Keeper

4. Who observed the Sabbath for His entire life, joining the worship services in the synagogue? Describe one of the miracles that Jesus performed on the Sabbath, thereby confirming that it is a sacred day.

Luke 4:16 And he came to Nazareth, where he had been brought up: and, as his custom was, he went into the synagogue on the sabbath day, and stood up for to read.

Matthew12:10-13 And, behold, there was a man which had his hand withered. And they asked him, saying, Is it lawful to heal on the sabbath days? that they might accuse him. <sup>11</sup>And he said unto them, What man shall there be among you, that shall have one sheep, and if it fall into a pit on the sabbath day, will he not lay hold on it, and lift it out? <sup>12</sup>How much then is a man better than a sheep? Wherefore it is lawful to do well on the sabbath days. <sup>13</sup>Then saith he to the man, Stretch forth thine hand. And he stretched it forth; and it was restored whole, like as the other.

"During His childhood and youth, Jesus had worshiped among His brethren in the synagogue at Nazareth.... As He again appeared among them, their interest and expectation were excited to the highest pitch. Here were the familiar forms and faces of those whom He had known from infancy. Here were His mother, His brothers and sisters, and all eyes were turned upon Him as He entered the synagogue upon the Sabbath day, and took His place among the worshipers....

"Upon another Sabbath, as Jesus entered a synagogue. He saw there a man who had a withered hand.... The Saviour well knew that in healing on the Sabbath He would be regarded as a transgressor, but He did not hesitate to break down the wall of traditional requirements....

"In the healing of the withered hand, Jesus condemned the custom of the Jews, and left the fourth commandment standing as God had given it. 'It is lawful to do well on the Sabbath days,' He declared. By sweeping away the senseless restrictions of the Jews, Christ honored the Sabbath...." —The Desire of Ages, pp. 236, 286, 287.

#### KEPT BY THE APOSTLES AND EARLY CHRISTIANS

5. What did the first Christians do at the time of Jesus' death? Like Him, how did the apostles spend the Sabbath day?

Luke 23:54-56 And that day was the preparation, and the sabbath drew on. <sup>55</sup>And the women also, which came with him from Galilee, followed after, and beheld the sepulchre, and how his body was laid. <sup>56</sup>And they returned, and prepared spices and ointments; and rested the sabbath day according to the commandment.

Acts 13:42-44 And when the Jews were gone out of the synagogue, the Gentiles besought that these words might be preached to them the next sabbath. <sup>43</sup>Now when the congregation was broken up, many of the Jews and religious proselytes followed Paul and Barnabas: who, speaking to them, persuaded them to continue in the grace of God. <sup>44</sup>And the next sabbath day came almost the whole city together to hear the word of God.

"Now Jesus rested from the work of redemption; and though there was grief among those who loved Him on earth, yet there was joy in heaven."—The Desire of Ages, p. 769.

"The Saviour was buried on Friday, the sixth day of the week. The women prepared spices and ointments with which to embalm their Lord, and laid them aside, until the Sabbath was past. Not even the work of embalming the body of Jesus would they do upon the Sabbath day.

"'And when the Sabbath was past,... very early in the morning the first day of the week, they came unto the sepulcher at the rising of the sun.' Mark 16:1, 2." – The Story of Jesus, p. 157.

After the death of Christ the disciples 'rested the Sabbath day according to the commandment.' After the ascension of Christ, Paul, the great apostle to the Gentiles, preached to both Jews and Gentiles 'on the Sabbath day.'" – Signs of the Times, November 12, 1894.

#### The Sabbath in the future

6. For what did Jesus tell the first Christians to pray when Jerusalem would be besieged in the future? Where will the redeemed have the privilege of worshiping God on the Sabbath day?

Matthew 24:20 But pray ye that your flight be not in the winter, neither on the sabbath day.

Isaiah 66:23 And it shall come to pass, that from one new moon to another, and from one sabbath to another, shall all flesh come to worship before me, saith the Lord.

"He who made the Sabbath did not abolish it, nailing it to His cross. The Sabbath was not rendered null and void by His death. Forty years after His crucifixion it was still to be held sacred. For forty years the disciples were to pray that their flight might not be on the Sabbath day....

"When there shall be a 'restitution of all things, which God hath spoken by the mouth of all His holy prophets since the world began' (Acts 3:21), the creation Sabbath, the day on which Jesus lay at rest in Joseph's tomb, will still be a day of rest and rejoicing. Heaven and earth will unite in praise, as 'from one Sabbath to another' (Isaiah 66:23) the nations of the saved shall bow in joyful worship to God and the Lamb." –The Desire of Ages, pp. 630, 769, 770.

"When Eden shall bloom on earth again, God's holy rest day will be honored by all beneath the sun. 'From one sabbath to another' the inhabitants of the glorified new earth shall ... 'worship before Me, saith the Lord.'"—The Faith I Live By, p. 37.

#### **B**LESSINGS FOR TODAY

7. How does God view those who honor His holy day and refuse to profane it? What blessings are reserved for those who faithfully observe the day that He sanctified and blessed?

Isaiah 56:2, 4, 5; 58:13, 14 Blessed is the man that doeth this, and the son of man that layeth hold on it; that keepeth the sabbath from polluting it, and keepeth his hand from doing any evil... <sup>4</sup>For thus saith the Lord unto the eunuchs that keep my sabbaths, and choose the things that please me, and take hold of my covenant; <sup>5</sup>Even unto them will I give in mine house and within my walls a place and a name better than of sons and of daughters: I will give them an everlasting name, that shall not be cut off.... <sup>58:13</sup>If thou turn away thy foot from the sabbath, from doing thy pleasure on my holy day; and call the sabbath a delight, the holy of the Lord, honourable; and shalt honour him, not doing thine own ways, nor finding thine own pleasure, nor speaking thine own words: <sup>14</sup>Then shalt thou delight thyself in the Lord; and I will cause thee to ride upon the high places of the earth, and feed thee with the heritage of Jacob thy father: for the mouth of the Lord hath spoken it.

"The Sabbath ... is God's time, not ours; when we trespass upon it we are stealing from God.... God has given us the whole of six days in which to do our work, and has reserved only one to Himself. This should be a day of blessing to us—a day when we should lay aside all our secular matters and center our thoughts upon God and heaven....

"But while we worship God, we are not to consider this a drudgery. The Sabbath of the Lord is to be made a blessing to us and to our children. They are to look upon the Sabbath as a day of delight, a day which

God has sanctified; and they will so consider it if they are properly instructed." –*In Heavenly Places*, p. 152.

"God teaches that we should assemble in His house to cultivate the attributes of perfect love. This will fit the dwellers of earth for the mansions that Christ has gone to prepare for all who love Him. There they will assemble in the sanctuary from Sabbath to Sabbath, from one new moon to another, to unite in loftiest strains of song, in praise and thanksgiving to Him who sits upon the throne, and to the Lamb forever and ever." –*The Faith I Live By*, p. 37.

#### FOR ADDITIONAL STUDY

"The Sabbath is not introduced as a new institution but as having been founded at creation. It is to be remembered and observed as the memorial of the Creator's work. Pointing to God as the Maker of the heavens and the earth, it distinguishes the true God from all false gods. All who keep the seventh day signify by this act that they are worshipers of Jehovah. Thus the Sabbath is the sign of man's allegiance to God as long as there are any upon the earth to serve Him. The fourth commandment is the only one of all the ten in which are found both the name and the title of the Lawgiver. It is the only one that shows by whose authority the law is given. Thus it contains the seal of God, affixed to His law as evidence of its authenticity and binding force." —Patriarchs and Prophets, p. 307.

- When is one truly able to receive and appreciate the blessing of the holy Sabbath day?
- When the Sabbath is consistently respected now, how does this lay the foundation for one's fidelity to His will when His day will come under attack in the future?
- The Lord has made the Sabbath a unique sign between Him and His people. How does one's faithfulness to Him in this regard exalt its sacredness now and bless others?

\* \* \*

#### Read the Missionary Report from Ethiopia on page 52

9

Sabbath, August 29, 2015

## Respect for Life

"The spirit of hate and revenge originated with Satan, and it led him to put to death the Son of God. Whoever cherishes malice or unkindness is cherishing the same spirit.... In the revengeful thought the evil deed lies enfolded, as the plant in the seed... All were created in His image, and even the most degraded are to be treated with respect and tenderness. God will hold us accountable for even a word spoken in contempt of one soul for whom Christ laid down His life...." —Reflecting Christ, p. 70.

#### Consequences of taking life

1. What sentence was pronounced against Cain when he became guilty of his brother's death? What will happen to those who threaten man's life?

Genesis 4:9-12; 9:6 And the Lord said unto Cain, Where is Abel thy brother? And he said, I know not: Am I my brother's keeper? <sup>10</sup>And he said, What hast thou done? the voice of thy brother's blood crieth unto me from the ground. <sup>11</sup>And now art thou cursed from the earth, which hath opened her mouth to receive thy brother's blood from thy hand; <sup>12</sup>When thou tillest the ground, it shall not henceforth yield unto thee her strength; a fugitive and a vagabond shalt thou be in the earth.... <sup>9:6</sup>Whoso sheddeth man's blood, by man shall his blood be shed: for in the image of God made he man.

"Notwithstanding that Cain had by his crimes merited the sentence of death, a merciful Creator still spared his life, and granted him opportunity for repentance. But Cain lived only to harden his heart, to encourage rebellion against the divine authority, and to become the head of a line of bold, abandoned sinners. This one apostate, led on by Satan, became a tempter to others; and his example and influence exerted their demoralizing power, until the earth became so corrupt and filled with violence as to call for its destruction.

"In sparing the life of the first murderer, God presented before the whole universe a lesson bearing upon the great controversy. The dark history of Cain and his descendants was an illustration of what would have been the result of permitting the sinner to live on forever, to carry out his rebellion against God. The forbearance of God only rendered the wicked more bold and defiant in their iniquity.... The longer men lived in sin, the more abandoned they became." —Patriarchs and Prophets, p. 78.

2. What commandment did the Lord repeat orally and in writing to protect human life? What instructions did He give concerning those who would not respect this holy principle?

Exopus 20:13; 21:12-14 Thou shalt not kill.... <sup>21:12</sup>He that smiteth a man, so that he die, shall be surely put to death. <sup>13</sup>And if a man lie not in wait, but God deliver him into his hand; then I will appoint thee a place whither he shall flee. <sup>14</sup>But if a man come presumptuously upon his neighbour, to slay him with guile; thou shalt take him from mine altar, that he may die.

"All acts of injustice that tend to shorten life; the spirit of hatred and revenge, or the indulgence of any passion that leads to injurious acts toward others, or causes us even to wish them harm (for 'whosoever hateth his brother is a murderer'); a selfish neglect of caring for the needy or suffering; all self-indulgence or unnecessary deprivation or excessive labor that tends to injure health—all these are, to a greater or less degree, violations of the sixth commandment." —Patriarchs and Prophets, p. 308.

"The law of God takes note of the jealousy, envy, hatred, malignity, revenge, lust, and ambition that surge through the soul, but have not found expression in outward action, because the opportunity, not the will, has been wanting. And these sinful emotions will be brought into the account in the day when 'God shall bring every work into judgment, with every secret thing, whether it be good, or whether it be evil.' Ecclesiastes 12:14." —Selected Messages, book 1, p. 217.

#### Deep spiritual meaning of the sixth commandment

3. How did Jesus uphold the validity of the sixth commandment? How deep did He go in presenting the spiritual meaning of this precept?

Matthew 19:17-19; 5:21, 22 If thou wilt enter into life, keep the commandments. <sup>18</sup>He saith unto him, Which? Jesus said, Thou shalt do no murder, Thou shalt not commit adultery, Thou shalt not steal, Thou shalt not bear false witness, <sup>19</sup>Honour thy father and thy mother: and, Thou shalt love thy neighbour as thyself.... <sup>5:21</sup>Ye have heard that it was said by them of old time, Thou shalt not kill; and whosoever shall kill shall be in danger of the judgment: <sup>22</sup>But I say unto you, That whosoever is angry with his brother without a cause shall be in danger of the judgment: and whosoever shall say to his brother, Raca, shall be in danger of the council: but whosoever shall say, Thou fool, shall be in danger of hell fire.

"Here Jesus describes murder as first existing in the mind. That malice and revenge which would delight in deeds of violence is of itself murder. Jesus goes further still, and says, 'Whoever is angry with his brother without a cause shall be in danger of the judgment.' There is an

anger that is not of this criminal nature. A certain kind of indignation is justifiable, under some circumstances, even in the followers of Christ. When they see God dishonored, His name reviled, and the precious cause of truth brought into disrepute by those who profess to revere it, when they see the innocent oppressed and persecuted, a righteous indignation stirs their soul; such anger, born of sensitive morals, is not a sin."—*The Spirit of Prophecy*, vol. 2, pp. 219, 220.

"Whoever cherishes malice or unkindness is cherishing the same spirit, and its fruit will be unto death. In the revengeful thought the evil deed lies enfolded, as the plant in the seed. 'Whosoever hateth his brother is a murderer: and ye know that no murderer hath eternal life abiding in him.' 1 John 3:15.

"In the gift of His Son for our redemption, God has shown how high a value He places upon every human soul, and He gives to no man liberty to speak contemptuously of another." –*Thoughts from the Mount of Blessing*, p. 56.

#### CHRISTIAN NON-RESISTANCE

4. In harmony with His previous teaching, what did the Lord say about the system of an eye for an eye, and a tooth for a tooth? How did He present the principle of Christian non-resistance?

Matthew 5:38-42 Ye have heard that it hath been said, An eye for an eye, and a tooth for a tooth: <sup>39</sup>But I say unto you, That ye resist not evil: but whosoever shall smite thee on thy right cheek, turn to him the other also. <sup>40</sup>And if any man will sue thee at the law, and take away thy coat, let him have thy cloak also. <sup>41</sup>And whosoever shall compel thee to go a mile, go with him twain. <sup>42</sup>Give to him that asketh thee, and from him that would borrow of thee turn not thou away.

"These words were but a reiteration of the teaching of the Old Testament. It is true that the rule, 'Eye for eye, tooth for tooth' (Leviticus 24:20), was a provision in the laws given through Moses; but it was a civil statute. None were justified in avenging themselves, for they had the words of the Lord: 'Say not thou, I will recompense evil.' 'Say not, I will do so to him as he hath done to me.' ... Proverbs 20:22; 24:29." – Thoughts from the Mount of Blessing, pp. 70, 71.

"The example of Jesus was a practical illustration of the lesson here taught; contumely and persecution never caused Him to retaliate upon His enemies. But this was a hard saying for the revengeful Jews, and they murmured against it among themselves." —The Spirit of Prophecy, vol. 2, p. 223.

#### The law of recompense

5. What is the place of revenge when one suffers an offense or injury? How is the Christian law of recompense carried out in practice?

Romans 12:17-21 Recompense to no man evil for evil. Provide things honest in the sight of all men. <sup>18</sup>If it be possible, as much as lieth in you, live peaceably with all men. <sup>19</sup>Dearly beloved, avenge not yourselves, but rather give place unto wrath: for it is written, Vengeance is mine; I will repay, saith the Lord. <sup>20</sup>Therefore if thine enemy hunger, feed him; if he thirst, give him drink: for in so doing thou shalt heap coals of fire on his head. <sup>21</sup>Be not overcome of evil, but overcome evil with good.

"We may never know until the judgment the influence of a kind, considerate course of action to the inconsistent, the unreasonable, and unworthy. If, after a course of provocation and injustice on their part, you treat them as you would an innocent person, you even take pains to show them special acts of kindness, then you have acted the part of a Christian; and they become surprised and ashamed, and see their course of action and meanness more clearly than if you plainly stated their aggravated acts to rebuke them." —Medical Ministry, pp. 209, 210.

"He who is imbued with the Spirit of Christ abides in Christ. The blow that is aimed at him falls upon the Saviour, who surrounds him with His presence. Whatever comes to him comes from Christ. He has no need to resist evil, for Christ is his defense. Nothing can touch him except by our Lord's permission, and 'all things' that are permitted 'work together for good to them that love God.' Romans 8:28."—Thoughts from the Mount of Blessing, p. 71.

#### Consequences for all who take the sword

6. Consistent with the principle of non-resistance, what did the Lord say to a disciple when he felt compelled to use force against force? Was the Lord referring to just that one isolated incident, or was He applying this principle to everyone in every time and place?

Matthew 26:51-53 And, behold, one of them which were with Jesus stretched out his hand, and drew his sword, and struck a servant of the high priest's, and smote off his ear. <sup>52</sup>Then said Jesus unto him, Put up again thy sword into his place: for all they that take the sword shall perish with the sword. <sup>53</sup>Thinkest thou that I cannot now pray to my Father, and he shall presently give me more than twelve legions of angels?

"The disciples had thought that their Master would not suffer Himself to be taken. For the same power that had caused the mob to fall as dead men could keep them helpless, until Jesus and His companions should escape. They were disappointed and indignant as they saw the cords brought forward to bind the hands of Him whom they loved. Peter in his anger rashly drew his sword and tried to defend his Master, but he only cut off an ear of the high priest's servant. When Jesus saw what was done, He released His hands, though held firmly by the Roman soldiers, and saying, 'Suffer ye thus far,' He touched the wounded ear, and it was instantly made whole. He then said to Peter, 'Put up again thy sword into his place: for all they that take the sword shall perish with the sword. Thinkest thou that I cannot now pray to My Father, and He

shall presently give Me more than twelve legions of angels?'—a legion in place of each one of the disciples."—*The Desire of Ages*, p. 696.

#### CHILDREN OF THE HEAVENLY FATHER

7. How should one's enemies be treated? If we are children of the heavenly Father, how will we react to those who persecute us and attempt to take our lives?

Matthew 5:43-45 Ye have heard that it hath been said, Thou shalt love thy neighbour, and hate thine enemy. <sup>44</sup>But I say unto you, Love your enemies, bless them that curse you, do good to them that hate you, and pray for them which despitefully use you, and persecute you; <sup>45</sup>That ye may be the children of your Father which is in heaven: for he maketh his sun to rise on the evil and on the good, and sendeth rain on the just and on the unjust.

"The manifestation of hatred never breaks down the malice of our enemies. But love and kindness beget love and kindness in return. Although God faithfully rewards virtue and punishes guilt, yet He does not withhold His blessings from the wicked, although they daily dishonor His name. He allows the sunshine and the showers to fall upon the just and the unjust, bringing alike worldly prosperity to both. If a holy God exercises such forbearance and benevolence toward the rebellious and the idolatrous, how necessary it is that erring man should manifest a like spirit toward his fellowmen. Instead of cursing those who injure him, it is his duty to seek to win them from their evil ways by a kindness similar to that with which Christ treated them who persecuted Him." —The Spirit of Prophecy, vol. 2, p. 224.

- Despite the sixth commandment and Jesus' clear teaching in support of it, what is one form of widespread killing that many people support?
- List some forms of disrespect for human life of which you are aware.
- Considering that Jesus came to save human life, what will His followers do?

\* \* \*

## MISSIONARY REPORT FROM ETHIOPIA

#### To be read on Sabbath, August 29, 2015

## The Special Sabbath School Offering will be gathered on Sabbath, September 5, 2015

"From beyond the rivers of Ethiopia My suppliants, even the daughter of My dispersed, shall bring Mine offering." Zephaniah 3:10, King James Version.

"From beyond the rivers of Cush (Ethiopia) My worshippers, My scattered people, will bring Me offerings." Zephaniah 3:10, New International Version.

Ethiopia is located in the horn of Africa, bordering Eritrea on the north, Djibouti and Somalia on the east, Kenya on the South, and Sudan and South Sudan on the west.

This country is esteemed in Africa for the following reasons.

- It has a very rich early Biblical history.
- The capital, Addis Ababa, is considered Africa's political capital.
- It is the second most populous country on the continent, after Nigeria.
- It is one of only two countries in Africa that have never been colonized, the other being Liberia. Italians tried to colonize Ethiopia, but they were defeated on the battlefield.
- It has its own unique official national language, Amharic, although other tribal languages are also widely spoken, such as Oromo. English is spoken by a few as a foreign language. Ethiopia also has a distinct calendar and a unique culture.

The country covers an area of about 1,104,300 square kilometers, and 2014 statistics show it to be the home of about 96.5 million people. There are two main religions—Christianity and Islam. Coptic Christianity is the state religion, and therefore Christian holy days dominate the holiday calendar of activities.

Seventh-day Adventists number about 150,000 in this country, and the message of Reformation gained entrance in 2005. Among the pioneering missionaries were Pastors Idel Suarez, Jr., Tzevtan Petkov, and Parmenas Shirima. Later, the Ethiopian Union was visited by many other missionaries, including Pastors Raul Escobar, Bright Fue, Sevith Moyo, Henry Dering, Larry Watts, Francesco Caputo, Stefano Salemi, Sister Leila McTavish, and other sisters from Canada.

The first contact came through a Macedonian call sent to the General Conference by an interested person known as Gabre. Although at the beginning the missionary work seemed very difficult and discouraging due to strong opposition from the S.D.A. Church members and other independent groups, the light of Reformation was accepted by more than 2,000 believers. Two years later, there was a setback caused by unbiblical doctrines, and some people left the church. But we thank God that the greater number of souls stood firm in the truth and today form the Ethiopian Union.

The Union has four Fields: 1) Western Field, 2) Hossana Field, 3) Southern Field, and 4) Sidama Field. In terms of membership, it is among the largest Unions in Africa. Now the main objective is to consolidate the missionary activities in the central region of the country and then extend those efforts to the north. One of the main challenges is the lack of a central office and Union headquarters. For ten years, the administrative activities have been housed in various rented buildings. The General Conference desires to acquire property in or near the capital city, Addis Ababa, in the central part of the country; but land and buildings are quite expensive. The requirements of the work make it necessary to purchase something appropriate near the capital. Acquiring property instead of spending money to rent a place for the headquarters will be a much better use of funds.

A Special Sabbath School Offering was gathered for Ethiopia on January 3, 2009, and approximately \$60,000 is available from that offering for this project. However, this amount is not sufficient to accomplish what is needed. At least \$100,000 more is required.

Therefore, we implore you to give generously to support the work of extending the missionary efforts by helping the Ethiopian Union at this time in this way. May the following words from the inspired pen motivate us to take advantage of this opportunity to give our means to secure a heavenly institution: "The Lord could carry forward His work without our cooperation. He is not dependent on our money, our time, or our labor. But the church is very precious in His sight. It is the case which contains His jewels, the fold which encloses His flock, and He longs to see it without spot or blemish or any such thing. He yearns after it with unspeakable love. This is why He has given us opportunities to work for Him, and He accepts our labor as tokens of our love and loyalty." – Testimonies for the Church, vol. 6, p. 261.

May His grace be poured upon all of us. Amen!

-Parmenas N. Shirima African Division Leader

## Special Sabbath School Offering for ETHIOPIA

Let God's great love for you be seen in your gifts!

10

Sabbath, September 5, 2015

## A Holy Commitment

"God celebrated the first marriage. Thus the institution has for its originator the Creator of the universe. 'Marriage is honourable'; it was one of the first gifts of God to man, and it is one of the two institutions that, after the fall, Adam brought with him beyond the gates of Paradise. When the divine principles are recognized and obeyed in this relation, marriage is a blessing; it guards the purity and happiness of the race, it provides for man's social needs, it elevates the physical, the intellectual, and the moral nature." —*The Adventist Home*, pp. 25, 26.

#### **O**RIGIN OF MARRIAGE

1. What did Adam exclaim when he saw the person who was bone of his bones and flesh of his flesh? In God's plan, what do a man and his wife become?

Genesis 2:22-24 And the rib, which the Lord God had taken from man, made he a woman, and brought her unto the man. <sup>23</sup>And Adam said, This is now bone of my bones, and flesh of my flesh: she shall be called Woman, because she was taken out of Man. <sup>24</sup>Therefore shall a man leave his father and his mother, and shall cleave unto his wife: and they shall be one flesh.

"God Himself gave Adam a companion. He provided 'an help meet for him'—a helper corresponding to him—one who was fitted to be his companion, and who could be one with him in love and sympathy. Eve was created from a rib taken from the side of Adam, signifying that she was not to control him as the head, nor to be trampled under his feet as an inferior, but to stand by his side as an equal, to be loved and protected by him A part of man, bone of his bone, and flesh of his flesh, she was his second self; showing the close union and the affectionate attachment that should exist in this relation. 'For no man ever yet hated his own flesh; but nourisheth and cherisheth it.' 'Therefore shall a man leave his father and his mother, and shall cleave unto his wife: and they shall be one.'"—The Adventist Home, p. 25.

2. Besides being given the mission to be fruitful and multiply, what else did the holy couple receive in the beginning? According to God's law, how long does the marriage union last?

GENESIS 1:27, 28 So God created man in his own image, in the image of God created he him; male and female created he them. <sup>28</sup>And God blessed them, and God said unto them, Be fruitful, and multiply, and replenish the earth, and subdue it: and have dominion over the fish of the sea, and over the fowl of the air, and over every living thing that moveth upon the earth.

ROMANS 7:2 For the woman which hath an husband is bound by the law to her husband so long as he liveth; but if the husband be dead, she is loosed from the law of her husband.

1 Corinthians 7:39 The wife is bound by the law as long as her husband liveth; but if her husband be dead, she is at liberty to be married to whom she will; only in the Lord.

"The family tie is the closest, the most tender and sacred, of any on earth. It was designed to be a blessing to mankind. And it is a blessing wherever the marriage covenant is entered into intelligently, in the fear of God, and with due consideration for its responsibilities." —The Ministry of Healing, pp. 356, 357.

"The marriage union is taken as a symbol of the sacred and enduring character of the relation that exists between Christ and His church. He says, 'I will betroth thee unto Me forever;' and again, 'I am married unto you;' and Paul employs the same figure in the New Testament when he declares, 'I have espoused you to one husband, that I may present you as a chaste virgin to Christ." –Signs of the Times, August 19, 1889.

#### The problem of divorce

3. What attack against marriage began a century ago and is spreading rapidly in modern society? What lesson of the Saviour should we take to heart so as to be protected from this painful plague?

Matthew 5:31, 32 It hath been said, Whosoever shall put away his wife, let him give her a writing of divorcement: <sup>32</sup>But I say unto you, That whosoever shall put away his wife, saving for the cause of fornication, causeth her to commit adultery: and whosoever shall marry her that is divorced committeth adultery.

MALACHI 2:16 For the Lord, the God of Israel, saith that he hateth putting away: for one covereth violence with his garment, saith the Lord of hosts: therefore take heed to your spirit, that ye deal not treacherously.

Matthew 19:6, last part Wherefore they are no more twain, but one flesh. What therefore God hath joined together, let not man put asunder.

"When the Pharisees afterward questioned Him concerning the lawfulness of divorce, Jesus pointed His hearers back to the marriage institution as ordained at creation. 'Because of the hardness of your hearts,' He said, Moses 'suffered you to put away your wives: but from the beginning it was not so.' He referred them to the blessed days of Eden when God pronounced all things 'very good.'… Then, as the Creator joined the hands of the holy pair in wedlock,… He enunciated the law of marriage for all the children of Adam to the close of time. That which the eternal Father Himself had pronounced good was the law of highest blessing and development for man....

"Wrong sentiments in regard to marriage had found a place in the minds of the teachers of Israel. They were making of none effect the sacred institution of marriage. Man was becoming so hard hearted that he would for the most trivial excuse separate from his wife, or, if he chose, he would separate her from the children and send her away.... Christ came to correct these evils." –*The Adventist Home*, pp. 340, 341.

#### Unfaithfulness

4. In opposition to God's holy ideal, what things destroy marriage and morality? What commandment was given to protect this holy institution and moral purity?

Matthew 15:19 For out of the heart proceed evil thoughts, murders, adulteries, fornications, thefts, false witness, blasphemies.

James 4:4 Ye adulterers and adulteresses, know ye not that the friendship of the world is enmity with God? whosoever therefore will be a friend of the world is the enemy of God.

Exodus 20:14 Thou shalt not commit adultery.

"Immorality abounds everywhere. Licentiousness is the special sin of this age. Never did vice lift its deformed head with such boldness as now. The people seem to be benumbed, and the lovers of virtue and true goodness are nearly discouraged by its boldness, strength, and prevalence. The iniquity which abounds is not merely confined to the unbeliever and the scoffer. Would that this were the case, but it is not. Many men and women who profess the religion of Christ are guilty. Even some who profess to be looking for His appearing are no more prepared for that event than Satan himself. They are not cleansing themselves from all pollution. They have so long served their lust that it is natural for their thoughts to be impure and their imaginations corrupt.... Every Christian will have to learn to restrain his passions and be controlled by principle. Unless he does this, he is unworthy of the Christian name." —The Adventist Home, p. 328.

5. Does temptation to unfaithfulness and uncleanness always come from the outside? What other commandment and teachings close the door to temptation?

Exodus 20:17 Thou shalt not covet thy neighbour's wife.

Matthew 5:27-30 Ye have heard that it was said by them of old time, Thou shalt not commit adultery: <sup>28</sup>But I say unto you, That whosoever looketh on a woman to lust after her hath committed adultery with her already in his heart. <sup>29</sup>And if thy right eye offend thee, pluck it out, and cast it from thee: for it is profitable for thee that one of thy members should perish, and not that thy whole body should be cast into hell. <sup>30</sup>And if thy right hand offend thee, cut it off, and cast it from thee: for it is profitable for thee that one of thy members should perish, and not that thy whole body should be cast into hell.

2 Timothy 2:22 Flee also youthful lusts: but follow righteousness, faith, charity, peace, with them that call on the Lord out of a pure heart.

"Not all who profess to keep the commandments of God possess their bodies in sanctification and honor.... They profess to be standing upon the elevated platform of eternal truth, keeping all of God's commandments; therefore, if they indulge in sin, if they commit fornication and adultery, their crime is of tenfold greater magnitude than is that of the classes I have named, who do not acknowledge the law of God as binding upon them. In a peculiar sense do those who profess to keep God's law dishonor Him and reproach the truth by transgressing its precepts." – Counsels on Health, p. 567.

"'Casting down imaginations, and every high thing that exalteth itself against the knowledge of God, and bringing into captivity every thought to the obedience of Christ.' The first work for those who would reform, is to purify the imagination.... When tempted to yield to a corrupt imagination, then flee to the throne of grace and pray for strength from Heaven. In the strength of God the imagination can be restricted to dwell upon things which are pure and heavenly."—An Appeal to Mothers, p. 29.

## 6. What do the Scriptures say about those who engage in impure practices of any and every kind?

1 Corinthians 6:9, 15, 16 Know ye not that the unrighteous shall not inherit the kingdom of God? Be not deceived: neither fornicators, nor idolaters, nor adulterers, nor effeminate, nor abusers of themselves with mankind.... <sup>15</sup>Know ye not that your bodies are the members of Christ? shall I then take the members of Christ, and make them the members of an harlot? God forbid. <sup>16</sup>What? know ye not that he which is joined to an harlot is one body? for two, saith he, shall be one flesh.

"Fornication and adultery are estimated by many professing Christians as sins which God winketh at. These sins are practiced to a great extent. They do not acknowledge the claims of God's law upon them. They ... are ... declaring that the law of God is abolished, and consequently has no claims upon them. In accordance with this free state of things, sin does not appear so exceedingly sinful; for by the law is the knowledge of sin. We may expect to find men among those who thus teach, who will deceive, and lie, and give loose rein to lustful passions. But men and women who acknowledge the ten commandments binding, should carry out in their lives, the principles of all ten of the precepts given in awful grandeur from Sinai." —A Solemn Appeal, p. 141.

"All fornicators will be outside the City of God." – Testimonies to Ministers and Gospel Workers, p. 431.

"Israel's sin at Beth-peor brought the judgments of God upon the nation, and though the same sins may not now be punished as speedily, they will as surely meet retribution. 'If any man defile the temple of God, him shall God destroy.' 1 Corinthians 3:17." —Patriarchs and Prophets, p. 461.

#### Preventing sinful tendencies

7. What counsel will be heeded by all who wish to have happiness and maintain integrity in their moral conduct? When carefully followed, what deep spiritual principle will protect everyone from the prevailing moral sins?

Hebrews 13:4 Marriage is honourable in all, and the bed undefiled: but whoremongers and adulterers God will judge.

PROVERBS 4:23 Keep thy heart with all diligence; for out of it are the issues of life.

Philippians 4:8 Finally, brethren, whatsoever things are true, whatsoever things are honest, whatsoever things are just, whatsoever things are pure, whatsoever things are lovely, whatsoever things are of good report; if there be any virtue, and if there be any praise, think on these things.

1 Thessalonians 4:4, 5 That every one of you should know how to possess his vessel in sanctification and honour; <sup>5</sup>Not in the lust of concupiscence, even as the Gentiles which know not God.

"Not one word should be spoken, not one action performed, that you would not be willing the holy angels should look upon and register in the books above. You should have an eye single to the glory of God. The heart should have only pure, sanctified affection, worthy of the followers of Jesus Christ, exalted in its nature, and more heavenly than earthly. Anything different from this is debasing, degrading in courtship; and marriage cannot be holy and honorable in the sight of a pure and holy God, unless it is after the exalted Scriptural principle." –*The Adventist Home*, p. 55.

"The windows of impulse, of feeling must be opened up toward heaven, and the dust of selfishness and earthliness must be expelled. The grace of God must sweep through the chambers of the mind, the imagination must have heavenly themes for contemplation, and every element of the nature must be purified and vitalized by the Spirit of God." —Sons and Daughters of God, p. 107.

#### FOR ADDITIONAL STUDY

"In the marriage vows they [husband and wife] have promised to be as one, the wife covenanting to love and obey her husband, the husband promising to love and cherish his wife. If the law of God is obeyed, the demon of strife will be kept out of the family, and no separation of interests will take place, no alienation of affection will be permitted." —*The Adventist Home*, p. 106.

"I come again to Christians. If all who profess to obey the law of God were free from iniquity, my soul would be delivered; but they are not. Even some who profess to keep all the commandments of God are guilty of the sin of adultery. What can I say to arouse their benumbed sensibilities? Moral principle, strictly carried out, becomes the only safeguard of the soul." – *Counsels on Health*, pp. 621, 622.

"The thoughts must be bound about, restricted, withdrawn from branching out and contemplating things that will only weaken and defile the soul. The thoughts must be pure, the meditations of the heart must be clean.... The noble powers of the mind have been given to us by the Lord, that we may employ them in contemplating heavenly things. God has made abundant provision that the soul may make continual progression in the divine life." –Sons and Daughters of God, p. 107.

- What do you see as the causes of so many crises in marriage?
- What can prevent such pain and unhappiness?
- What did Jesus use victoriously to resist every temptation?

\* \* \*

## 11

Sabbath, September 12, 2015

## Tampering with God's Law

"Such are the warnings which God has given to guard men against changing in any manner that which He has revealed or commanded. These solemn denunciations apply to all who by their influence lead men to regard lightly the law of God. They should cause those to fear and tremble who flippantly declare it a matter of little consequence whether we obey God's law or not. All who exalt their own opinions above divine revelation, all who would change the plain meaning of Scripture to suit their own convenience, or for the sake of conforming to the world, are taking upon themselves a fearful responsibility. The written word, the law of God, will measure the character of every man and condemn all whom this unerring test shall declare wanting." –The Great Controversy, p. 268.

#### Not always faithful

1. In the times of the prophets, how did the people of Israel regard God's holy law? What did Jesus say about people's attitudes toward the Ten Commandments in His day?

Jeremiah 9:13; 16:11 And the Lord saith, Because they have forsaken my law which I set before them, and have not obeyed my voice, neither walked therein;... <sup>16:11</sup>Then shalt thou say unto them, Because your fathers have forsaken me, saith the Lord, and have walked after other gods, and have served them, and have worshipped them, and have forsaken me, and have not kept my law.

Matthew 15:3, 6 But he answered and said unto them, Why do ye also transgress the commandment of God by your tradition?... <sup>6</sup>And honour not his father or his mother, he shall be free. Thus have ye made the commandment of God of none effect by your tradition.

"When Christ came to the earth, humanity seemed to be fast reaching its lowest point. The very foundations of society were undermined. Life had become false and artificial. The Jews, destitute of the power of God's word, gave to the world mind-benumbing, soul-deadening traditions and speculations. The worship of God 'in Spirit and in truth' had been supplanted by the glorification of men in an endless round of manmade ceremonies. Throughout the world all systems of religion were losing their hold on mind and soul. Disgusted with fable and falsehood, seeking to drown thought, men turned to infidelity and materialism. Leaving eternity out of their reckoning, they lived for the present." –Education, pp. 74, 75.

"Christ had shown them [the Jewish leaders of His day] that they continued to disbelieve because they had not the spirit which leads to obedience. He had declared to them, 'Ye made the commandment of God of none effect by your tradition.'"—Christ's Object Lessons, p. 276.

#### Disregarding the second commandment

2. What does the second commandment teach about the way to worship God? How do some religious organizations attempt to override this commandment?

Exodus 20:4-6 Thou shalt not make unto thee any graven image, or any likeness of any thing that is in heaven above, or that is in the earth beneath, or that is in the water under the earth: <sup>5</sup>Thou shalt not bow down thyself to them, nor serve them: for I the Lord thy God am a jealous God, visiting the iniquity of the fathers upon the children unto the third and fourth generation of them that hate me; <sup>6</sup>And showing mercy unto thousands of them that love me, and keep my commandments.

Matthew 4:10 Then saith Jesus unto him, Get thee hence, Satan: for it is written, Thou shalt worship the Lord thy God, and him only shalt thou serve.

John 4:24 God is a Spirit: and they that worship him must worship him in spirit and in truth.

"To afford converts from heathenism a substitute for the worship of idols, and thus to promote their nominal acceptance of Christianity, the adoration of images and relics was gradually introduced into the Christian worship. The decree of a general council finally established this system of idolatry. To complete the sacrilegious work, Rome presumed to expunge from the law of God the second commandment, forbidding image worship, and to divide the tenth commandment, in order to preserve the number." —The Great Controversy, p. 51.

"I saw that at last the standard was lowered, and that the heathen were uniting with the Christians. Although these worshipers of idols professed to be converted, they brought their idolatry with them into the church, only changing the objects of their worship to images of saints, and even of Christ and of Mary His mother. As the followers of Christ gradually united with them, the Christian religion became corrupted and the church lost its purity and power." – Early Writings, p. 211.

#### Attacks against God's law

## 3. What did two prophets write about lack of respect for God's law and attempts to change it?

Isaiah 24:5 The earth also is defiled under the inhabitants thereof; because they have transgressed the laws, changed the ordinance, broken the everlasting covenant.

Daniel 7:25 And he shall speak great words against the most High, and shall wear out the saints of the most High, and think to change times and laws: and they shall be given into his hand until a time and times and the dividing of time.

"The spirit of concession to paganism opened the way for a still further disregard of Heaven's authority. Satan tampered with the fourth commandment also, and essayed to set aside the ancient Sabbath, the day which God had blessed and sanctified, and in its stead to exalt the festival observed by the heathen as 'the venerable day of the sun.' This change was not at first attempted openly. In the first centuries the true Sabbath had been kept by all Christians. They were jealous for the honor of God, and, believing that His law is immutable, they zealously guarded the sacredness of its precepts." –The Story of Redemption, pp. 328, 329.

"Satan has caused the change of the Sabbath in the hope of carrying out his purpose for the defeat of God's plans. He seeks to make the commands of God of less force in the world than human laws. The man of sin, who thought to change times and laws, and who has always oppressed the people of God, will cause laws to be made enforcing the observance of the first day of the week. But God's people are to stand firm for Him." —Testimonies for the Church, vol. 9, pp. 229, 230.

#### Trying to change the day and the commandment

## 4. What commandment at the heart of God's law became the special object of subversion?

Exodus 20:8-11 Remember the sabbath day, to keep it holy. Six days shalt thou labour, and do all thy work: 10 But the seventh day is the sabbath of the Lord thy God: in it thou shalt not do any work, thou, nor thy son, nor thy daughter, thy manservant, nor thy maidservant, nor thy cattle, nor thy stranger that is within thy gates: 11 For in six days the Lord made heaven and earth, the sea, and all that in them is, and rested the seventh day: wherefore the Lord blessed the sabbath day, and hallowed it.

"The special characteristic of the beast, and therefore of his image, is the breaking of God's commandments. Says Daniel, of the little horn, the papacy: 'He shall think to change times and the law.' Daniel 7:25,

R.V. And Paul styled the same power the 'man of sin,' who was to exalt himself above God. One prophecy is a complement of the other. Only by changing God's law could the papacy exalt itself above God..."—The Great Controversy, p. 446.

"While the worshipers of God will be especially distinguished by their regard for the fourth commandments—since this is the sign of His creative power and the witness to His claim upon man's reverence and homage—the worshipers of the beast will be distinguished by their efforts to tear down the Creator's memorial, to exalt the institution of Rome. It was in behalf of the Sunday that popery first asserted its arrogant claims...; and its first resort to the power of the state was to compel the observance of Sunday as 'the Lord's day.' But the Bible points to the seventh day, and not to the first, as the Lord's day."—The Great Controversy, pp. 446, 447.

#### CLAIMING THE CHANGE

## 5. Does the Catholic Church admit its role in undermining this commandment?

"... You may read the Bible from Genesis to Revelation, and you will not find a single line authorizing the sanctification of Sunday. The Scriptures enforce the religious observance of Saturday, a day which we never sanctify."—James Cardinal Gibbons, *The Faith of our Fathers*, 1917, pp. 72, 73.

"The Catholic Church for over one thousand years before the existence of a Protestant, by virtue of her divine mission, changed the day from Saturday to Sunday." –*The Catholic Mirror*, September 23, 1893.

"We observe Sunday instead of Saturday because the Catholic Church transferred the solemnity from Saturday to Sunday." –*The Convert's Catechism of Catholic Doctrine*, 1951, p. 50.

"I have repeatedly offered \$1,000 to anyone who can prove to me from the Bible alone that I am bound to keep Sunday holy. There is no such law in the Bible. It is a law of the holy Catholic Church alone. The Bible says, 'Remember the Sabbath day to keep it holy.' The Catholic Church says: 'No. By my divine power I abolish the Sabbath day and command you to keep holy the first day of the week.' And lo! the entire civilized world bows down in a reverent obedience to the command of the holy Catholic Church."—T. Enright, C.S.S.R. of the Redemptoral College, Kansas City, in a lecture held at Hartford, Kansas, February 18, 1884.

# 6. Although Protestants claim to believe and follow the Bible and the Bible only, what day do they honor? Do some of them recognize that this has no Biblical foundation?

**Lutherans.** "But they err in teaching that Sunday has taken the place of the Old Testament Sabbath and therefore must be kept as the seventh day had to be kept by the children of Israel.... These churches err in their teaching, for Scripture has in no way ordained the first day of the week in place of the Sabbath. There is simply no law in the New Testament to that effect." —John Theodore Mueller, *Sabbath or Sunday*, pp. 15, 16.

Anglicans. "And where are we told in the Scriptures that we are to keep the first day at all? We are commanded to keep the seventh; but we are nowhere commanded to keep the first day.... The reason why we keep the first day of the week holy instead of the seventh is for the same reason that we observe many other things, not because the Bible, but because the church has enjoined it."—Isaac Williams, *Plain Sermons on the Catechism*, vol. 1, pp. 334, 336.

"We have made the change from the seventh day to the first day, from Saturday to Sunday, on the authority of the one holy Catholic Church."—Bishop Seymour, *Why We Keep Sunday*, Article 12.

**Baptists.** "There's nothing in Scripture that requires us to keep Sunday rather than Saturday as a holy day." –Harold Lindsell, Editor, *Christianity Today*, November 5, 1976.

"The Scriptures nowhere call the first day of the week the Sabbath.... There is no Scriptural authority for so doing nor, of course, any Scriptural obligation." –*The Watchman*.

#### **CONSEQUENCES**

7. What do the Scriptures say about those who keep the law in general while violating it in even one particular? What did Jesus teach about those who break even one commandment and teach others to do the same?

James 2:10 For whosoever shall keep the whole law, and yet offend in one point, he is guilty of all.

Matthew 5:19 Whosoever therefore shall break one of these least commandments, and shall teach men so, he shall be called the least in the kingdom of heaven: but whosoever shall do and teach them, the same shall be called great in the kingdom of heaven.

MATTHEW 15:8, 9 This people draweth nigh unto me with their mouth, and honoureth me with their lips; but their heart is far from me. <sup>9</sup>But in vain they do worship me, teaching for doctrines the commandments of men.

PROVERBS 30:5, 6 Every word of God is pure: he is a shield unto them that put their trust in him. <sup>6</sup>Add thou not unto his words, lest he reprove thee, and thou be found a liar.

"Those who depart from the plain precepts of God, will support error, and be ranged against the soldiers of Christ. They will make manifest who is their leader by the course they will pursue in opposing the truth of God, and in enforcing error on the conscience by oppressive measures. It is now time to take a decided stand on the side of truth; and as God has given to every one his measure of influence, he should exert it to the glory of God and for the good of his associates. Not one of the faithful stewards of Christ will be idle in such a time as this, or will be content to live simply for self." –Sons and Daughters of God, p. 269.

#### FOR FURTHER STUDY

"Rome is clearly involved in idolatry in her use of images and pictures as worship centers, to which people bow in their prayers.... She seeks to

avoid the clear teaching of the Law on this subject by subsuming the Second Commandment under the First, and splitting the Tenth Commandment to make up ten."—Morton H. Smith, "Rome and the Second Commandment," *The Counsel of Chalcedon*, February/March 1991, p. 5.

"Here is the test of every man's profession. We cannot accord holiness to any man without bringing him to the measurement of God's only standard of holiness in heaven and in earth. If men feel no weight of the moral law, if they belittle and make light of God's precepts, if they break one of the least of these commandments, and teach men so, they shall be of no esteem in the sight of Heaven, and we may know that their claims are without foundation." –*The Great Controversy*, pp. 472, 473.

- Can we imagine that such huge changes were made quickly without much thought?
- Against whom are those who tamper with God's law working?
- What should be our prayer so we do not fall because of blindness and apostasy?

\* \* \*

12

Sabbath, September 19, 2015

## The Law of Sacrifices

"The types and shadows of the sacrificial service, with the prophecies, gave the Israelites a veiled, indistinct view of the mercy and grace to be brought to the world by the revelation of Christ. To Moses was unfolded the significance of the types and shadows pointing to Christ. He saw to the end of that which was to be done away when, at the death of Christ, type met antitype." —Selected Messages, book 1, p. 237.

#### Instituted after the fall

1. Where do the Scriptures first mention sacrifices and offerings? Who in ancient times received a command from God to offer a sacrifice that would ultimately help him understand the great sacrifice of God's Son?

Genesis 4:3, 4; 22:2 And in process of time it came to pass, that Cain brought of the fruit of the ground an offering unto the Lord. <sup>4</sup>And Abel, he also brought of the firstlings of his flock and of the fat thereof. And the Lord had respect unto Abel and to his offering.... <sup>22:2</sup>And he said, Take now thy son, thine only son Isaac, whom thou lovest, and get thee into the land of Moriah; and offer him there for a burnt offering upon one of the mountains which I will tell thee of.

"Adam and his sons began to offer the ceremonial sacrifices ordained by God as a type of the coming Redeemer..." –*Lift Him Up*, p. 26.

"Through type and promise God 'preached before the gospel unto Abraham.' Galatians 3:8. And the patriarch's faith was fixed upon the Redeemer to come. Said Christ to the Jews. 'Your father Abraham rejoiced that he should see My day; and he saw it, and was glad.' John 8:56, R.V., margin. The ram offered in the place of Isaac represented the Son of God, who was to be sacrificed in our stead.... The agony which he endured during the dark days of that fearful trial was permitted that he might understand from his own experience something of the greatness of the sacrifice made by the infinite God for man's redemption." —Patriarchs and Prophets, p. 154.

#### Purpose of sacrifices and offerings

## 2. What offerings are listed in the law of sacrifices, pointing to the greatest sacrifice of all?

LEVITICUS 7:37 This is the law of the burnt offering, of the meat offering, and of the sin offering, and of the trespass offering, and of the consecrations, and of the sacrifice of the peace offerings.

"Every dying victim was a type of Christ, which lesson was impressed on mind and heart in the most solemn, sacred ceremony, and explained definitely by the priests. Sacrifices were explicitly planned by God Himself to teach this great and momentous truth, that through the blood of Christ alone there is forgiveness of sins.

"This grand and saving truth is oft repeated in the hearing of believers and unbelievers, and yet it is with amazement that angels behold the indifference of men to whom these truths mean so much. How little is evidenced that the church feels the force of the wonderful plan of redemption. How few make this truth, that only through faith in the cleansing blood of Jesus Christ there is forgiveness of the sins that cling to human beings like the foul leprosy, a living reality." —Selected Messages, book 1, p. 107.

# 3. What was God's purpose in commanding the sacrifices and ordinances? But what did the prophets preach, since the people were not paying attention to their real spiritual meaning?

Galatians 3:24 Wherefore the law was our schoolmaster to bring us unto Christ, that we might be justified by faith.

1 Samuel 15:22 And Samuel said, Hath the Lord as great delight in burnt offerings and sacrifices, as in obeying the voice of the Lord? Behold, to obey is better than sacrifice, and to hearken than the fat of rams.

Hosea 6:6 For I desired mercy, and not sacrifice; and the knowledge of God more than burnt offerings.

"All who did service in connection with the sanctuary were being educated constantly in regard to the intervention of Christ in behalf of the human race. This service was designed to create in every heart a love for

the law of God, which is the law of His kingdom. The sacrificial offering was to be an object lesson of the love of God revealed in Christ–in the suffering, dying victim, who took upon Himself the sin of which man was guilty, the innocent being made sin for us." –Selected Messages, book 1, p. 233.

#### PROPHECIES ABOUT SACRIFICES, OFFERINGS, AND THE TEMPLE

4. What characterized the sacrificial law with all its ceremonies? For how long were the sacrifices, offerings, washings, and every other ceremonial ordinance to be carried out?

HEBREWS 10:1; 9:9, 10 For the law having a shadow of good things to come, and not the very image of the things, can never with those sacrifices which they offered year by year continually make the comers thereunto perfect.... <sup>9:9</sup>Which was a figure for the time then present, in which were offered both gifts and sacrifices, that could not make him that did the service perfect, as pertaining to the conscience; <sup>10</sup>Which stood only in meats and drinks, and divers washings, and carnal ordinances, imposed on them until the time of reformation.

"Paul endeavored to direct the minds of his hearers to the one great Sacrifice for sin. He pointed to the sacrifices that were shadows of good things to come, and then presented Christ as the antitype of all those ceremonies—the object to which they pointed as the only source of life and hope for fallen man. Holy men of old were saved by faith in the blood of Christ. As they saw the dying agonies of the sacrificial victims, they looked across the gulf of ages to the Lamb of God that was to take away the sin of the world." —The Acts of the Apostles, pp. 424, 425.

"There are many who try to blend these two systems, using the texts that speak of the ceremonial law to prove that the moral law has been abolished; but this is a perversion of the Scriptures. The distinction between the two systems is broad and clear. The ceremonial system was made up of symbols pointing to Christ, to His sacrifice and His priesthood. This ritual law, with its sacrifices and ordinances, was to be performed by the Hebrews until type met antitype in the death of Christ, the Lamb of God that taketh away the sin of the world. Then all the sacrificial offerings were to cease." —Patriarchs and Prophets, p. 365.

5. What had been taught even in the time of the prophets regarding sacrifice and oblation? When Jesus died, what happened in the temple as a sign that the typical services, laws, and ceremonies had ended?

Daniel 9:27, first part And he the Messiah shall confirm the covenant with many for one week: and in the midst of the week he shall cause the sacrifice and the oblation to cease.

MATTHEW 27:50, 51 Jesus, when he had cried again with a loud voice, yielded up the ghost. <sup>51</sup>And, behold, the veil of the temple was rent in twain from the top to the bottom; and the earth did quake, and the rocks rent.

"Then, said the angel, 'He shall confirm the covenant with many for one week [seven years].' For seven years after the Saviour entered on His ministry, the gospel was to be preached especially to the Jews, for three and a half years by Christ Himself, and afterward by the apostles. In the midst of the week He shall cause the sacrifice and the oblation to cease.' Daniel 9:27. In the spring of A.D. 31, Christ, the true Sacrifice, was offered on Calvary. Then the veil of the temple was rent in twain, showing that the sacredness and significance of the sacrificial service had departed. The time had come for the earthly sacrifice and oblation to cease." —*Prophets and Kings*, p. 699.

## 6. What had the temple become in the time of Jesus? What did He say about it?

Matthew 21:12, 13; 23:38; 24:1, 2 And Jesus went into the temple of God, and cast out all them that sold and bought in the temple, and overthrew the tables of the moneychangers, and the seats of them that sold doves, <sup>13</sup>And said unto them, It is written, My house shall be called the house of prayer; but ye have made it a den of thieves.... <sup>23:38</sup>Behold, your house is left unto you desolate.... <sup>24:1</sup>And Jesus went out, and departed from the temple: and his disciples came to him for to show him the buildings of the temple. <sup>2</sup>And Jesus said unto them, See ye not all these things? verily I say unto you, There shall not be left here one stone upon another, that shall not be thrown down.

"The rending of the veil of the temple showed that the Jewish sacrifices and ordinances would no longer be received. The great Sacrifice had been offered and had been accepted, and the Holy Spirit which descended on the day of Pentecost carried the minds of the disciples from the earthly sanctuary to the heavenly, where Jesus had entered by His own blood, to shed upon His disciples the benefits of His atonement. But the Jews were left in total darkness. They lost all the light which they might have had upon the plan of salvation, and still trusted in their useless sacrifices and offerings." –*Early Writings*, pp. 259, 260.

"As Christ's attention was attracted to the magnificence of the temple, what must have been the unuttered thoughts of that Rejected One! The view before Him was indeed beautiful, but He said with sadness, I see it all. The buildings are indeed wonderful. You point to these walls as apparently indestructible; but listen to My words: The day will come when 'there shall not be left one stone upon another, that shall not be thrown down." —*The Desire of Ages*, p. 627.

#### End of the Levitical priesthood

# 7. Did the Levitical priesthood bring about the fullness of blessing and sanctification? Therefore, what had to happen to it?

Hebrews 7:11, 12, 18, 19 If therefore perfection were by the Levitical priesthood, (for under it the people received the law,) what further need was there that another priest should rise after the order of Melchisedec, and not be called after the order of Aaron? <sup>12</sup>For the priesthood being changed, there is made of necessity a change also of the law... <sup>18</sup>For there

is verily a disannulling of the commandment going before for the weakness and unprofitableness thereof. <sup>19</sup>For the law made nothing perfect, but the bringing in of a better hope did; by the which we draw nigh unto God.

"The sacrificial service that had pointed to Christ passed away; but the eyes of men were turned to the true sacrifice for the sins of the world. The earthly priesthood ceased; but we look to Jesus, the minister of the new covenant, and 'to the blood of sprinkling, that speaketh better things than that of Abel.' The way into the holiest of all was not yet made manifest, while as the first tabernacle was yet standing... but Christ being come an high priest of good things to come, by a greater and more perfect tabernacle, not made with hands,... by His own blood He entered in once into the holy place, having obtained eternal redemption for us.' Hebrews 12:24; 9:8-12." – The Desire of Ages, p. 166.

#### COMMANDMENTS MORE LASTING THAN THE EARTH

8. In contrast to the sacrificial laws and ceremonial ordinances that ended when Jesus died on the cross, what did the Lord say about the commandments of the Decalogue?

Matthew 5:17-19 Think not that I am come to destroy the law, or the prophets: I am not come to destroy, but to fulfil. <sup>18</sup>For verily I say unto you, Till heaven and earth pass, one jot or one tittle shall in no wise pass from the law, till all be fulfilled. <sup>19</sup>Whosoever therefore shall break one of these least commandments, and shall teach men so, he shall be called the least in the kingdom of heaven: but whosoever shall do and teach them, the same shall be called great in the kingdom of heaven.

"But concerning the law of Ten Commandments the psalmist declares, 'Forever, O Lord, Thy word is settled in heaven.' Psalm 119:89. And Christ Himself says, 'Think not that I am come to destroy the law.... Verily I say unto you'—making the assertion as emphatic as possible—'Till heaven and earth pass, one jot or one tittle shall in no wise pass from the law, till all be fulfilled.' Matthew 5:17, 18. Here He teaches, not merely what the claims of God's law had been, and were then, but that these claims should hold as long as the heavens and the earth remain. The law of God is as immutable as His throne. It will maintain its claims upon mankind in all ages." —Patriarchs and Prophets, p. 365.

#### FOR ADDITIONAL STUDY

"As they departed from God, the Jews in a great degree lost sight of the teaching of the ritual service. That service had been instituted by Christ Himself. In every part it was a symbol of Him; and it had been full of vitality and spiritual beauty. But the Jews lost the spiritual life from their ceremonies, and clung to the dead forms. They trusted to the sacrifices and ordinances themselves, instead of resting upon Him to whom they pointed. In order to supply the place of that which they had lost, the priests and rabbis multiplied requirements of their own; and the more rigid they grew, the less of the love of God was manifested. They measured their holiness by the multitude of their ceremonies, while their hearts were filled with pride and hypocrisy." —The Desire of Ages, p. 29.

- What is more pleasing to the Lord-offerings and sacrifices, or faith, love, and obedience to His will?
- Why did a certain time come when the Lord no longer accepted the ceremonial sacrifices brought by the people?
- If there is no faith and love in us, will following rules and carrying out even good practices be of more value than the offering of the Old Testament sacrifices?

13

Sabbath, September 26, 2015

#### The Old and New Covenants

"Man gains everything by obeying the covenant-keeping God. God's attributes are imparted to man, enabling him to exercise mercy and compassion. God's covenant assures us of His unchangeable character. Why, then, are those who claim to believe in God changeable, fickle, untrustworthy? Why do they not do service heartily, as under obligation to please and glorify God? It is not enough for us to have a general idea of God's requirements. We must know for ourselves what His requirements and our obligations are. The terms of God's covenant are, "Thou shalt love the Lord thy God with all thy heart, and with all thy soul, and with all thy strength, and with all thy mind; and thy neighbour as thyself.' These are the conditions of life. "This do," Christ said, 'and thou shalt live.' "-Seventh-day Adventist Bible Commentary, vol. 7, p. 932.

#### THE LORD'S COVENANT

## 1. What promises did the Lord make to His people on condition of their obedience?

Exodus 19:5, 6 Now therefore, if ye will obey my voice indeed, and keep my covenant, then ye shall be a peculiar treasure unto me above all people: for all the earth is mine: <sup>19</sup>And ye shall be unto me a kingdom of priests, and an holy nation. These are the words which thou shalt speak unto the children of Israel.

"A covenant is an agreement by which parties bind themselves and each other to the fulfillment of certain conditions. Thus the human agent enters into agreement with God to comply with the conditions specified in His Word. His conduct shows whether or not he respects these conditions." —Seventh-day Adventist Bible Commentary, vol. 7, p. 932.

"God desired to make of His people Israel a praise and a glory.... Their obedience to the law of God would make them marvels of prosperity before the nations of the world. He who could give them wisdom and skill in all cunning work would continue to be their teacher, and would ennoble and elevate them through obedience to His laws. If obedient, they would be preserved from the diseases that afflicted other nations, and would be blessed with vigor of intellect. The glory of God, His majesty and power, were to be revealed in all their prosperity. They were to be a kingdom of priests and princes. God furnished them with every facility for becoming the greatest nation on the earth." —*Christ's Object Lessons*, p. 288.

#### The covenant ratified at Sinai

2. What followed after the promises and God's law were made known? What promise did the people make before the covenant was ratified?

Exopus 24:3-8 And Moses came and told the people all the words of the Lord, and all the judgments: and all the people answered with one voice, and said, All the words which the Lord hath said will we do. <sup>4</sup>And Moses wrote all the words of the Lord, and rose up early in the morning, and builded an altar under the hill, and twelve pillars, according to the twelve tribes of Israel. <sup>5</sup>And he sent young men of the children of Israel, which offered burnt offerings, and sacrificed peace offerings of oxen unto the Lord. <sup>6</sup>And Moses took half of the blood, and put it in basins; and half of the blood he sprinkled on the altar. <sup>7</sup>And he took the book of the covenant, and read in the audience of the people: and they said, All that the Lord hath said will we do, and be obedient. <sup>8</sup>And Moses took the blood, and sprinkled it on the people, and said, Behold the blood of the covenant, which the Lord hath made with you concerning all these words.

"Another compact—called in Scripture the 'old' covenant—was formed between God and Israel at Sinai, and was then ratified by the blood of a sacrifice....

"God brought them to Sinai; He manifested His glory; He gave them His law, with the promise of great blessings on condition of obedience: If ye will obey My voice indeed, and keep My covenant, then ... ye shall be unto Me a kingdom of priests, and an holy nation.' Exodus 19:5, 6. The people did not realize the sinfulness of their own hearts, and that without Christ it was impossible for them to keep God's law; and they readily entered into covenant with God. Feeling that they were able to establish their own righteousness, they declared, 'All that the Lord hath said will we do, and be obedient.' Exodus 24:7." —Patriarchs and Prophets, pp. 371, 372.

#### The covenant dishonored

3. Did the people of Israel keep the promises they made under the covenant? How was it renewed on the border of Canaan?

Exodus 32:1, 4 And when the people saw that Moses delayed to come down out of the mount, the people gathered themselves together unto Aaron, and said unto him, Up, make us gods, which shall go before us; for as for this Moses, the man that brought us up out of the land of Egypt, we

wot not what is become of him.... <sup>4</sup>And he received them at their hand, and fashioned it with a graving tool, after he had made it a molten calf: and they said, These be thy gods, O Israel, which brought thee up out of the land of Egypt.

Deuteronomy 29:5, 9-15 And I have led you forty years in the wilderness: your clothes are not waxen old upon you, and thy shoe is not waxen old upon thy foot.... <sup>9</sup>Keep therefore the words of this covenant, and do them, that ye may prosper in all that ye do. <sup>10</sup>Ye stand this day all of you before the Lord your God; your captains of your tribes, your elders, and your officers, with all the men of Israel, <sup>11</sup>Your little ones, your wives, and thy stranger that is in thy camp, from the hewer of thy wood unto the drawer of thy water: <sup>12</sup>That thou shouldest enter into covenant with the Lord thy God, and into his oath, which the Lord thy God maketh with thee this day: <sup>13</sup>That he may establish thee to day for a people unto himself, and that he may be unto thee a God, as he hath said unto thee, and as he hath sworn unto thy fathers, to Abraham, to Isaac, and to Jacob. <sup>14</sup>Neither with you only do I make this covenant and this oath; <sup>15</sup>But with him that standeth here with us this day before the Lord our God, and also with him that is not here with us this day.

"They had witnessed the proclamation of the law in awful majesty, and had trembled with terror before the mount; and yet only a few weeks passed before they broke their covenant with God, and bowed down to worship a graven image....

"While God was writing down His law, to be committed to His covenant people, the Israelites, denying their loyalty to Jehovah, were demanding gods of gold! When Moses came from the awful presence of the divine glory, with the precepts of the law which they had pledged themselves to obey, he found them, in open defiance of its commands, bowing in adoration before a golden image." —Patriarchs and Prophets, pp. 372, 335.

#### **O**THER VIOLATIONS

4. After those of the adult generation that left Egypt and Joshua passed away, what did the next generation do? What happened to the spirituality and faithfulness of later generations?

Judges 2:11-13 And the children of Israel did evil in the sight of the Lord, and served Baalim: <sup>12</sup>And they forsook the Lord God of their fathers, which brought them out of the land of Egypt, and followed other gods, of the gods of the people that were round about them, and bowed themselves unto them, and provoked the Lord to anger. <sup>13</sup>And they forsook the Lord, and served Baal and Ashtaroth.

"Prophets had wept over the apostasy of Israel and the terrible desolations by which their sins were visited. Jeremiah wished that his eyes were a fountain of tears, that he might weep day and night for the slain of the daughter of his people, for the Lord's flock that was carried away captive. Jeremiah 9:1; 13:17."—The Great Controversy, p. 21.

"During the ages preceding the first advent of Christ the world seemed almost wholly under the sway of the prince of darkness, and he ruled with a terrible power as though through the sin of our first parents the kingdoms of the world had become his by right. Even the covenant people, whom God had chosen to preserve in the world the knowledge of Himself, had so far departed from Him that they had lost all true conception of His character." —*Testimonies for the Church*, vol. 5, p. 738.

#### A NEW COVENANT

# 5. After centuries of weakness and departure from the covenant, what did the Lord present through His grace? What does this covenant consist of?

Jeremiah 31:31-34 Behold, the days come, saith the Lord, that I will make a new covenant with the house of Israel, and with the house of Judah: <sup>32</sup>Not according to the covenant that I made with their fathers in the day that I took them by the hand to bring them out of the land of Egypt; which my covenant they brake, although I was an husband unto them, saith the Lord: <sup>33</sup>But this shall be the covenant that I will make with the house of Israel; After those days, saith the Lord, I will put my law in their inward parts, and write it in their hearts; and will be their God, and they shall be my people. <sup>34</sup>And they shall teach no more every man his neighbour, and every man his brother, saying, Know the Lord: for they shall all know me, from the least of them unto the greatest of them, saith the Lord: for I will forgive their iniquity, and I will remember their sin no more.

"Under the new covenant, the conditions by which eternal life may be gained are the same as under the old–perfect obedience. Under the old covenant, there were many offenses of a daring, presumptuous character, for which there was no atonement specified by law. In the new and better covenant, Christ has fulfilled the law for the transgressors of law, if they receive Him by faith as a personal Saviour. 'As many as received Him, to them gave He power to become the sons of God.' Mercy and forgiveness are the reward of all who come to Christ trusting in His merits to take away their sins. In the better covenant we are cleansed from sin by the blood of Christ....

"The blessings of the new covenant are grounded purely on mercy in forgiving unrighteousness and sins. The Lord specifies, I will do thus and thus unto all who turn to Me, forsaking the evil and choosing the good.... All who humble their hearts, confessing their sins, will find mercy and grace and assurance." —Seventh-day Adventist Bible Commentary, vol. 7. p. 931.

#### RATIFIED BY THE BLOOD OF JESUS

## 6. When the time of the new testament came, who announced it? How and when was it ratified?

MATTHEW 26:27, 28 And he took the cup, and gave thanks, and gave it to them, saying, Drink ye all of it; <sup>28</sup>For this is my blood of the new testament, which is shed for many for the remission of sins.

"In partaking with His disciples of the bread and wine, Christ pledged Himself to them as their Redeemer. He committed to them the new covenant, by which all who receive Him become children of God, and joint heirs with Christ. By this covenant every blessing that heaven could bestow for this life and the life to come was theirs. This covenant deed was to be ratified with the blood of Christ." —*The Desire of Ages*, pp. 656, 659.

"This covenant deed was to be ratified by Christ's own blood, which it had been the office of the old sacrificial offerings to keep before the minds of His chosen people." –(Review and Herald, June 22, 1897) Evangelism, p. 276.

### Comparison of the old and new covenants

# 7. What is said about the new covenant? What do you see as the main differences between the old and the new covenants?

Hebrews 8:6-12 But now hath he obtained a more excellent ministry, by how much also he is the mediator of a better covenant, which was established upon better promises. For if that first covenant had been faultless, then should no place have been sought for the second. For finding fault with them, he saith, Behold, the days come, saith the Lord, when I will make a new covenant with the house of Israel and with the house of Judah: <sup>9</sup>Not according to the covenant that I made with their fathers in the day when I took them by the hand to lead them out of the land of Egypt: because they continued not in my covenant, and I regarded them not, saith the Lord, 10 For this is the covenant that I will make with the house of Israel after those days, saith the Lord; I will put my laws into their mind, and write them in their hearts: and I will be to them a God, and they shall be to me a people: 11 And they shall not teach every man his neighbour, and every man his brother, saying, Know the Lord: for all shall know me, from the least to the greatest. 12For I will be merciful to their unrighteousness, and their sins and their iniquities will I remember no more.

"Christ's death and resurrection completed His covenant. Before this time, it was revealed through types and shadows, which pointed to the great offering to be made by the world's Redeemer, offered in promise for the sins of the world. Anciently believers were saved by the same Saviour as now, but it was a God veiled. They saw God's mercy in figures. The promise given to Adam and Eve in Eden was the gospel to a fallen race. The promise was made that the seed of the woman should bruise the serpent's head, and it should bruise His heel. Christ's sacrifice is the glorious fulfillment of the whole Jewish economy. The Sun of Righteousness has risen. Christ our righteousness is shining in brightness upon us."—Seventh-day Adventist Bible Commentary, vol. 7, p. 932.

### FOR ADDITIONAL STUDY

"The terms of the 'old covenant' were, Obey and live: 'If a man do, he shall even live in them;' but 'cursed be he that confirmeth not all the words

of this law to do them.' Ezekiel 20:11; Leviticus 18:5; Deuteronomy 27:26. The 'new covenant' was established upon 'better promises'—the promise of forgiveness of sins, and of the grace of God to renew the heart, and bring it into harmony with the principles of God's law."—The Faith I Live By, p. 78.

"The Abrahamic covenant was ratified by the blood of Christ, and it is called the 'second,' or 'new,' covenant, because the blood by which it was sealed was shed after the blood of the first covenant. That the new covenant was valid in the days of Abraham is evident from the fact that it was then confirmed both by the promise and by the oath of God—the 'two immutable things, in which it was impossible for God to lie.' Hebrews 6:18." —Patriarchs and Prophets, p. 371.

- What do you feel when you consider that the Lord has always been willing to make a covenant with men?
- What do we learn from the Lord's dealing with His people in the time of the old covenant?
- Knowing that the new covenant was granted by the life of God's dear Son, how much do we value it?

\* \* \*

14

Sabbath, October 3, 2015

Man's Fall

"In looking to ourselves for righteousness, by which to find acceptance with God, we look to the wrong place, 'for all have sinned, and come short of the glory of God.' Romans 3:23. We are to look to Jesus; for 'we all, with open face beholding as in a glass the glory of the Lord, are changed into the same image from glory to glory.' 2 Corinthians 3:18. You are to find your completeness by beholding the Lamb of God, which taketh away the sin of the world." *–Faith and Works*, p. 108.

### From righteousness to unrighteousness

1. What is said about how man was originally created? How did His state change after the fall?

Ecclesiastes 7:29 Lo, this only have I found, that God hath made man upright; but they have sought out many inventions.

Matthew 19:17, first part And he said unto him, Why callest thou me good? there is none good but one, that is, God.

Romans 3:10 As it is written, There is none righteous, no, not one.

"Man was originally endowed with noble powers and a well-balanced mind. He was perfect in his being, and in harmony with God. His thoughts were pure, his aims holy. But through disobedience, his powers were perverted, and selfishness took the place of love. His nature became so weakened through transgression that it was impossible for him, in his own strength, to resist the power of evil. He was made captive by Satan, and would have remained so forever had not God specially interposed." —Steps to Christ, p. 17.

"When man transgressed the divine law, his nature became evil...."

-The Great Controversy, p. 505.

"God declares, 'There is none righteous, no, not one.' Romans 3:10. All have the same sinful nature. All are liable to make mistakes. No one is perfect. The Lord Jesus died for the erring that they might be forgiven. It is not our work to condemn. Christ did not come to condemn, but to save." —In Heavenly Places, p. 292.

### THE GENERAL CONDITION

### 2. How far have sin and death reached? Is anyone an exception to this?

Romans 5:12; 3:11, 12 Wherefore, as by one man sin entered into the world, and death by sin; and so death passed upon all men, for that all have sinned:... <sup>3:11</sup>There is none that understandeth, there is none that seeketh after God. <sup>12</sup>They are all gone out of the way, they are together become unprofitable; there is none that doeth good, no, not one.

"The Word of God declares, 'All have sinned, and come short of the glory of God.' Romans 3:23. 'There is none that doeth good, no, not one.' Romans 3:12. Many are deceived concerning the condition of their hearts. They do not realize that the natural heart is deceitful above all things, and desperately wicked. They wrap themselves about with their own righteousness, and are satisfied in reaching their own human standard of character; but how fatally they fail when they do not reach the divine standard, and of themselves they cannot meet the requirements of God." –Selected Messages, book 1, p. 320.

"Adam could not transmit to his posterity that which he did not possess; and there could have been no hope for the fallen race had not God, by the sacrifice of His Son, brought immortality within their reach. While 'death passed upon all men, for that all have sinned,' Christ 'hath brought life and immortality to light through the gospel.' Romans 5:12; 2 Timothy 1:10. And only through Christ can immortality be obtained." —The Great Controversy, p. 533.

#### Not willing to surrender

# 3. Is man's carnal nature willing to be subdued and surrender to the Lord's will? What have human beings become by following their natural tendencies to sin?

Romans 8:7 Because the carnal mind is enmity against God: for it is not subject to the law of God, neither indeed can be.

Colossians 1:21 And you, that were sometime alienated and enemies in your mind by wicked works, yet now hath he reconciled.

"But the heart that is surrendered to God, loves the truth of God's word; for through the truth the soul is regenerated. The carnal mind finds no pleasure in contemplating the word of God, but he who is renewed in the spirit of his mind, sees new charms in the living oracles; for divine beauty and celestial light seem to shine in every passage. That which was to the carnal mind a desolate wilderness, to the spiritual mind becomes a land of living streams. That which to the unrenewed heart appeared a barren waste, to the converted soul becomes the garden of God, covered with fragrant buds and blooming flowers." –Fundamentals of Christian Education, p. 182.

### Impure thoughts and feelings

### 4. What desires and lusts dominate human flesh? Where does sin start before it matures and becomes active?

Matthew 15:19 For out of the heart proceed evil thoughts, murders, adulteries, fornications, thefts, false witness, blasphemies.

James 1:14, 15 But every man is tempted, when he is drawn away of his own lust, and enticed. <sup>15</sup>Then when lust hath conceived, it bringeth forth sin: and sin, when it is finished, bringeth forth death.

"Our improvement in moral purity depends on right thinking and right acting. 'Not that which goeth into the mouth defileth a man; but that which cometh out of the mouth, this defileth a man.' 'For out of the heart proceed evil thoughts, murders, adulteries, fornications, thefts, false witness, blasphemies. These are the things which defile a man.' Matthew 15:11, 19, 20.

"Evil thoughts destroy the soul. The converting power of God changes the heart, refining and purifying the thoughts. Unless a determined effort is made to keep the thoughts centered on Christ, grace cannot reveal itself in the life. The mind must engage in the spiritual warfare. Every thought must be brought into captivity to the obedience of Christ. All the habits must be brought under God's control." —*Mind, Character, and Personality*, vol. 1, p. 69.

### INABILITY TO DO GOOD

## 5. When one wishes to do good things, what is the result? Can he trust his good intentions?

Romans 7:18, 19 For I know that in me (that is, in my flesh), dwelleth no good thing: for to will is present with me; but how to perform that which is good I find not. For the good that I would I do not: but the evil which I would not, that I do.

"As we see the condition of mankind today, the question arises in the minds of some, Is man by nature totally and wholly depraved? Is he hopelessly ruined?

"Men have sold themselves to the enemy of all righteousness. They cannot redeem themselves. Of themselves they can do no good thing. But there is a way of escape. When man sinned, Christ offered to stand as his substitute and surety, in order to provide a way whereby the guilty

race might return to loyalty. He took humanity, and passed over the ground where Adam stumbled and fell. Without swerving from His allegiance, He met the temptations wherewith man is beset." –*The Signs of the Times*, June 14, 1905.

### Personal responsibility

6. Although children do not inherit the specific sins of their parents, what do they receive from them? Is there any hope of overriding bad inclinations and tendencies?

EZEKIEL 18:20 The soul that sinneth, it shall die. The son shall not bear the iniquity or sins of the fathers, neither shall the father bear the iniquity of the son: the righteousness of the righteous shall be upon him, and the wickedness of the wicked shall be upon him.

**D**EUTERONOMY 24:16 The fathers shall not be put to death for the children, neither shall the children be put to death for the fathers: every man shall be put to death for his own sin.

1 Peter 1:18 Forasmuch as ye know that ye were not redeemed with corruptible things, as silver and gold, from your vain conversation received by tradition from your fathers.

"How can we expect anything else of the children, with their inherited tendencies, while the older ones set them such an example? God pity the poor slave to these indulgences!" –*Christian Temperance and Bible Hygiene*, p. 18.

"As a rule, children inherit the dispositions and tendencies of their parents, and imitate their example; so that the sins of the parents are practiced by the children from generation to generation." —Patriarchs and Prophets, p. 118.

"Children inherit inclinations to wrong, but they also have many lovely traits of character. These should be strengthened and developed, while the tendencies to evil should be carefully guarded against and repressed."—*Mind, Character and Personality*, pp. 144, 145.

### CLEANSED BY CHRIST

7. Although this is our difficult condition, what is possible through the Lord Jesus and the infilling of His Holy Spirit? What may a person become by faith?

1 Corinthians 6:11; 1:30 And such were some of you: but ye are washed, but ye are sanctified, but ye are justified in the name of the Lord Jesus, and by the Spirit of our God.... <sup>1:30</sup>But of him are ye in Christ Jesus, who of God is made unto us wisdom, and righteousness, and sanctification, and redemption.

Romans 6:17 But God be thanked, that ye were the servants of sin, but ye have obeyed from the heart that form of doctrine which was delivered you.

JOHN 1:12 But as many as received him, to them gave he power to become the sons of God, even to them that believe on his name. "We must learn in the school of Christ. Nothing but His righteousness can entitle us to one of the blessings of the covenant of grace. We have long desired and tried to obtain these blessings, but have not received them because we have cherished the idea that we could do something to make ourselves worthy of them. We have not looked away from ourselves, believing that Jesus is a living Saviour. We must not think that our own grace and merits will save us; the grace of Christ is our only hope of salvation. Through His prophet the Lord promises, 'Let the wicked forsake his way, and the unrighteous man his thoughts: and let him return unto the Lord, and he will have mercy upon him; and to our God, for he will abundantly pardon' (Isaiah 55:7). We must believe the naked promise, and not accept feeling for faith. When we trust God fully, when we rely upon the merits of Jesus as a sin-pardoning Saviour, we shall receive all the help that we can desire." —Selected Messages, book 1, p. 351.

### FOR ADDITIONAL STUDY

"The eye of Him who sees the present condition of things has portrayed the state of things existing in the world and the church today. Psalm 14:1-4. And what has brought about this terrible condition? It is the making void of the law of God." —The Signs of the Times, March 20, 1901.

"Those who put their trust in Christ are not to be enslaved by any hereditary or cultivated habit or tendency. Instead of being held in bondage to the lower nature, they are to rule every appetite and passion. God has not left us to battle with evil in our own finite strength. Whatever may be our inherited or cultivated tendencies to wrong, we can overcome through the power that He is ready to impart...." —*Counsels on Health*, p. 440.

15

Sabbath, October 10, 2015

### The Gift of Grace

"Being justified freely by His grace through the redemption that is in Christ Jesus: whom God hath set forth to be a propitiation through faith in His blood, to declare His righteousness for the remission of sins that are past, through the forbearance of God; to declare, I say, at this time His righteousness: that He might be just, and the justifier of him which believeth in Jesus." Romans 3:24-26. "For by grace are ye saved through faith; and that not of yourselves: it is the gift of God." Ephesians 2:8.

### Unable to stand

1. What illustration do the Scriptures give of man's nature? If the Lord were to deal with him according to his ideas and behavior, would a person be able to stand? Psalm 103:14; 130:3 For he knoweth our frame; he remembereth that we are dust.... <sup>130:3</sup>If thou, Lord, shouldest mark iniquities, O Lord, who shall stand?

"Our heavenly Father requires no more nor less than He has given us ability to do. He lays upon His servants no burdens that they are not able to bear. 'He knoweth our frame; He remembereth that we are dust.' Psalm 103:14. All that He claims from us we through divine grace can render." –Christ's Object Lessons, p. 362.

"Now when you can no longer be active, and infirmities press upon you, all that God requires of you is to trust Him. Commit the keeping of your soul to Him as unto a faithful Creator. His mercies are sure, His covenant is everlasting. Happy is the man whose hope is in the Lord his God, who keepeth truth forever. Let your mind grasp the promises and hold to them. If you cannot call to mind readily the rich assurance contained in the precious promises, listen to them from the lips of another. What fullness, what love and assurance are found in these words from the lips of God Himself, proclaiming His love, His pity and interest in the children of His care." —Selected Messages, book 2, p. 231.

### DIVINE TREASURES TO DISCOVER

2. Completely different from man's nature, what is God's character? Because He is so gracious, how does He deal with our shortcomings and with us?

Exodus 34:6, 7 And the Lord passed by before him, and proclaimed, The Lord, The Lord God, merciful and gracious, longsuffering, and abundant in goodness and truth, <sup>7</sup>Keeping mercy for thousands, forgiving iniquity and transgression and sin, and that will by no means clear the guilty; visiting the iniquity of the fathers upon the children, and upon the children's children, unto the third and to the fourth generation.

Psalm 103:10 He hath not dealt with us after our sins; nor rewarded us according to our iniquities.

"It was when Moses was hidden in the cleft of the rock that he beheld the glory of God. It is when we hide in the riven Rock that Christ will cover us with His own pierced hand, and we shall hear what the Lord saith unto His servants. To us as to Moses, God will reveal Himself as 'merciful and gracious, long-suffering, and abundant in goodness and truth, keeping mercy for thousands, forgiving iniquity and transgression and sin.' Exodus 34:6, 7."—*Christ's Object Lessons*, p. 162.

"The Lord is full of compassion for His suffering ones. What sins are too great for His pardon? He is merciful, and as such is infinitely more ready and more pleased to pardon than to condemn. He is gracious, not looking for wrong in us; He knoweth our frame; He remembereth that we are but dust. In His boundless compassion and mercy He heals all our backslidings, loving us freely while we are yet sinners, withdrawing not His light, but shining on us for Christ's sake." —Selected Messages, book 2, p. 231.

### The plan of redemption

3. Because of His love and mercy, what did He establish before the foundation of the world? What appeared in the fullness of time?

Ephesians 1:4 According as he hath chosen us in him before the foundation of the world, that we should be holy and without blame before him in love.

Titus 2:11 For the grace of God that bringeth salvation hath appeared to all men.

Galatians 4:4 But when the fulness of the time was come, God sent forth his Son, made of a woman, made under the law.

"In heaven's council the hour for the coming of Christ had been determined. When the great clock of time pointed to that hour, Jesus was born in Bethlehem.... Providence had directed the movements of nations, and the tide of human impulse and influence, until the world was ripe for the coming of the Deliverer..." —The Desire of Ages, p. 32.

"We ourselves owe everything to God's free grace. Grace in the covenant ordained our adoption. Grace in the Saviour effected our redemption, our regeneration, and our exaltation to heirship with Christ. Let this grace be revealed to others." –*Christ's Object Lessons*, p. 250.

### THE HIGH PRICE PAID BY MERCY

4. What high price was paid to redeem man from his iniquity? How far will the Lord remove every confessed transgression?

Titus 2:14 Who gave himself for us, that he might redeem us from all iniquity, and purify unto himself a peculiar people, zealous of good works.

Psalm 103:12 As far as the east is from the west, so far hath he removed our transgressions from us.

MICAH 7:19 He will turn again, he will have compassion upon us; he will subdue our iniquities; and thou wilt cast all their sins into the depths of the sea.

"In giving His only-begotten Son to die for sinners, God has manifested to fallen man love that is without a parallel." —Selected Messages, book 1, p. 311.

"'Whosesoever sins ye remit, they are remitted.' Let this thought be kept uppermost. In labor for the erring, let every eye be directed to Christ. Let the shepherds have a tender care for the flock of the Lord's pasture. Let them speak to the erring of the forgiving mercy of the Saviour. Let them encourage the sinner to repent, and believe in Him who can pardon. Let them declare, on the authority of God's word, 'If we confess our sins, He is faithful and just to forgive us our sins, and to cleanse us from all unrighteousness.' 1 John 1:9. All who repent have the assurance, 'He will have compassion upon us; He will subdue our

iniquities; and Thou wilt cast all their sins into the depths of the sea.' Micah 7:19."—The Desire of Ages, p. 806.

### GRACE AND JUSTIFICATION

# 5. What other blessing is granted by grace to all who have faith in Jesus? In addition to forgiveness, what does justification encompass?

Romans 3:24; 4:16, first part Being justified freely by his grace through the redemption that is in Christ Jesus:... 4:16Therefore it is of faith, that it might be by grace; to the end the promise might be sure to all the seed;...

"Abundant grace has been provided that the believing soul may be kept free from sin; for all heaven, with its limitless resources, has been placed at our command. We are to draw from the well of salvation. Christ is the end of law for righteousness to everyone who believeth. In ourselves we are sinners; but in Christ we are righteous. Having made us righteous through the imputed righteousness of Christ, God pronounces us just, and treats us as just. He looks upon us as His dear children. Christ works against the power of sin, and where sin abounded, grace much more abounds. "Therefore being justified by faith, we have peace with God through our Lord Jesus Christ: by whom also we have access by faith into this grace wherein we stand, and rejoice in hope of the glory of God.' Romans 5:1, 2." —Selected Messages, book 1, p. 394.

### Grace and salvation

### 6. What will be the final result of the Lord's grace? Therefore, what can the redeemed look forward to?

EPHESIANS 2:8, 7 For by grace are ye saved through faith; and that not of yourselves: it is the gift of God:... <sup>7</sup>That in the ages to come he might show the exceeding riches of his grace in his kindness toward us through Christ Jesus.

Titus 3:7 That being justified by his grace, we should be made heirs according to the hope of eternal life.

"Ample provision has been made for all who sincerely, earnestly, and thoughtfully set about the work of perfecting holiness in the fear of God. Strength and grace have been provided through Christ, to be brought by ministering angels to the heirs of salvation. None are so low, so corrupt and vile, that they cannot find in Jesus, who died for them, strength and purity and righteousness, if they will put away their sins, turn from their course of iniquity, and with full purpose of heart seek the living God. He is waiting to take away their stained garments, polluted by sin, and to put upon them the pure robe of His righteousness, to bid them live and not die. In Him, as branches of the Living Vine, they may flourish. Their boughs will not wither nor be fruitless. If they abide in Him, they can draw nourishment from Him, be imbued with His spirit, walk as He walked, overcome as He overcame, and be exalted to His own right hand."—Christian Temperance and Bible Hygiene, p. 140.

### A GRACIOUS INVITATION

## 7. Having this wonderful certainty, what is everyone invited to do? What is possible through the blood of Christ?

HEBREWS 4:16 Let us therefore come boldly unto the throne of grace, that we may obtain mercy, and find grace to help in time of need.

PSALM 86:5 For thou, Lord, art good, and ready to forgive; and plenteous in mercy unto all them that call upon thee.

EPHESIANS 1:7 In whom we have redemption through his blood, the forgiveness of sins, according to the riches of his grace.

"The conditions of obtaining mercy of God are simple and just and reasonable. The Lord does not require us to do some grievous thing in order that we may have the forgiveness of sin. We need not make long and wearisome pilgrimages or perform painful penances, to commend our souls to the God of heaven or to expiate our transgression; but he that confesseth and forsaketh his sin shall have mercy. This is a precious promise, given to fallen man to encourage him to trust in the God of love and to seek for eternal life in His kingdom." —Testimonies for the Church, vol. 5, p. 635.

"With the trusting faith of a little child, we are to come to our heavenly Father, telling Him of all our needs. He is always ready to pardon and help. The supply of divine wisdom is inexhaustible, and the Lord encourages us to draw largely from it." –Sons and Daughters of God, p. 121.

### FOR ADDITIONAL STUDY

"The redemption of the soul is precious. Christ has paid an infinite price for our salvation, and no one who appreciates the value of this great sacrifice or the worth of the soul will despise God's offered mercy because others choose to do so." –*Patriarchs and Prophets*, p. 162.

"Grace is unmerited favor, and the believer is justified without any merit of his own, without any claim to offer to God. He is justified through the redemption that is in Christ Jesus, who stands in the courts of heaven as the sinner's substitute and surety. But while he is justified because of the merit of Christ, he is not free to work unrighteousness." —Selected Messages, book 1, p. 398.

\* \* \*

### **Christ Our Righteousness**

"When we submit ourselves to Christ, the heart is united with His heart, the will is merged in His will, the mind becomes one with His mind, the thoughts are brought into captivity to Him; we live His life. This is what it means to be clothed with the garment of His righteousness. Then as the Lord looks upon us He sees, not the fig-leaf garment, not the nakedness and deformity of sin, but His own robe of righteousness...." —*Christ's Object Lessons*, p. 311.

### RIGHTEOUSNESS IS GOD'S PREROGATIVE

1. Although many people see themselves as honest and respectful, what completely different picture does God's word present? In whom alone is righteousness found?

Isaiah 64:6 But we are all as an unclean thing, and all our righteousnesses are as filthy rags; and we all do fade as a leaf; and our iniquities, like the wind, have taken us away.

Jeremiah 23:6 In his days Judah shall be saved, and Israel shall dwell safely: and this is his name whereby he shall be called, The Lord Our Righteousness.

"We have a living Saviour. He is not in Joseph's new tomb; He is risen from the dead and has ascended on high as a Substitute and Surety for every believing soul. "Therefore being justified by faith, we have peace with God through our Lord Jesus Christ.' Romans 5:1. The sinner is justified through the merits of Jesus, and this is God's acknowledgment of the perfection of the ransom paid for man. That Christ was obedient even unto the death of the cross is a pledge of the repenting sinner's acceptance with the Father. Then shall we permit ourselves to have a vacillating experience of doubting and believing, believing and doubting? Jesus is the pledge of our acceptance with God. We stand in favor before God, not because of any merit in ourselves, but because of our faith in 'the Lord our righteousness.'" —Faith and Works, p. 107.

### RIGHTEOUSNESS AND THE GOSPEL

2. Where is the righteousness of God especially revealed? How is justification explained by the Spirit of prophecy?

ROMANS 1:16, 17 For I am not ashamed of the gospel of Christ: for it is the power of God unto salvation to every one that believeth; to the Jew first, and also to the Greek. <sup>17</sup>For therein is the righteousness of God revealed from faith to faith: as it is written, The just shall live by faith.

"What is righteousness? It is the satisfaction that Christ gave the divine law in our behalf. He bore the test on every point on which the sinner must bear it. He was tempted in all points as we are tempted,... He did not yield in the least degree to the power of the enemy." –*Review and Herald*. August 21, 1894.

"The grace of Christ is freely to justify the sinner without merit or claim on his part. Justification is a full, complete pardon of sin. The moment a sinner accepts Christ by faith, that moment he is pardoned. The righteousness of Christ is imputed to him, and he is no more to doubt God's forgiving grace." —The Faith I Live By, p. 107.

### By GRACE ALONE

3. How may one obtain righteousness-by works or by grace? Is there anyone who can be justified by his own merits and deeds?

ROMANS 3:20, 28 Therefore by the deeds of the law there shall no flesh be justified in his sight: for by the law is the knowledge of sin.... <sup>28</sup>Therefore we conclude that a man is justified by faith without the deeds of the law.

"Justification is wholly of grace and not procured by any works that fallen man can do. The matter has been presented before me in clear lines that if the rich man has money and possessions, and he makes an offering of the same to the Lord, false ideas come in to spoil the offering by the thought he has merited the favor of God, that the Lord is under obligation to him to regard him with special favor because of this gift....

"Justification is the opposite of condemnation. God's boundless mercy is exercised toward those who are wholly undeserving. He forgives transgressions and sins for the sake of Jesus, who has become the propitiation for our sins. Through faith in Christ, the guilty transgressor is brought into favor with God and into the strong hope of life eternal." –*Faith and Works*, pp. 20, 104.

### Faith is required

4. As with Abraham, what is necessary for one to be justified? Is it possible to please God and receive the imputation of His righteousness without believing Him?

Galatians 3:6 Even as Abraham believed God, and it was accounted to him for righteousness.

HEBREWS 11:6 But without faith it is impossible to please him: for he that cometh to God must believe that he is, and that he is a rewarder of them that diligently seek him.

Luke 17:5 And the apostles said unto the Lord, Increase our faith.

"As the penitent sinner, contrite before God, discerns Christ's atonement in his behalf and accepts this atonement as his only hope in this life and the future life, his sins are pardoned. This is justification by faith. Every believing soul is to conform his will entirely to God's will and keep in a state of repentance and contrition, exercising faith in

the atoning merits of the Redeemer and advancing from strength to strength, from glory to glory.

"Pardon and justification are one and the same thing. Through faith, the believer passes from the position of a rebel, a child of sin and Satan, to the position of a loyal subject of Christ Jesus, not because of an inherent goodness, but because Christ receives him as His child by adoption." –*Faith and Works*, p. 103.

### RESULTS OF THE JUSTIFICATION

### 5. When a person is declared just, or justified, what happens to the condemnation that he deserves?

Romans 8:1, 34 There is therefore now no condemnation to them which are in Christ Jesus, who walk not after the flesh, but after the Spirit.... <sup>34</sup>Who is he that condemneth? It is Christ that died, yea rather, that is risen again, who is even at the right hand of God, who also maketh intercession for us.

"Having made us righteous through the imputed righteousness of Christ, God pronounces us just, and treats us as just. He looks upon us as His dear children. Christ works against the power of sin, and where sin abounded, grace much more abounds." –*The Faith I Live By*, p. 112.

"The sinner receives the forgiveness of his sins, because these sins are borne by his Substitute and Surety. The Lord speaks to His heavenly Father, saying: "This is My child, I reprieve him from the condemnation of death, giving him My life insurance policy—eternal life—because I have taken his place and have suffered for his sins. He is even My beloved son.' Thus man, pardoned, and clothed with the beautiful garments of Christ's righteousness, stands faultless before God." —Faith and Works, p. 103.

## 6. In what relationship will one stay with God if he is justified? What effect will righteousness have?

Romans 5:1 Therefore being justified by faith, we have peace with God through our Lord Jesus Christ.

Isaiah 32:17 And the work of righteousness shall be peace; and the effect of righteousness quietness and assurance for ever.

"Christ is 'the Prince of Peace' (Isaiah 9:6), and it is His mission to restore to earth and heaven the peace that sin has broken. 'Being justified by faith, we have peace with God through our Lord Jesus Christ.' Romans 5:1. Whoever consents to renounce sin and open his heart to the love of Christ, becomes a partaker of this heavenly peace." —Thoughts from the Mount of Blessing, p. 27.

"Justification by faith in Christ will be made manifest in transformation of character. This is the sign to the world of the truth of the doctrines we profess. The daily evidence that we are a living church is seen in the fact that we are practicing the Word. A living testimony goes forth to the world in consistent Christian action. –Seventh-day Adventist Bible Commentary, vol. 6, p. 1071.

# 7. What guarantee is given to those who have been justified by faith in Jesus? What will the Lord do for those He has justified?

ROMANS 8:33, 30, MIDDLE AND LAST PARTS Who shall lay any thing to the charge of God's elect? It is God that justifieth.... <sup>30</sup>Whom he called, them he also justified: and whom he justified, them he also glorified.

"Jesus does not desire those who have been purchased at such a cost to become the sport of the enemy's temptations. He does not desire us to be overcome and perish. He who curbed the lions in their den, and walked with His faithful witnesses amid the fiery flames, is just as ready to work in our behalf to subdue every evil in our nature. Today He is standing at the altar of mercy, presenting before God the prayers of those who desire His help. He turns no weeping, contrite one away. Freely will He pardon all who come to Him for forgiveness and restoration. He does not tell to any all that He might reveal, but He bids every trembling soul take courage. Whosoever will, may take hold of God's strength, and make peace with Him, and He will make peace." – The Ministry of Healing, p. 90.

### FOR ADDITIONAL STUDY

"Not by painful struggles or wearisome toil, not by gift or sacrifice, is righteousness obtained; but it is freely given to every soul who hungers and thirsts to receive it. 'Ho, every one that thirsteth, come ye to the waters, and he that hath no money; come ye, buy, and eat;... without money and without price.' Isaiah 55:1. 'Their righteousness is of me, saith the Lord,' and, 'This is His name whereby He shall be called, The Lord our righteousness.' Isaiah 54:17; Jeremiah 23:6." –*The Faith I Live By*, p. 109.

"Our faith must reach within the veil, where Jesus has entered for us. We must lay hold with firmer grasp on the unfailing promises of God. We must have faith that will not be denied, faith that will take hold of the unseen, faith that is steadfast, immovable. Such faith will bring the blessing of heaven to our souls." —My Life Today, p. 8.

"Justification is the reward of faith in the righteousness of Christ. His imputed righteousness brings everyone who accepts Him as a personal Saviour into conformity to the will of God. His righteousness goes before them. He leads the way, bidding us follow Him. He who follows Christ must live in obedience to the law of God. Sin and holiness cannot unite." –*Manuscript Releases*, vol. 18, p. 96.

"The souls that turn to Him for refuge, Jesus lifts above the accusing and the strife of tongues. No man or evil angel can impeach these souls. Christ unites them to His own divine-human nature. They stand besides the great Sin Bearer in the light proceeding from the throne of God." –*The Ministry of Healing*, p. 90.

\* \* \*

### **Need of Repentance**

"The True Witness says, 'Behold, I stand at the door, and knock.' Revelation 3:20. Every warning, reproof, and entreaty in the word of God or through His messengers is a knock at the door of the heart. It is the voice of Jesus asking for entrance. With every knock unheeded, the disposition to open becomes weaker. The impressions of the Holy Spirit if disregarded today, will not be as strong tomorrow. The heart becomes less impressible, and lapses into a perilous unconsciousness of the shortness of life, and of the great eternity beyond," —The Desire of Ages, pp. 489, 490.

### IMPENITENCE AND ITS CONSEQUENCES

1. What may people who continue to cherish hardness of heart and an impenitent spirit expect? Why is the Lord so patient and kind in spite man's sinfulness?

Romans 2:5-8, 4 But after thy hardness and impenitent heart treasurest up unto thyself wrath against the day of wrath and revelation of the righteous judgment of God; "Who will render to every man according to his deeds: "To them who by patient continuance in well doing seek for glory and honour and immortality, eternal life: "But unto them that are contentious, and do not obey the truth, but obey unrighteousness, indignation and wrath.... "Or despisest thou the riches of his goodness and forbearance and longsuffering; not knowing that the goodness of God leadeth thee to repentance?

"The longer the youth remain in impenitence, the more confirmed they become in their resistance of the Spirit of God. With increase of years it is probable that there will be a decrease of sensibility to divine things, a diminished susceptibility to the influences of religion. Every day Satan works to fasten them in their habits of disobedience, their spirit of impenitence, and there is less probability that they will become Christians." –Counsels on Sabbath School Work, p. 80.

"Today sin is the same malignant thing that it was in the time of Adam. The gospel does not promise the favor of God to anyone who in impenitence breaks His law. The depravity of the human heart, the guilt of transgression, the ruin of sin, are all made plain by the cross where Christ has made for us a way of escape." —Faith and Works, p. 96.

### CALLING FOR REPENTANCE

2. What was Jesus' mission as He went from place to place? What is He calling for today?

MARK 2:17 When Jesus heard it, he saith unto them, They that are whole have no need of the physician, but they that are sick: I came not to call the righteous, but sinners to repentance.

Acts 17:30, 31 And the times of this ignorance God winked at; but now commandeth all men every where to repent: <sup>31</sup>Because he hath appointed a day, in the which he will judge the world in righteousness by that man whom he hath ordained; whereof he hath given assurance unto all men, in that he hath raised him from the dead.

"Not one will be forced against his will to come to Jesus Christ. The Majesty of heaven, the only-begotten Son of the true and living God, opened the way for you to come to Him, by giving His life as a sacrifice on Calvary's cross. But while He suffered all this for you, He is too pure, He is too just, to behold iniquity. But even this need not keep you away from Him; for He says, 'I came not to call the righteous, but sinners to repentance.' Let perishing souls come to Him just as they are, without one plea, and plead the atoning blood of Christ, and they will find acceptance with God, who dwelleth in glory between the cherubim above the mercy seat. The blood of Jesus is a never-failing passport, by which all your petitions may find access to the throne of God." —Fundamentals of Christian Education, pp. 251, 252.

#### OF DIVINE ORIGIN

### 3. Is repentance a human or a divine action? Therefore, what should one do without delay?

John 16:7, 8 Nevertheless I tell you the truth; It is expedient for you that I go away: for if I go not away, the Comforter will not come unto you; but if I depart, I will send him unto you. §And when he is come, he will reprove the world of sin, and of righteousness, and of judgment.

Acts 5:30, 31 The God of our fathers raised up Jesus, whom ye slew and hanged on a tree. <sup>31</sup>Him hath God exalted with his right hand to be a Prince and a Saviour, for to give repentance to Israel, and forgiveness of sins.

Hebrews 3:7, 8 Wherefore (as the Holy Ghost saith, To day if ye will hear his voice, <sup>8</sup>Harden not your hearts, as in the provocation, in the day of temptation in the wilderness).

"The office of the Holy Spirit is distinctly specified in the words of Christ: When He is come, He will reprove the world of sin, and of righteousness, and of judgment.' John 16:8. It is the Holy Spirit that convicts of sin. If the sinner responds to the quickening influence of the Spirit, he will be brought to repentance and aroused to the importance of obeying the divine requirements.

"To the repentant sinner, hungering and thirsting for righteousness, the Holy Spirit reveals the Lamb of God that taketh away the sin of the world." –*The Acts of the Apostles*, p. 52.

### DO NOT WAIT FOR A BETTER OPPORTUNITY

4. Should one wait to open the heart's door until he repents, or should he respond as soon as he hears Jesus' call?

REVELATION 3:20 Behold, I stand at the door, and knock: if any man hear my voice, and open the door, I will come in to him, and will sup with him, and he with me.

John 6:37 All that the Father giveth me shall come to me; and him that cometh to me I will in no wise cast out.

"The Bible does not teach that the sinner must repent before he can heed the invitation of Christ, 'Come unto Me, all ye that labor and are heavy-laden, and I will give you rest.' Matthew 11:28. It is the virtue that goes forth from Christ, that leads to genuine repentance. Peter made the matter clear in his statement to the Israelites when he said, 'Him hath God exalted with His right hand to be a Prince and a Saviour, for to give repentance to Israel, and forgiveness of sins.' Acts 5:31. We can no more repent without the Spirit of Christ to awaken the conscience than we can be pardoned without Christ." –Steps to Christ, p. 26.

#### True repentance is characterized by sorrow

### 5. What does repentance from sin produce under the inspiration of the Holy Spirit? How does Jesus consider those who mourn for their sins?

2 Corinthians 7:10 For godly sorrow worketh repentance to salvation not to be repented of: but the sorrow of the world worketh death.

Matthew 5:4 Blessed are they that mourn: for they shall be comforted.

PSALM 32:1-5 Blessed is he whose transgression is forgiven, whose sin is covered. <sup>2</sup>Blessed is the man unto whom the Lord imputeth not iniquity, and in whose spirit there is no guile. <sup>3</sup>When I kept silence, my bones waxed old through my roaring all the day long. <sup>4</sup>For day and night thy hand was heavy upon me: my moisture is turned into the drought of summer. Selah. <sup>5</sup>I acknowledged my sin unto thee, and mine iniquity have I not hid. I said, I will confess my transgressions unto the Lord; and thou forgavest the iniquity of my sin. Selah.

"The mourning here brought to view is true heart sorrow for sin... Such mourning 'shall be comforted.' God reveals to us our guilt that we may flee to Christ, and through Him be set free from the bondage of sin, and rejoice in the liberty of the sons of God. In true contrition we may come to the foot of the cross, and there leave our burdens." —Thoughts from the Mount of Blessing, pp. 9, 10.

"Everyone who has presumed upon the mercy of God, and practiced iniquity, will be judged according to his works. God has warned you to depart from all iniquity. He has commanded you individually to resist the devil, not to entertain him as an honored guest. The time has come when Jerusalem is being searched as with lighted candles. God is at work investigating character, weighing moral worth, and pronouncing decisions on individual cases. It may not be too late for those who have sinned to be zealous and repent; for godly sorrow worketh repentance to salvation not to be repented of: but the sorrow of the world worketh death." —*Testimonies to Ministers and Gospel Workers*, p. 448.

## 6. What are people who hear and follow the divine voice ready to do?

Acts 2:37, 38; 9:4-6 Now when they heard this, they were pricked in their heart, and said unto Peter and to the rest of the apostles, Men and brethren, what shall we do? <sup>38</sup>Then Peter said unto them, Repent, and be baptized every one of you in the name of Jesus Christ for the remission of sins, and ye shall receive the gift of the Holy Ghost.... <sup>9:4</sup>And he fell to the earth, and heard a voice saying unto him, Saul, Saul, why persecutest thou me? <sup>5</sup>And he said, Who art thou, Lord? And the Lord said, I am Jesus whom thou persecutest: it is hard for thee to kick against the pricks. <sup>6</sup>And he trembling and astonished said, Lord, what wilt thou have me to do? And the Lord said unto him, Arise, and go into the city, and it shall be told thee what thou must do.

"We are wounded, polluted with sin. What shall we do to be healed from its leprosy?... In the wilderness, when the Lord permitted poisonous serpents to sting the rebellious Israelites, Moses was directed to lift up a brazen serpent and bid all the wounded look to it and live." —*That I May Know Him.*, p. 112.

"Will you do that? Will you wrestle with God at this meeting until you know that He reveals Himself to you? There are sins that afflict your souls; your sins grieve you. Will you say, 'Now, Lord, I must have pardon written opposite my name,' and wrestle and plead with God, laying hold upon the righteousness of Christ. 'He must save; I believe in Him; I take Him at His word.' Now, brethren, what shall we do?" —Faith and Works, p. 75.

### REPENTANCE AND CHANGE

## 7. When one's repentance is genuine, what great change will take place in the way he thinks and acts?

Luke 15:17-19 And when he came to himself, he said, How many hired servants of my father's have bread enough and to spare, and I perish with hunger! <sup>18</sup>I will arise and go to my father, and will say unto him, Father, I have sinned against heaven, and before thee, <sup>19</sup>And am no more worthy to be called thy son: make me as one of thy hired servants.

"All who became the subjects of Christ's kingdom, he said, would give evidence of faith and repentance. Kindness, honesty, and fidelity would be seen in their lives. They would minister to the needy, and bring their offerings to God. They would shield the defenseless, and give an example of virtue and compassion. So the followers of Christ will give evidence of the transforming power of the Holy Spirit. In the daily life, justice, mercy, and the love of God will be seen. Otherwise they are like the chaff that is given to the fire." —The Desire of Ages, p. 107.

### Sincere conversion

8. When he was touched by God, what did one man decide to do and openly admit? What did the Lord say about him?

Luke 19:5, 6, 8, 9 And when Jesus came to the place, he looked up, and saw him, and said unto him, Zacchaeus, make haste, and come down; for to day I must abide at thy house. <sup>6</sup>And he made haste, and came down, and received him joyfully.... <sup>8</sup>And Zacchaeus stood, and said unto the Lord; Behold, Lord, the half of my goods I give to the poor; and if I have taken any thing from any man by false accusation, I restore him fourfold. <sup>9</sup>And Jesus said unto him, This day is salvation come to this house, for somuch as he also is a son of Abraham.

"He felt that he was a sinner in the sight of God.... Repentance, reformation of life, was possible, even to him....

"In the presence of the multitude, 'Zacchaeus stood, and said unto the Lord: Behold, Lord, the half of my goods I give to the poor; and if I have taken anything from any man by false accusation, I restore him fourfold.'

"And Jesus said unto him, "This day is salvation come to this house.""

-The Desire of Ages. pp. 552, 555.

"There are those who have had very meager opportunities, who have walked in ways of error because they knew no better way, to whom beams of light will come. As the word of Christ came to Zacchaeus, Today I must abide at thy house, so the word will come to them; and those who were supposed to be hardened sinners will be found to have hearts as tender as a child's because Christ has deigned to notice them. Many will come from the grossest error and sin, and will take the place of others who have had opportunities and privileges but have not prized them. They will be accounted the chosen of God, elect, precious; and when Christ shall come into His kingdom, they will stand next His throne." —*Christ's Object Lessons*, p. 236.

### FOR ADDITIONAL STUDY

"If you see your sinfulness, do not wait to make yourself better. How many there are who think they are not good enough to come to Christ. Do you expect to become better through your own efforts? 'Can the Ethiopian change his skin, or the leopard his spots? then may ye also do good, that are accustomed to do evil.' Jeremiah 13:23. There is help for us only in God. We must not wait for stronger persuasions, for better opportunities, or for holier tempers. We can do nothing of ourselves. We must come to Christ just as we are." –Steps to Christ, p. 31.

\* \* \*

### Read the Missionary Report from the International Health Organization on page 97

18

Sabbath, October 31, 2015

### Confession of Sin

"The Lord does not require us to do some grievous thing in order that we may have the forgiveness of sin. We need not make long and wearisome pilgrimages, or perform painful penances, to commend our souls to the God of heaven or to expiate our transgression; but he that confesseth and forsaketh his sin shall have mercy." –*Steps to Christ*, p. 37.

### A UNIVERSAL PROBLEM

1. Can someone think that he is free of sin? If he does, what is the truth of the matter, and what is he saying about God?

Romans 3:23 For all have sinned, and come short of the glory of God;

1 John 1:8, 10 If we say that we have no sin, we deceive ourselves, and the truth is not in us.... <sup>10</sup>If we say that we have not sinned, we make him a liar, and his word is not in us.

"I was shown that those who triumphantly claim to be sinless, show by their very boasting that they are far from being without taint of sin. The more clearly fallen man comprehends the character of Christ, the more distrustful will he be of himself, and the more imperfect will his works appear to him, in contrast with those which marked the life of the spotless Redeemer. But those who are far from Jesus, those whose spiritual perceptions are so clouded by error that they cannot comprehend the character of the great Exemplar, conceive of Him as altogether such a one as themselves, and dare to talk of their own perfection of holiness. But they are far from God; they know little of themselves, and less of Christ." –Life Sketches of Ellen G. White, p. 84.

### HIDING IS NO SOLUTION

2. Can we hide our sin from the Lord? What will happen if we try to cover it?

Numbers 32:23 But if ye will not do so, behold, ye have sinned against the Lord: and be sure your sin will find you out.

PSALM 32:3-5 When I kept silence, my bones waxed old through my roaring all the day long. <sup>4</sup>For day and night thy hand was heavy upon me: my moisture is turned into the drought of summer. Selah. <sup>5</sup>I acknowledged

my sin unto thee, and mine iniquity have I not hid. I said, I will confess my transgressions unto the Lord; and thou forgavest the iniquity of my sin.

"Never seek to cover sin...." -Selected Messages, book 1, p. 380.

"Even before the divine sentence was pronounced against David he had begun to reap the fruit of transgression. His conscience was not at rest. The agony of spirit which he then endured is brought to view in the thirty-second psalm.... The king of Israel recounted his sin, his repentance, and his hope of pardon through the mercy of God. Instead of endeavoring to conceal his guilt he desired that others might be instructed by the sad history of his fall." —*Patriarchs and Prophets*, p. 725.

### AN INVITATION TO ALL

3. What is the Lord inviting everyone to do? Even if one's sins are many and his spiritual garments are completely filthy, what assurance does Jesus give him?

Jeremiah 3:13, first part Only acknowledge thine iniquity, that thou hast transgressed against the Lord thy God....

1 John 1:9 If we confess our sins, he is faithful and just to forgive us our sins, and to cleanse us from all unrighteousness.

Isaiah 1:18 Come now, and let us reason together, saith the Lord: though your sins be as scarlet, they shall be as white as snow; though they be red like crimson, they shall be as wool.

"Jesus was tempted in all points like as we are, that He might know how to succor those who should be tempted. His life is our example. He shows by His willing obedience that man may keep the law of God and that transgression of the law, not obedience to it, brings him into bondage. The Saviour was full of compassion and love; He never spurned the truly penitent, however great their guilt; but He severely denounced hypocrisy of every sort. He is acquainted with the sins of men, He knows all their acts and reads their secret motives; yet He does not turn away from them in their iniquity. He pleads and reasons with the sinner, and in one sense—that of having Himself borne the weakness of humanity—He puts Himself on a level with him. 'Come now, and let us reason together, saith the Lord: though your sins be as scarlet, they shall be as white as snow; though they be red like crimson, they shall be as wool.'"—Testimonies for the Church, vol. 4, p. 294.

4. What attitude are we invited to have in our relationship with our brethren? How quickly should we confess our mistakes as well as forgive those of others?

James 5:16 Confess your faults one to another, and pray one for another, that ye may be healed. The effectual fervent prayer of a righteous man availeth much.

HEBREWS 3:13 But exhort one another daily, while it is called To day; lest any of you be hardened through the deceitfulness of sin.

Ephesians 4:32 And be ye kind one to another, tenderhearted, forgiving one another, even as God for Christ's sake hath forgiven you.

"Confess your sins to God, who only can forgive them, and your faults to one another. If you have given offense to your friend or neighbor, you are to acknowledge your wrong, and it is his duty freely to forgive you. Then you are to seek the forgiveness of God, because the brother you have wounded is the property of God, and in injuring him you sinned against his Creator and Redeemer. The case is brought before the only true Mediator, our great High Priest, who 'was in all points tempted like as we are, yet without sin,' and who is 'touched with the feeling of our infirmities,' and is able to cleanse from every stain of iniquity. Hebrews 4:15." –Steps to Christ, p. 37.

#### Consider good examples

5. Who is ready to hear our confession if we fall into sin? What is one of the well-known confessions brought about by the Holy Spirit?

1 John 2:1 My little children, these things write I unto you, that ye sin not. And if any man sin, we have an advocate with the Father, Jesus Christ the righteous.

Luke 15:18, 21 I will arise and go to my father, and will say unto him, Father, I have sinned against heaven, and before thee,... <sup>21</sup>And the son said unto him, Father, I have sinned against heaven, and in thy sight, and am no more worthy to be called thy son.

"It is not enough that the sinner believe in Christ for the pardon of sin; he must, by faith and obedience, abide in Him. 'For if we sin willfully after that we have received the knowledge of the truth, there remaineth no more sacrifice for sins, but a certain fearful looking for of judgment and fiery indignation, which shall devour the adversaries.' Hebrews 10:26, 27." –*Patriarchs and Prophets*, p. 517.

"God's appointments and grants in our behalf are without limit. The throne of grace is itself the highest attraction, because occupied by One who permits us to call Him Father. But Jehovah did not deem the plan of salvation complete while invested only with His love. He has placed at His altar an Advocate clothed in His nature. As our intercessor, Christ's office work is to introduce us to God as His sons and daughters. He intercedes in behalf of those who receive Him. With His own blood He has paid their ransom. By virtue of His own merits He gives them power to become members of the royal family, children of the heavenly King. And the Father demonstrates His infinite love for Christ by receiving and welcoming Christ's friends as His friends. He is satisfied with the atonement made. He is glorified by the incarnation, the life, death, and mediation, of His Son." –Counsels to Parents, Teachers and Students, p. 14.

6. What is part of true confession when damage has been inflicted or someone has been hurt? What example do we have in the Bible of heartfelt repentance, confession, and restitution?

Exodus 22:1 If a man shall steal an ox, or a sheep, and kill it, or sell it; he shall restore five oxen for an ox, and four sheep for a sheep.

Numbers 5:6, 7 Speak unto the children of Israel, When a man or woman shall commit any sin that men commit, to do a trespass against the Lord, and that person be guilty; <sup>7</sup>Then they shall confess their sin which they have done: and he shall recompense his trespass with the principal thereof, and add unto it the fifth part thereof, and give it unto him against whom he hath trespassed.

Luke 19:8, 9 And Zacchaeus stood, and said unto the Lord; Behold, Lord, the half of my goods I give to the poor; and if I have taken any thing from any man by false accusation, I restore him fourfold. <sup>9</sup>And Jesus said unto him, This day is salvation come to this house, forsomuch as he also is a son of Abraham.

"Zacchaeus declared: 'If I have taken anything from any man by false accusation, I restore him fourfold.' You could at least have made efforts to correct your acts of injustice to your fellow men. You cannot make every case right, for some whom you have injured have gone into their graves, and the account stands registered against you. In these cases the best you can do is to bring a trespass offering to the altar of the Lord, and He will accept and pardon you. But where you can, you should make reparation to the wronged ones." —Testimonies for the Church, vol. 5, p. 339.

#### Sincere confession is rewarded

## 7. What happens when one sincerely confesses his sins? What spiritual blessing will follow?

PSALM 32:1, 2 Blessed is he whose transgression is forgiven, whose sin is covered. <sup>2</sup>Blessed is the man unto whom the Lord imputeth not iniquity, and in whose spirit there is no guile.

Proverbs 28:13 He that covereth his sins shall not prosper: but whose confesseth and forsaketh them shall have mercy.

"David was pardoned of his transgression because he humbled his heart before God in repentance and contrition of soul, and believed that God's promise to forgive would be fulfilled. He confessed his sin, repented, and was reconverted. In the rapture of the assurance of forgiveness, he exclaimed, 'Blessed is he whose transgression is forgiven, whose sin is covered. Blessed is the man unto whom the Lord imputeth not iniquity, and in whose spirit there is no guile.' The blessing comes because of pardon; pardon comes through faith that the sin, confessed and repented of, is borne by the great Sin-bearer. Thus from Christ cometh all our blessings. His death is an atoning sacrifice for our sins. He is the great Medium through whom we receive the mercy and favor of God. He, then, is indeed the Originator, the Author, as well as the Finisher, of our faith." —Seventh-day Adventist Bible Commentary, vol. 3, p. 1146.

### FOR ADDITIONAL STUDY

"Adam and Eve ... supplied the place of this heavenly garment by sewing together fig-leaves for aprons.

"This is the covering that the transgressors of the law of God have used since the days of Adam and Eve's disobedience. They have sewed together fig-leaves to cover their nakedness, caused by transgression.... When the Lord calls the attention of men and women to the truth, the making of fig-leaves into aprons will be begun, to hide the nakedness of the soul. But the nakedness of the sinner is not covered. All the arguments pieced together by all who have interested themselves in this flimsy work will come to naught." —Seventh-day Adventist Bible Commentary, vol. 1, p. 1084.

\* \* \*

# MISSIONARY REPORT FROM THE INTERNATIONAL HEALTH ORGANIZATION

### To be read on Sabbath, October 31, 2015

## The Special Sabbath School Offering will be gathered on Sabbath, November 7, 2015

Dear brothers and sisters around the world, May the peace and love of God be upon you in abundance. Greetings with Psalm 67:2, 3: "That Thy way may be known upon earth, Thy saving health among all nations. Let the people praise Thee, O God; let all the people praise Thee."

"Medical missionary work is the right hand of the gospel. It is necessary to the advancement of the cause of God. As through it men and women are led to see the importance of right habits of living, the saving power of the truth will be made known. Every city is to be entered by workers trained to do medical missionary work. As the right hand of the third angel's message, God's methods of treating disease will open doors for the entrance of present truth." —*Testimonies for the Church*, vol. 7, p. 59.

On December 31, 1989, at the General Conference session in Florida, U.S.A., by God's grace the proposal of the General Conference Health Department to adopt the name International Health Organization as its official name was accepted by the delegates. This is a non-profit department under the General Conference.

It is important to note that especially in Islamic and Communist countries which prohibit the exercise of freedom of religion, the name International Health Organization (IHO) can be used instead of International Missionary Society, Seventh-day Adventist Church, Reform Movement, for the registration of the church. This has been done in Yemen, Iraq, and China, to name a few where the registration of IMSSDACRM is prohibited. The Reformation message needs to spread around the world, and God has given us this means to hasten His coming. "It is the privilege of every Christian not only to look for but to hasten the coming of our Lord Jesus Christ." –*Christ's Object Lessons*, p. 69.

Furthermore, the medical missionary plays an important role in this. "I can see in the Lord's providences that the medical missionary work is to be a great entering wedge, whereby the diseased soul may be reached." –*Counsels on Health*, p. 535.

And to deal with prejudice, the testimonies say: "As a means of overcoming prejudice and gaining access to minds, medical missionary work must be done, not in one or two places only, but in many places where the truth has not yet been proclaimed. We are to work as gospel medical missionaries, to heal the sin-sick souls by giving them the message of salvation. This work will break down prejudice as nothing else can." —*Testimonies for the Church*, vol. 9, p. 211.

This work is from God. "True medical missionary work is of heavenly origin. It was not originated by any person who lives...." We need to reveal Christ now. "How shall we reveal Christ? I know of no better way ... than to take hold of the medical missionary work in connection with the ministry." —*Medical Ministry*, pp. 24, 319.

The International Health Organization's primary objectives are to.

- Assist in establishing health clinics in viable Unions and Fields
- Organize health symposia and health fairs in Divisions, Unions, and Fields
- Train young people in medical missionary service and motivate them to cooperate in God's work
- Promote health reform through our website (IHO21.org)
- Pursue the possibility of founding a licensed technical college to prepare both members and non-members for health careers
- Conduct health seminars in Unions and Fields and form health teams to serve the people and gather souls for Jesus
- Provide free basic medical and dental services wherever the organization (IHO) is required by a government to do so for the issuance of a registration permit

"Medical missionary work brings to humanity the gospel of release from suffering. It is the pioneer work of the gospel. It is the gospel practiced, the compassion of Christ revealed. Of this work there is great need, and the world is open for it. God grant that the importance of medical missionary work shall be understood, and that new fields may be immediately entered." —Medical Ministry, p. 239

To implement these objectives, seminars will be conducted, projects will be planned, and activities will be coordinated with the General Conference, Divisions, Unions, and Fields. "Soon there will be no work done in ministerial lines but medical missionary work." – Evangelism, p. 523. Therefore, let us encourage this vital work.

For the Special Sabbath School Offering to be gathered this coming Sabbath, we appeal to every generous heart to help make these goals reality so Heaven's influence can reach especially diseased souls as a great entering wedge while time permits. The apostle Paul wrote, "He which soweth bountifully shall reap also bountifully," and "God loveth a cheerful giver." 2 Corinthians 9:6, 7. Your

generous offerings will be highly valued. May the grace of God and the abundance of His blessings be poured upon you as you respond to this earnest appeal.

Your fellow servant in Jesus,

Dr. Roland N. De La Paz General Conference Health/Medical Department Leader

### Special Sabbath School Offering for the INTERNATIONAL HEALTH ORGANIZATION

Let your gifts be given with abundance and joy!

19

Sabbath, November 7, 2015

### Birth by the Spirit

"The fountain of the heart must be purified before the streams can become pure. He who is trying to reach heaven by his own works in keeping the law is attempting an impossibility. There is no safety for one who has merely a legal religion, a form of godliness. The Christian's life is not a modification or improvement of the old, but a transformation of nature. There is a death to self and sin, and a new life altogether. This change can be brought about only by the effectual working of the Holy Spirit." —The Desire of Ages, p. 172.

### A NECESSITY

1. Does being born into a respected family and having a good position in society guarantee one's entrance into God's kingdom? What is absolutely necessary to be able to enter that holy, wonderful place?

John 3:3 Jesus answered and said unto him, Verily, verily, I say unto thee, Except a man be born again, he cannot see the kingdom of God.

Matthew 18:3 And said, Verily I say unto you, Except ye be converted, and become as little children, ye shall not enter into the kingdom of heaven.

"All who would enter the city of God must during their earthly life set forth Christ in their dealings. It is this that constitutes them the messengers of Christ, His witnesses. They are to bear a plain, decided testimony against all evil practices, pointing sinners to the Lamb of God, who taketh away the sin of the world. He gives to all who receive Him, power to become the sons of God. Regeneration is the only path by which we can enter the city of God. It is narrow, and the gate by which we enter is strait; but along it we are to lead men and women and children, teaching them that, in order to be saved, they must have a new heart and a new spirit. The old, hereditary traits of character must be overcome. The natural desires of the soul must be changed. All deception, all falsifying, all evilspeaking, must be put away. The new life, which makes men and women Christ like, is to be lived." – Testimonies for the Church, vol. 9, p. 23.

2. Would a new birth coming from the same parents have any positive result? Even if it were possible, what could be expected from such a new birth?

John 3:4, 6, First part Nicodemus saith unto him, How can a man be born when he is old? can he enter the second time into his mother's womb, and be born? That which is born of the flesh is flesh.

"By nature the heart is evil, and 'who can bring a clean thing out of an unclean? not one.' Job 14:4. No human invention can find a remedy for the sinning soul. 'The carnal mind is enmity against God: for it is not subject to the law of God, neither indeed can be.' 'Out of the heart proceed evil thoughts, murders, adulteries, fornications, thefts, false witness, blasphemies.' Romans 8:7; Matthew 15:19." —The Desire of Ages, p. 172.

3. What are the regenerating agents of a true new birth and new life? Do you desire this experience in your life?

John 3:5 Jesus answered, Verily, verily, I say unto thee, Except a man be born of water and of the Spirit, he cannot enter into the kingdom of God.

"It is by the renewing of the heart that the grace of God works to transform the life. No mere external change is sufficient to bring us into harmony with God. There are many who try to reform by correcting this bad habit or that bad habit, and they hope in this way to become Christians, but they are beginning in the wrong place. Our first work is with the heart....

"The Scriptures are the great agency in this transformation of character. Christ prayed, 'Sanctify them through Thy truth: Thy word is truth' (John 17:17). If studied and obeyed, the Word of God works in the heart, subduing every unholy attribute. The Holy Spirit comes to convict of sin, and the faith that springs up in the heart works by love to Christ, conforming us, body, soul, and spirit, to His will." —In Heavenly Places, p. 21.

4. What does the Holy Spirit do to bring a new creature into existence? How does one know if that experience has occurred in his life?

JOHN 3:6 That which is born of the flesh is flesh; and that which is born of the Spirit is spirit.

EZEKIEL 11:19, 20 And I will give them one heart, and I will put a new spirit within you; and I will take the stony heart out of their flesh, and will give them an heart of flesh: <sup>20</sup>That they may walk in my statutes, and keep mine ordinances, and do them: and they shall be my people, and I will be their God.

"Like the wind, which is invisible, yet the effects of which are plainly seen and felt, is the Spirit of God in its work upon the human heart. That regenerating power, which no human eye can see, begets a new life in the soul; it creates a new being in the image of God." –Steps to Christ, p. 57.

"The converting power of God must be upon our hearts. We must study the life of Christ, and imitate the divine Pattern. We must dwell upon the perfection of His character, and be changed into His image. No one will enter the kingdom of God unless his will is brought into captivity to the will of Christ." —Reflecting Christ, p. 22.

### Invisible work and visible effects

# 5. Are we surprised by the message of the new birth presented by Jesus? Whom will one receive to be transformed and become a child of God?

John 3:7; 1:12 Marvel not that I said unto thee, Ye must be born again...  $^{1:12}$ But as many as received him, to them gave he power to become the sons of God, even to them that believe on his name.

"When the Spirit of God takes possession of the heart, it transforms the life. Sinful thoughts are put away, evil deeds are renounced; love, humility, and peace take the place of anger, envy, and strife. Joy takes the place of sadness, and the countenance reflects the light of heaven. No one sees the hand that lifts the burden, or beholds the light descend from the courts above. The blessing comes when by faith the soul surrenders itself to God. Then that power which no human eye can see creates a new being in the image of God." —The Desire of Ages, p. 173.

# 6. Is it possible to analyze how the new birth takes place? Like the movement of the wind, what can be noticed when this new birth occurs?

JOHN 3:8 The wind bloweth where it listeth, and thou hearest the sound thereof, but canst not tell whence it cometh, and whither it goeth: so is every one that is born of the Spirit.

"While the work of the Spirit is silent and imperceptible, its effects are manifest. If the heart has been renewed by the Spirit of God, the life will bear witness to the fact. While we cannot do anything to change our hearts or to bring ourselves into harmony with God; while we must not trust at all to ourselves or our good works, our lives will reveal whether the grace of God is dwelling within us. A change will be seen in the character, the habits, the pursuits. The contrast will be clear and decided between what they have been and what they are. The character is revealed, not by occasional good deeds and occasional misdeeds, but by the tendency of the habitual words and acts." —Steps to Christ, pp. 57, 58.

#### Changes that occur when one is born of the Spirit

## 7. What great changes happen in a person's nature and life when he is born of God and becomes His child?

1 John 3:9; 5:4, 18 Whosoever is born of God doth not commit sin; for his seed remaineth in him: and he cannot sin, because he is born of God.... 5:4For whatsoever is born of God overcometh the world: and this is the

victory that overcometh the world, even our faith.... <sup>18</sup>We know that whosoever is born of God sinneth not; but he that is begotten of God keepeth himself, and that wicked one toucheth him not.

"In the heart renewed by divine grace, love is the principle of action. It modifies the character, governs the impulses, controls the passions, subdues enmity, and ennobles the affections. This love, cherished in the soul, sweetens the life and sheds a refining influence on all around." – *Steps to Christ*, p. 59.

"In the new birth the heart is brought into harmony with God, as it is brought into accord with His law. When this mighty change has taken place in the sinner, he has passed from death unto life, from sin unto holiness, from transgression and rebellion to obedience and loyalty. The old life of alienation from God has ended; the new life of reconciliation, of faith and love, has begun. Then 'the righteousness of the law' will 'be fulfilled in us, who walk not after the flesh, but after the Spirit.' Romans 8:4. And the language of the soul will be: 'O how love I Thy law! it is my meditation all the day.' Psalm 119:97." —The Great Controversy, p. 468.

### FOR ADDITIONAL STUDY

"So is the experience of every one who is born of the Spirit. The mind is an invisible agent of God to produce tangible results. Its influence is powerful, and governs the actions of men. If purified from all evil, it is the motive power of good. The regenerating Spirit of God, taking possession of the mind, transforms the life; wicked thoughts are put away, evil deeds are renounced, love, peace, and humility take the place of anger, envy, and strife. That power which no human eye can see, has created a new being in the image of God." —*The Spirit of Prophecy*, vol. 2, pp. 128, 129.

\* \* \*

20

Sabbath, November 14, 2015

### **Biblical Baptism**

"Baptism is a most solemn renunciation of the world. Those who are baptized in the threefold name of the Father, the Son, and the Holy Spirit, at the very entrance of their Christian life declare publicly that they have forsaken the service of Satan, and have become members of the royal family, children of the heavenly King. They have obeyed the command, 'Come out from among them, and be ye separate,... and touch not the unclean thing.'... 2 Corinthians 6:17, 18."—*Testimonies for the Church*, vol. 6, p. 91.

### Instruction, repentance and baptism

1. From whom did John the Baptist receive the commission to baptize people? What was required before he would baptize someone in the Jordan River?

John 1:33 And I knew him not: but he that sent me to baptize with water, the same said unto me, Upon whom thou shalt see the Spirit descending, and remaining on him, the same is he which baptizeth with the Holy Ghost.

MARK 1:4, 5 John did baptize in the wilderness, and preach the baptism of repentance for the remission of sins. <sup>5</sup>And there went out unto him all the land of Judaea, and they of Jerusalem, and were all baptized of him in the river of Jordan, confessing their sins.

"It was the purpose of John to startle and arouse the people, and cause them to tremble because of their great wickedness. In simplicity and plainness he pointed out the errors and crimes of men. A power attended his words, and, reluctant as the people were to hear the denunciation of their unholy lives, yet they could not resist his words. He flattered none; neither would he receive flattery of any. The people, as if with common consent, came to him repenting, and confessing their sins, and were baptized of him in Jordan." —The Spirit of Prophecy, vol. 2, p. 48.

2. What was encompassed in the mission that Jesus gave to His disciples and thus also to His church of all time? As in the mission of John the Baptist, what precedes baptism?

Matthew 28:18-20 And Jesus came and spake unto them, saying, All power is given unto me in heaven and in earth. <sup>19</sup>Go ye therefore, and teach all nations, baptizing them in the name of the Father, and of the Son, and of the Holy Ghost: <sup>20</sup>Teaching them to observe all things whatsoever I have commanded you: and, lo, I am with you alway, even unto the end of the world. Amen.

"The gospel commission is the great missionary charter of Christ's kingdom. The disciples were to work earnestly for souls, giving to all the invitation of mercy. They were not to wait for the people to come to them; they were to go to the people with their message." —The Acts of the Apostles. p. 28.

"The preparation for baptism is a matter that needs to be carefully considered. The new converts to the truth should be faithfully instructed in the plain 'Thus saith the Lord.' The Word of the Lord is to be read and explained to them point by point." —*Evangelism*, p. 308.

### Faith, death of the old man, and new life

3. What is part of making a covenant with God? How does the experience of the Ethiopian eunuch show that belief in Jesus Christ as the Son of God is a prerequisite to baptism?

Mark 16:15, 16 And he said unto them, Go ye into all the world, and preach the gospel to every creature. <sup>16</sup>He that believeth and is baptized shall be saved; but he that believeth not shall be damned.

Acts 8:36-38 And as they went on their way, they came unto a certain water: and the eunuch said, See, here is water; what doth hinder me to be baptized? <sup>37</sup>And Philip said, If thou believest with all thine heart, thou mayest. And he answered and said, I believe that Jesus Christ is the Son of

God. <sup>38</sup>And he commanded the chariot to stand still: and they went down both into the water, both Philip and the eunuch; and he baptized him.

"Repentance and faith are everywhere required as the condition of receiving baptism." –*The Great Controversy*, pp. 238, 239.

"The steps in conversion, plainly marked out, are repentance, faith in Christ as the world's Redeemer, faith in His death, burial, and resurrection, shown by baptism, and His ascension on high to plead in the sinner's behalf." —*Lift Him Up*, p. 79.

"Repentance, faith, and baptism are the requisite steps in conversion.... As Christians submit to the solemn rite of baptism, He registers the vow that they make to be true to Him. This vow is their oath of allegiance." –*The Faith I Live By*, p. 145.

# 4. What does a person experience before baptism? Just as Christ rose from death, what happens to a believer who is baptized into His death?

Romans 6:3-6, 11 Know ye not, that so many of us as were baptized into Jesus Christ were baptized into his death? <sup>4</sup>Therefore we are buried with him by baptism into death: that like as Christ was raised up from the dead by the glory of the Father, even so we also should walk in newness of life. <sup>5</sup>For if we have been planted together in the likeness of his death, we shall be also in the likeness of his resurrection: <sup>6</sup>Knowing this, that our old man is crucified with him, that the body of sin might be destroyed, that henceforth we should not serve sin.... <sup>11</sup>Likewise reckon ye also yourselves to be dead indeed unto sin, but alive unto God through Jesus Christ our Lord.

Colossians 2:12 Buried with him in baptism, wherein also ye are risen with him through the faith of the operation of God, who hath raised him from the dead.

"Those who have risen with Christ to walk in newness of life are the elect of God. They are holy unto the Lord, and are acknowledged by Him as His beloved. As such, they are under solemn covenant to distinguish themselves by showing humility of mind. They are to clothe themselves in garments of righteousness. They are separate from the world, from its spirit, its practices, and they are to reveal that they are learning of Him.... If they realize that they have died with Christ, if they keep their baptismal vow, the world will have no power to draw them aside to deny Christ. If they live the life of Christ in this world, they are partakers of the divine nature." —Sons and Daughters of God, p. 133.

### BAPTISM BY IMMERSION AND REBAPTISM

## 5. How many kinds of baptism do the Scriptures present? How was this ordinance understood in apostolic times?

EPHESIANS 4:4, 5 There is one body, and one Spirit, even as ye are called in one hope of your calling; <sup>5</sup>One Lord, one faith, one baptism.

Romans 6:4 Therefore we are buried with him by baptism into death: that like as Christ was raised up from the dead by the glory of the Father, even so we also should walk in newness of life.

Matthew 3:16 And Jesus, when he was baptized, went up straightway out of the water: and, lo, the heavens were opened unto him, and he saw the Spirit of God descending like a dove, and lighting upon him.

"My mind was very much exercised on the subject of baptism. Young as I was, I could see but one mode of baptism authorized by the Scriptures, and that was immersion. Some of my Methodist sisters tried in vain to convince me that sprinkling was Bible baptism. The Methodist minister consented to immerse the candidates if they conscientiously preferred that method, although he intimated that sprinkling would be equally acceptable with God." —Life Sketches of Ellen G. White, p. 25.

# 6. What example of rebaptism is shown in the book of Acts? How does this example apply to individuals coming from other organizations into a fuller knowledge of Jesus Christ and His truth?

Acts 19:1-5 And it came to pass, that, while Apollos was at Corinth, Paul having passed through the upper coasts came to Ephesus: and finding certain disciples, <sup>2</sup>He said unto them, Have ye received the Holy Ghost since ye believed? <sup>3</sup>And they said unto him, We have not so much as heard whether there be any Holy Ghost. And he said unto them, Unto what then were ye baptized? And they said, Unto John's baptism. <sup>4</sup>Then said Paul, John verily baptized with the baptism of repentance, saying unto the people, that they should believe on him which should come after him, that is, on Christ Jesus. <sup>5</sup>When they heard this, they were baptized in the name of the Lord Jesus.

"There is still another lesson for us in the experience of those Jewish converts. When they received baptism at the hand of John they did not fully comprehend the mission of Jesus as the Sin Bearer. They were holding serious errors. But with clearer light, they gladly accepted Christ as their Redeemer, and with this step of advance came a change in their obligations. As they received a purer faith, there was a corresponding change in their life. In token of this change, and as an acknowledgment of their faith in Christ, they were rebaptized in the name of Jesus." – The Acts of the Apostles, p. 285.

### Baptism and the gift of the Holy Spirit

## 7. What great gift is connected with baptism when it follows faith, repentance, and conversion?

JOHN 3:5 Jesus answered, Verily, verily, I say unto thee, Except a man be born of water and of the Spirit, he cannot enter into the kingdom of God.

Matthew 3:11 I indeed baptize you with water unto repentance: but he that cometh after me is mightier than I, whose shoes I am not worthy to bear: he shall baptize you with the Holy Ghost, and with fire.

Acts 2:38 Then Peter said unto them, Repent, and be baptized every one of you in the name of Jesus Christ for the remission of sins, and ye shall receive the gift of the Holy Ghost.

"I entreat the church members in every city that they lay hold upon the Lord with determined effort for the baptism of the Holy Spirit. Be assured that Satan is not asleep. Every obstacle possible he will place in the way of those who would advance in this work. Too often these obstacles are regarded as insurmountable. Let everyone now be soundly and truly converted, and then lay hold of the work intelligently and with faith." –*Counsels on Health*, p. 548.

"We need the baptism of the Holy Spirit." -Evangelism, p. 558.

"One reason that there are not more conversions now is because you yourselves need to be converted. Just as soon as you receive the baptism of the Holy Spirit, you will see of the salvation of God." —Peter's Counsel to Parents, p. 34.

### FOR ADDITIONAL STUDY

Matthew 3:5, 6, 11

"All who enter upon the new life should understand, prior to their baptism, that the Lord requires the undivided affections.... The practicing of the truth is essential. The bearing of fruit testifies to the character of the tree. A good tree cannot bring forth evil fruit. The line of demarcation will be plain and distinct between those who love God and keep His commandments and those who love Him not and disregard His precepts. There is need of a thorough conversion to the truth." –Evangelism, p. 308.

\* \* \*

### 21

Sabbath, November 21, 2015

### The Church of the Lord

"The church is God's appointed agency for the salvation of men. It was organized for service, and its mission is to carry the gospel to the world. From the beginning it has been God's plan that through His church shall be reflected to the world His fullness and His sufficiency. The members of the church, those whom He has called out of darkness into His marvelous light, are to show forth His glory. The church is the repository of the riches of the grace of Christ; and through the church will eventually be made manifest, even to 'the principalities and powers in heavenly places,' the final and full display of the love of God. Ephesians 3:10." —*The Acts of the Apostles*, p. 9.

### Building on the living Rock

### 1. Who presented the plan for establishment of the church? How stable is it?

Matthew 16:18 And I say also unto thee, That thou art Peter, and upon this rock I will build my church; and the gates of hell shall not prevail against it. "Human power and human might did not establish the church of God, and neither can they destroy it. Not on the rock of human strength, but on Christ Jesus, the Rock of Ages, was the church founded, 'and the gates of hell shall not prevail against it.' Matthew 16:18. The presence of God gives stability to His cause. 'Put not your trust in princes, nor in the son of man,' is the word that comes to us. Psalm 146:3. 'In quietness and in confidence shall be your strength.' Isaiah 30:15. God's glorious work, founded on the eternal principles of right, will never come to nought. It will go on from strength to strength, 'not by might, nor by power, but by My Spirit, saith the Lord of hosts.' Zechariah 4:6." –*Prophets and Kings*, pp. 595, 596.

2. Upon what firm foundation is the Christian church built? What confidence is expressed in the holy Scriptures concerning the church being truly built on a solid foundation?

1 Corinthians 3:11 For other foundation can no man lay than that is laid, which is Jesus Christ.

EPHESIANS 2:20-22 And are built upon the foundation of the apostles and prophets, Jesus Christ himself being the chief corner stone; <sup>21</sup>In whom all the building fitly framed together groweth unto an holy temple in the Lord: <sup>22</sup>In whom ye also are builded together for an habitation of God through the Spirit.

Isaiah 28:16 Therefore thus saith the Lord God, Behold, I lay in Zion for a foundation a stone, a tried stone, a precious corner stone, a sure foundation: he that believeth shall not make haste.

"Peter was not the rock upon which the church was founded. The gates of hell did prevail against him when he denied his Lord with cursing and swearing. The church was built upon One against whom the gates of hell could not prevail.

"Centuries before the Saviour's advent Moses had pointed to the Rock of Israel's salvation. The psalmist had sung of 'the Rock of my strength.' Isaiah had written, 'Thus saith the Lord God, Behold, I lay in Zion for a foundation a stone, a tried stone, a precious cornerstone, a sure foundation.' Deuteronomy 32:4; Psalms 62:7; Isaiah 28:16. Peter himself, writing by inspiration, applies this prophecy to Jesus. He says, 'If ye have tasted that the Lord is gracious: unto whom coming, a living stone, rejected indeed of men, but with God elect, precious, ye also, as living stones, are built up a spiritual house.' 1 Peter 2:3-5, R.V." – The Desire of Ages, p. 413.

### The first step in organization

3. What was the first step Jesus took in laying the foundation of His church? What purpose did He have in its organization?

MARK 3:13, 14 And he goeth up into a mountain, and calleth unto him whom he would: and they came unto him. <sup>14</sup>And he ordained twelve, that they should be with him, and that he might send them forth to preach,

MATTHEW 10:1; 5:14 And when he had called unto him his twelve disciples, he gave them power against unclean spirits, to cast them out, and to heal all manner of sickness and all manner of disease. <sup>5:14</sup>Ye are the light of the world. A city that is set on an hill cannot be hid.

"The first step was now to be taken in the organization of the church that after Christ's departure was to be His representative on earth.... The Saviour led His disciples to the retreat He loved, and in their minds the sacred experiences of that day were forever linked with the beauty of mountain and vale and sea.

"Jesus had called His disciples that He might send them forth as His witnesses, to declare to the world what they had seen and heard of Him. Their office was the most important to which human beings had ever been called, and was second only to that of Christ Himself. They were to be workers together with God for the saving of the world. As in the Old Testament the twelve patriarchs stand as representatives of Israel, so the twelve apostles were to stand as representatives of the gospel church." –*The Desire of Ages*, p. 291.

#### LIKE A BODY

4. With what illustration did the apostle show the diversity and unity of God's church? What attitude does every member need to have so the church as a body may grow and work in harmony for the advancement of the heavenly kingdom?

Romans 12:4, 5 For as we have many members in one body... <sup>5</sup>So we, being many, are one body in Christ, and every one members one of another.

1 Corinthians 12:12 For as the body is one, and hath many members, and all the members of that one body, being many, are one body: so also is Christ.

Ephesians 4:16 From whom the whole body fitly joined together and compacted by that which every joint supplieth, according to the effectual working in the measure of every part, maketh increase of the body unto the edifying of itself in love.

"As all the different members of the human system unite to form the entire body, and each performs its office in obedience to the intelligence that governs the whole, so the members of the church of Christ should be united in one symmetrical body, subject to the sanctified intelligence of the whole." —*Testimonies for the Church*, vol. 4, p. 16.

"The Jewish tabernacle was a type of the Christian church.... The church on earth, composed of those who are faithful and loyal to God, is the 'true tabernacle,' whereof the Redeemer is the minister. God, and not man, pitched this tabernacle on a high, elevated platform.

"This tabernacle is Christ's body, and from north, south, east, and west He gathers those who shall help to compose it.... A holy tabernacle is built up of those who receive Christ as their personal Saviour.... Christ is the minister of the true tabernacle, the high priest of all who believe in Him as a personal Saviour." —Seventh-day Adventist Bible Commentary, vol. 7. p. 931.

# 5. What terrible enmity and war will the church face, especially in the last days? Therefore, what is required of every member?

Revelation 12:17 And the dragon was wroth with the woman, and went to make war with the remnant of her seed, which keep the commandments of God, and have the testimony of Jesus Christ.

- 1 Timothy 3:15 But if I tarry long, that thou mayest know how thou oughtest to behave thyself in the house of God, which is the church of the living God, the pillar and ground of the truth.
- 1 Peter 5:8, 9 Be sober, be vigilant; because your adversary the devil, as a roaring lion, walketh about, seeking whom he may devour: <sup>9</sup>Whom resist stedfast in the faith, knowing that the same afflictions are accomplished in your brethren that are in the world.

"In vision I saw two armies in terrible conflict. One army was led by banners bearing the world's insignia; the other was led by the blood-stained banner of Prince Immanuel. Standard after standard was left to trail in the dust as company after company from the Lord's army joined the foe and tribe after tribe from the ranks of the enemy united with the commandment-keeping people of God. An angel flying in the midst of heaven put the standard of Immanuel into many hands, while a mighty general cried out with a loud voice: 'Come into line. Let those who are loyal to the commandments of God and the testimony of Christ now take their position. Come out from among them, and be ye separate, and touch not the unclean, and I will receive you, and will be a Father unto you, and ye shall be My sons and daughters. Let all who will come up to the help of the Lord, to the help of the Lord against the mighty." —Testimonies for the Church, vol. 8, p. 41.

#### A SPECIAL LOVE

## 6. How strong is Jesus' love for His church? Therefore, how deeply do its members love the church?

EPHESIANS 5:25-27 Christ also loved the church, and gave himself for it; <sup>26</sup>That he might sanctify and cleanse it with the washing of water by the word, <sup>27</sup>That he might present it to himself a glorious church, not having spot, or wrinkle, or any such thing; but that it should be holy and without blemish.

John 15:12, 13 This is my commandment, That ye love one another, as I have loved you. <sup>13</sup>Greater love hath no man than this, that a man lay down his life for his friends.

Ephesians 4:15 But speaking the truth in love, may grow up into him in all things, which is the head, even Christ.

"Trust to God's guardianship. His church is to be taught. Enfeebled and defective though it is, it is the object of His supreme regard." –Selected Messages, book 2, p. 396.

"The church of Christ, enfeebled and defective as it may be, is the only object on earth on which He bestows His supreme regard.... The Lord has a people, a chosen people, His church, to be His own, His own fortress, which He holds in a sin-stricken, revolted world." —In Heavenly Places, p. 284.

"The church is God's fortress. His city of refuge, which He holds in a revolted world. Any betrayal of the church is treachery to Him who has bought mankind with the blood of His only-begotten Son." –*The Acts of the Apostles*, p. 11.

#### Unity and progress

# 7. Considering the current world conditions and the prayer of the Saviour, what relationship is critically necessary among church members for the accomplishment of His plan?

JOHN 17:11, 20, 21 And now I am no more in the world, but these are in the world, and I come to thee. Holy Father, keep through thine own name those whom thou hast given me, that they may be one, as we are.... <sup>20</sup>Neither pray I for these alone, but for them also which shall believe on me through their word; <sup>21</sup>That they all may be one; as thou, Father, art in me, and I in thee, that they also may be one in us: that the world may believe that thou hast sent me.

1 Corinthians 1:10 Now I beseech you, brethren, by the name of our Lord Jesus Christ, that ye all speak the same thing, and that there be no divisions among you; but that ye be perfectly joined together in the same mind and in the same judgment.

"Only as they were united with Christ could the disciples hope to have the accompanying power of the Holy Spirit and the cooperation of angels of heaven. With the help of these divine agencies they would present before the world a united front and would be victorious in the conflict they were compelled to wage unceasingly against the powers of darkness. As they should continue to labor unitedly, heavenly messengers would go before them, opening the way; hearts would be prepared for the reception of truth, and many would be won to Christ. So long as they remained united, the church would go forth 'fair as the moon, clear as the sun, and terrible as an army with banners.' Song of Solomon 6:10. Nothing could withstand her onward progress. The church would advance from victory to victory, gloriously fulfilling her divine mission of proclaiming the gospel to the world." —The Acts of the Apostles, pp. 90, 91.

### FOR ADDITIONAL STUDY

Psalm 118:22, 23

"'Other foundation can no man lay than that is laid, which is Jesus Christ.' 1 Corinthians 3:11. 'Upon this rock,' said Jesus, 'I will build My church.' In the presence of God, and all the heavenly intelligences, in the presence of the unseen army of hell, Christ founded His church upon the living Rock. That Rock is Himself—His own body, for us broken and bruised.

Against the church built upon this foundation, the gates of hell shall not prevail."—The Desire of Ages, p. 413.

"The church of Christ was organized for missionary purposes.... By it the members are inspired with zeal to deny self, to put forth self-sacrificing efforts to send the truth to the regions beyond. It has a salutary influence upon unbelievers; for as the workers labor under divine supervision, worldlings are led to see the greatness of the resources that God has provided for those who serve Him.... The church is to work actively, as an organized body, to spread abroad the influence of the cross of Christ." –Gospel Workers, p. 464.

"When the storm of persecution really breaks upon us, the true sheep will hear the true Shepherd's voice. Self-denying efforts will be put forth to save the lost, and many who have strayed from the fold will come back to follow the great Shepherd. The people of God will draw together, and present to the enemy a united front.... The love of Christ, the love of our brethren, will testify to the world that we have been with Jesus and learned of Him. Then will the message of the third angel swell to a loud cry, and the whole earth will be lightened with the glory of the Lord." – Testimonies for the Church, vol. 6, p. 401.

\* \* \*

## 22

Sabbath, November 28, 2015

## The Feet Washing

"When Jesus girded Himself with a towel to wash the dust from their feet, He desired by that very act to wash the alienation, jealousy, and pride from their hearts. This was of far more consequence than the washing of their dusty feet.... Their hearts must be cleansed. Pride and self-seeking create dissension and hatred, but all this Jesus washed away in washing their feet." *–The Desire of Ages*, p. 646.

### Jesus serves His disciples

1. According to the blessing spoken by Jesus, how important is the purification of one's heart? In harmony with this blessing, what did Jesus do for His disciples right before facing His final suffering and death?

Matthew 5:8 Blessed are the pure in heart: for they shall see God.

John 13:3-5 Jesus knowing that the Father had given all things into his hands, and that he was come from God, and went to God; <sup>4</sup>He riseth from supper, and laid aside his garments; and took a towel, and girded himself. <sup>5</sup>After that he poureth water into a basin, and began to wash the disciples' feet, and to wipe them with the towel wherewith he was girded.

"In the estimation of God a pure heart is more precious than the gold of Ophir. A pure heart is the temple where God dwells, the sanctuary where Christ takes up His abode. A pure heart is above everything that is cheap or low; it is a shining light, a treasure house from which come uplifting, sanctified words. It is a place where the imagery of God is recognized, and where the highest delight is to behold His image. It is a heart that finds its whole and only pleasure and satisfaction in God, and whose thoughts and intents and purposes are alive with godliness. Such a heart is a sacred place; it is a treasury of all virtue." –My Life Today, p. 263.

#### Refusal not justifiable

2. Was every disciple in agreement with Jesus' performing such a service of humility for him? How did Jesus answer Peter's objection?

John 13:6, 7 Then cometh he to Simon Peter: and Peter saith unto him, Lord, dost thou wash my feet? <sup>7</sup>Jesus answered and said unto him, What I do thou knowest not now; but thou shalt know hereafter.

"As the disciples watched Christ's action, they were greatly moved. When Peter's turn came, he exclaimed with astonishment, 'Lord, dost Thou wash my feet?' Christ's condescension broke his heart. He was filled with shame to think that one of the disciples was not performing this service. 'What I do,' Christ said, 'thou knowest not now; but thou shalt know hereafter.' Peter could not bear to see his Lord, whom he believed to be the Son of God, acting the part of a servant. His whole soul rose up against this humiliation. He did not realize that for this Christ came into the world. With great emphasis he exclaimed, 'Thou shalt never wash my feet.'" —The Desire of Ages, pp. 645, 646.

3. How did Peter change his mind when he understood the consequence of refusing this service? If it was a detriment for him to refuse the feet washing, what can be said about this ordinance today?

John 13:8, 9 Peter saith unto him, Thou shalt never wash my feet. Jesus answered him, If I wash thee not, thou hast no part with me. <sup>9</sup>Simon Peter saith unto him, Lord, not my feet only, but also my hands and my head.

"Solemnly Christ said to Peter, 'If I wash thee not, thou hast no part with Me.' The service which Peter refused was the type of a higher cleansing. Christ had come to wash the heart from the stain of sin. In refusing to allow Christ to wash his feet, Peter was refusing the higher cleansing included in the lower. He was really rejecting his Lord. It is not humiliating to the Master to allow Him to work for our purification. The truest humility is to receive with thankful heart any provision made in our behalf, and with earnestness do service for Christ....

"At the words, 'If I wash thee not, thou hast no part with Me,' Peter surrendered his pride and self-will. He could not endure the thought

of separation from Christ; that would have been death to him. 'Not my feet only,' he said, 'but also my hands and my head. Jesus saith to him, He that is washed needeth not save to wash his feet, but is clean every whit.'" –*The Desire of Ages*, p. 646.

#### **PURIFICATION OF HEART**

- 4. How did the Saviour's words show that the feet washing represents the cleansing of one's heart and mind? What does the Lord urge every follower to do so he will have a pure heart and mind?
  - JOHN 13:10, 11 Jesus saith to him, He that is washed needeth not save to wash his feet, but is clean every whit: and ye are clean, but not all. <sup>11</sup>For he knew who should betray him; therefore said he, Ye are not all clean.
  - 2 Corinthians 6:17, 18 Wherefore come out from among them, and be ye separate, saith the Lord, and touch not the unclean thing; and I will receive you, <sup>18</sup>And will be a Father unto you, and ye shall be my sons and daughters, saith the Lord Almighty.

"When Jesus girded Himself with a towel to wash the dust from their feet, He desired by that very act to wash the alienation, jealousy, and pride from their hearts. This was of far more consequence than the washing of their dusty feet. With the spirit they then had, not one of them was prepared for communion with Christ. Until brought into a state of humility and love, they were not prepared to partake of the paschal supper, or to share in the memorial service which Christ was about to institute. Their hearts must be cleansed. Pride and self-seeking create dissension and hatred, but all this Jesus washed away in washing their feet. A change of feeling was brought about. Looking upon them, Jesus could say, 'Ye are clean.' Now there was union of heart, love for one another. They had become humble and teachable. Except Judas, each was ready to concede to another the highest place. Now with subdued and grateful hearts they could receive Christ's words." – The Desire of Ages, p. 646.

#### Instituted as an ordinance

5. Was the feet washing confined to the Master's loving service? With what words did He establish the feet washing as an ordinance for the Christian church?

John 13:12-14 So after he had washed their feet, and had taken his garments, and was set down again, he said unto them, Know ye what I have done to you? <sup>13</sup>Ye call me Master and Lord: and ye say well; for so I am. <sup>14</sup>If I then, your Lord and Master, have washed your feet; ye also ought to wash one another's feet.

"Christ was here instituting a religious service. By the act of our Lord this humiliating ceremony was made a consecrated ordinance. It was to be observed by the disciples, that they might ever keep in mind His lessons of humility and service." —The Desire of Ages, p. 650.

"Reconciliation one with another is the work for which the ordinance of feet washing was instituted.... Whenever it is celebrated, Christ is present by His Holy Spirit. It is this Spirit that brings conviction to hearts." –*The Faith I Live By*, p. 298.

6. What did Jesus mean when He said that He had given an example for His disciples to follow? What will every sincere believer want to do after reading Jesus' words that He wanted His example of service to be carried out by His followers?

John 13:15, 16 For I have given you an example, that ye should do as I have done to you. <sup>16</sup>Verily, verily, I say unto you, The servant is not greater than his Lord; neither he that is sent greater than he that sent him.

"He who washed the feet of Judas longs to wash every heart from the stain of sin." –*The Desire of Ages*, p. 656.

"So Christ expressed His love for His disciples. Their selfish spirit filled Him with sorrow, but He entered into no controversy with them regarding their difficulty. Instead He gave them an example they would never forget. His love for them was not easily disturbed or quenched. He knew that the Father had given all things into His hands, and that He came from God, and went to God. He had a full consciousness of His divinity; but He had laid aside His royal crown and kingly robes, and had taken the form of a servant. One of the last acts of His life on earth was to gird Himself as a servant, and perform a servant's part." – The Desire of Ages, pp. 644, 645.

"There is in man a disposition to esteem himself more highly than his brother, to work for self, to seek the highest place; and often this results in evil surmisings and bitterness of spirit. The ordinance preceding the Lord's Supper is to clear away these misunderstandings, to bring man out of his selfishness, down from his stilts of self-exaltation, to the humility of heart that will lead him to serve his brother." —The Desire of Ages, p. 650.

#### PROMISES FOR THOSE WHO KNOW AND DO

7. What will happen if we allow the Master to cleanse and purify our hearts and then cooperate with Him for the spiritual cleansing of others?

John 13:17 If ye know these things, happy are ye if ye do them.

PSALM 15:1, 2; 24:3-5 Lord, who shall abide in thy tabernacle? who shall dwell in thy holy hill? <sup>2</sup>He that walketh uprightly, and worketh righteousness, and speaketh the truth in his heart.... <sup>24:3</sup>Who shall ascend into the hill of the Lord? or who shall stand in his holy place? <sup>4</sup>He that hath clean hands, and a pure heart; who hath not lifted up his soul unto vanity, nor sworn deceitfully. <sup>5</sup>He shall receive the blessing from the Lord, and righteousness from the God of his salvation.

"The celebration of these ordinances is the fulfilling of the command, If I, then, your Lord and Master, have washed your feet; ye also ought

to wash one another's feet....' What a place is this for hushing controversies, for forgiving those who have done us any injury. This is the time, if one has anything against his brother, to make it right, to settle every difficulty. Let there be mutual forgiveness. Let no strange flame be brought to the altar. Let no malice, no hatred, be cherished by those who meet round the communion table.

"Whenever this ordinance is rightly celebrated, the children of God are brought into a holy relationship, to help and bless each other." –Sons and Daughters of God, p. 157.

#### FOR FURTHER STUDY

"These words mean more than bodily cleanliness. Christ is still speaking of the higher cleansing as illustrated by the lower. He who came from the bath was clean, but the sandaled feet soon became dusty, and again needed to be washed. So Peter and his brethren had been washed in the great fountain opened for sin and uncleanness. Christ acknowledged them as His. But temptation had led them into evil, and they still needed His cleansing grace." —The Desire of Ages, p. 646.

\* \* \*

## 23

Sabbath, December 5, 2015

## The Lord's Supper

"In instituting the sacramental service to take the place of the Passover, Christ left for His church a memorial of His great sacrifice for man. This do,' He said, 'in remembrance of Me.' This was the point of transition between two economies and their two great festivals. The one was to close forever; the other, which He had just established, was to take its place, and to continue through all time as the memorial of His death." —*Evangelism*, pp. 273, 274.

#### Jesus' great desire

1. What did Jesus say to His disciples the night that He was betrayed, when they were together for the last Passover meal?

Luke 22:14, 15 And when the hour was come, he sat down, and the twelve apostles with him. And he said unto them, <sup>15</sup>With desire I have desired to eat this passover with you before I suffer.

"Christ knew that the time had come for Him to depart out of the world, and go to His Father. And having loved His own that were in the world, He loved them unto the end. He was now in the shadow of the cross, and the pain was torturing His heart. He knew that He would be

deserted in the hour of His betrayal. He knew that by the most humiliating process to which criminals were subjected He would be put to death. He knew the ingratitude and cruelty of those He had come to save. He knew how great the sacrifice that He must make, and for how many it would be in vain. Knowing all that was before Him, He might naturally have been overwhelmed with the thought of His own humiliation and suffering. But He looked upon the twelve, who had been with Him as His own, and who, after His shame and sorrow and painful usage were over, would be left to struggle in the world. His thoughts of what He Himself must suffer were ever connected with His disciples. He did not think of Himself. His care for them was uppermost in His mind." – The Desire of Ages, p. 643.

#### The symbol of His body

# 2. After He washed their feet, what did Jesus give to His disciples? What did the blessed piece of bread that He gave them represent?

Matthew 26:26 And as they were eating, Jesus took bread, and blessed it, and brake it, and gave it to the disciples, and said, Take, eat; this is my body.

"Christ was standing at the point of transition between two economies and their two great festivals. He, the spotless Lamb of God, was about to present Himself as a sin offering, that He would thus bring to an end the system of types and ceremonies that for four thousand years had pointed to His death. As He ate the Passover with His disciples, He instituted in its place the service that was to be the memorial of His great sacrifice. The national festival of the Jews was to pass away forever. The service which Christ established was to be observed by His followers in all lands and through all ages." —The Desire of Ages, p. 652.

3. What other explanation did He give, signifying what would soon take place? What did His words imply for the future, when they would again celebrate the ordinance?

Luke 22:19 And he took bread, and gave thanks, and brake it, and gave unto them, saying, This is my body which is given for you: this do in remembrance of me.

1 Corinthians 11:23, 24 For I have received of the Lord that which also I delivered unto you, That the Lord Jesus the same night in which he was betrayed took bread: And when he had given thanks, he brake it, and said, Take, eat: this is my body, which is broken for you: this do in remembrance of me.

"Here our Saviour instituted the Lord's supper, to be often celebrated, to keep fresh in the memory of his followers the solemn scenes of His betrayal and crucifixion for the sins of the world. He would have His followers realize their continual dependence upon His blood for salvation. The broken bread was a symbol of Christ's broken body, given for the salvation of the world. The wine was a symbol of His blood, shed for the

cleansing of the sins of all those who should come unto Him for pardon, and receive Him as their Saviour." – The Spirit of Prophecy, vol. 1, p. 203.

#### The symbol of His blood

4. After giving thanks, what did He give to the disciples? What did the wine in the cup that He gave them represent?

MATTHEW 26:27, 28, FIRST PART And he took the cup, and gave thanks, and gave it to them, saying, Drink ye all of it; <sup>28</sup>For this is my blood....

"In partaking with His disciples of the bread and wine, Christ pledged Himself to them as their Redeemer.... As we receive the bread and wine symbolizing Christ's broken body and spilled blood, we in imagination join in the scene of Communion in the upper chamber. We seem to be passing through the garden consecrated by the agony of Him who bore the sins of the world. We witness the struggle by which our reconciliation with God was obtained. Christ is set forth crucified among us." —*The Faith I Live By*, p. 300.

#### The blood of the New Covenant

5. For what purpose was Jesus' blood to be shed? Being an ordinance of the new covenant, who is invited to partake of it?

Matthew 26:28 For this is my blood of the new testament, which is shed for many for the remission of sins.

Exodus 12:43 And the Lord said unto Moses and Aaron, This is the ordinance of the passover: There shall no stranger eat thereof.

"By eating the bread and drinking the wine, we show that we believe this. We show that we repent of our sins, and that we receive Christ as our Saviour." –*The Story of Jesus*, p. 98.

"The ordinances of baptism and the Lord's Supper are two monumental pillars, one without and one within the church. Upon these ordinances Christ has inscribed the name of the true God." —Testimonies for the Church, vol. 6, p. 91.

#### REMEMBERING HIS SUFFERING AND SACRIFICE

- 6. Celebrating the Lord's Supper, who would be the center of their thoughts every time they drank the fruit of the vine? How many of the disciples drank of it?
  - 1 Corinthians 11:25, 26 After the same manner also he took the cup, when he had supped, saying, This cup is the new testament in my blood: this do ye, as oft as ye drink it, in remembrance of me. <sup>26</sup>For as often as ye eat this bread, and drink this cup, ye do show the Lord's death till he come.

MARK 14:23 And he took the cup, and when he had given thanks, he gave it to them: and they all drank of it.

"Both of these important events [death and resurrection of Jesus] have their memorials. By partaking of the Lord's supper, the broken bread and the fruit of the vine, we show forth the Lord's death until He comes. The scenes of His sufferings and death are thus brought fresh to our minds. The resurrection of Christ is commemorated by our being buried with Him by baptism, and raised out of the watery grave, in likeness of His resurrection, to live in newness of life." – Early Writings, p. 217.

#### LORD'S SUPPER AND UNITY

- 7. What does it mean to partake of the cup of blessing and the broken bread? What did the apostle Paul mean when he said that, "being many," we "are one bread, and one body" by partaking "of that one bread"?
  - 1 Corinthians 10:16, 17 The cup of blessing which we bless, is it not the communion of the blood of Christ? The bread which we break, is it not the communion of the body of Christ? <sup>17</sup>For we being many are one bread, and one body: for we are all partakers of that one bread.

"Christ is leading out a people, and bringing them into the unity of the faith, that they may be one, as He is one with the Father....

"God is leading a people out from the world upon the exalted platform of eternal truth, the commandments of God and the faith of Jesus.... They will not be at variance, one believing one thing, and another having faith and views entirely opposite; each moving independently of the body. Through the diversity of the gifts and governments that He has placed in the church, they will all come to the unity of the faith. If one man takes his views of Bible truth without regard to the opinion of his brethren, and justifies his course, alleging that he has a right to his own peculiar views, and then presses them upon others, how can he be fulfilling the prayer of Christ? And if another and still another arises, each asserting his right to believe and talk what he pleases, without reference to the faith of the body, where will be that harmony which existed between Christ and His Father, and which Christ prayed might exist among His brethren?" —Testimonies for the Church, vol. 1, pp. 324, 446, 447.

### Keeping the Saviour's sacrifice vividly in mind

8. For how long will the Lord's Supper be observed? What privilege will those who now share the symbols of the body and blood of Jesus enjoy one day?

1 Corinthians 11:26 For as often as ye eat this bread, and drink this cup, ye do show the Lord's death till he come.

Luke 22:16, 18 For I say unto you, I will not any more eat thereof, until it be fulfilled in the kingdom of God.... <sup>18</sup>For I say unto you, I will not drink of the fruit of the vine, until the kingdom of God shall come.

"As He ate the Passover with His disciples, He instituted in its place the service that was to be the memorial of His great sacrifice. The national festival of the Jews was to pass away forever. The service which Christ established was to be observed by His followers in all lands and through all ages....

"The Communion service points to Christ's second coming. It was designed to keep this hope vivid in the minds of the disciples... In their tribulation they found comfort in the hope of their Lord's return. Unspeakably precious to them was the thought, 'As often as ye eat this bread, and drink this cup, ye do show the Lord's death till He come.' 1 Corinthians 11:26." –*The Desire of Ages*, pp. 652, 659.

#### FOR ADDITIONAL STUDY

"Looking upon the crucified Redeemer, we more fully comprehend the magnitude and meaning of the sacrifice made by the Majesty of heaven. The plan of salvation is glorified before us, and the thought of Calvary awakens living and sacred emotions in our hearts. Praise to God and the Lamb will be in our hearts and on our lips; for pride and self-worship cannot flourish in the soul that keeps fresh in memory the scenes of Calvary." —*The Faith I Live By*, p. 300.

#### What covenant would be sealed with the shedding of Jesus' blood?

"The ordinances of baptism and the Lord's Supper are two monumental pillars, one without and one within the church. Upon these ordinances Christ has inscribed the name of the true God."—*Testimonies for the Church*, vol. 6. p. 91. (Compare with the 1946 compilation, *Evangelism*, p. 273.)

Matthew 26:29 "But I say unto you, I will not drink henceforth of this fruit of the vine, until that day when I drink it new with you in My Father's kingdom."

\* \* \*

24

Sabbath, December 12, 2015

## The Spirit of Prophecy

"The enemy is on our track. We must be wide awake, on our guard against him. We must put on the whole armor of God. We must follow the directions given through the Spirit of prophecy. We must love and obey the truth for this time. This will save us from accepting strong delusions. God has spoken to us through His word. He has spoken to us through the testimonies to the church, and through the books that have helped to make plain our present duty and the position we should now occupy. The warnings that have been given ... should be heeded. If we disregard them, what excuse can we offer?" –Gospel Workers, p. 308.

### Promise for God's people

1. What is one of the great promises that the Lord made to Israel centuries before the Christian era?

Isaiah 44:3 For I will pour water upon him that is thirsty, and floods upon the dry ground: I will pour my spirit upon thy seed, and my blessing upon thine offspring.

EZEKIEL 39:29 Neither will I hide my face any more from them: for I have poured out my spirit upon the house of Israel, saith the Lord God.

"In His word, God has committed to men the knowledge necessary for salvation. The Holy Scriptures are to be accepted as an authoritative, infallible revelation of His will. They are the standard of character, the revealer of doctrines, and the test of experience. 'Every scripture inspired of God is also profitable for teaching, for reproof, for correction, for instruction which is in righteousness; that the man of God may be complete, furnished completely unto every good work.' 2 Timothy 3:16, 17, R.V.

"Yet the fact that God has revealed His will to men through His word, has not rendered needless the continued presence and guiding of the Holy Spirit. On the contrary, the Spirit was promised by our Saviour to open the word to His servants, to illuminate and apply its teachings. And since it was the Spirit of God that inspired the Bible, it is impossible that the teaching of the Spirit should ever be contrary to that of the word." —*The Great Controversy*, p. vii.

# 2. What did the Lord declare through another prophet? To what time does this prophecy refer?

JOEL 2:28-30 And it shall come to pass afterward, that I will pour out my spirit upon all flesh; and your sons and your daughters shall prophesy, your old men shall dream dreams, your young men shall see visions: <sup>29</sup>And also upon the servants and upon the handmaids in those days will I pour out my spirit. <sup>30</sup>And I will show wonders in the heavens and in the earth, blood, and fire, and pillars of smoke.

"The Spirit was not given—nor can it ever be bestowed—to supersede the Bible; for the Scriptures explicitly state that the word of God is the standard by which all teaching and experience must be tested. Says the apostle John, 'Believe not every spirit, but try the spirits whether they are of God: because many false prophets are gone out into the world.' 1 John 4:1. And Isaiah declares, 'To the law and to the testimony: if they speak not according to this word, it is because there is no light in them.' Isaiah 8:20."—The Great Controversy, p. vii.

#### THE TIME OF FULFILLMENT

# 3. When did the first outpouring of the Holy Spirit referred to in the above verse take place? How does the reference to the book of Joel in Acts look forward to the time of the end?

Acts 2:16-18 But this is that which was spoken by the prophet Joel; <sup>17</sup>And it shall come to pass in the last days, saith God, I will pour out of my Spirit upon all flesh: and your sons and your daughters shall prophesy, and your young men shall see visions, and your old men shall dream dreams: <sup>18</sup>And on my servants and on my handmaidens I will pour out in those days of my Spirit; and they shall prophesy.

"In immediate connection with the scenes of the great day of God, the Lord by the prophet Joel has promised a special manifestation of His Spirit. Joel 2:28. This prophecy received a partial fulfillment in the outpouring of the Spirit on the Day of Pentecost; but it will reach its full accomplishment in the manifestation of divine grace which will attend the closing work of the gospel." –*The Great Controversy*, p. ix.

# 4. In his sermon during Pentecost, how did the apostle Peter confirm that this promise was not limited to the apostolic time but extended to the last days?

Acts 2:38, 39 Then Peter said unto them, Repent, and be baptized every one of you in the name of Jesus Christ for the remission of sins, and ye shall receive the gift of the Holy Ghost. <sup>39</sup>For the promise is unto you, and to your children, and to all that are afar off, even as many as the Lord our God shall call.

"After the wonderful manifestation of the Holy Spirit on the Day of Pentecost, Peter exhorted the people to repentance and baptism in the name of Christ, for the remission of their sins; and he said: 'Ye shall receive the gift of the Holy Ghost. For the promise is unto you, and to your children, and to all that are afar off, even as many as the Lord our God shall call.' Acts 2:38, 39." —*The Great Controversy*, p. ix.

"In harmony with the word of God, His Spirit was to continue its work throughout the period of the gospel dispensation."—*The Great Controversy*, p. viii.

#### The remnant people and the gift of prophecy

## 5. What spiritual gift was prophesied to support the remnant people in the last days?

REVELATION 12:17; 19:10 And the dragon was wroth with the woman, and went to make war with the remnant of her seed, which keep the commandments of God, and have the testimony of Jesus Christ.... <sup>19:10</sup>And I fell at his feet to worship him. And he said unto me, See thou do it not: I am thy fellowservant, and of thy brethren that have the testimony of Jesus: worship God: for the testimony of Jesus is the spirit of prophecy.

"'And the dragon was wroth with the woman, and went to make war with the remnant of her seed, which keep the commandments of God, and have the testimony of Jesus Christ.' This prophecy points out clearly that the remnant church will acknowledge God in His law and will have the prophetic gift. Obedience to the law of God, and the Spirit of prophecy has always distinguished the true people of God, and the test is usually given on present manifestations." —Loma Linda Messages, p. 33.

#### PURPOSE OF THE GIFT OF PROPHECY

6. What is the Lord's purpose in sending His prophets and prophecy to His people? What appeal is made regarding the light and word of prophecy?

2 Peter 1:19 We have also a more sure word of prophecy; whereunto ye do well that ye take heed, as unto a light that shineth in a dark place, until the day dawn, and the day star arise in your hearts.

"The Word of God is sufficient to enlighten the most beclouded mind, and may be understood by those who have any desire to understand it. But notwithstanding all this, some who profess to make the Word of God their study, are found living in direct opposition to its plainest teachings. Then, to leave men and women without excuse, God gives plain and pointed testimonies, bringing them back to the Word that they have neglected to follow. The Word of God abounds in general principles for the formation of correct habits of living, and the Testimonies, general and personal, have been calculated to call their attention more especially to these principles." – Testimonies for the Church, vol. 5, pp. 663, 664.

#### Blessings for those who trust the prophets' messages

7. What happens when the gift of prophecy is not available or not accepted? How will those who trust the Lord's prophets and accept His messages be blessed?

PROVERBS 29:18 Where there is no vision, the people perish: but he that keepeth the law, happy is he.

2 Chronicles 20:20 And they rose early in the morning, and went forth into the wilderness of Tekoa: and as they went forth, Jehoshaphat stood and said, Hear me, O Judah, and ye inhabitants of Jerusalem; Believe in the Lord your God, so shall ye be established; believe his prophets, so shall ye prosper.

"The apostle cautioned the Thessalonians not to despise the gift of prophecy, and in the words, 'Quench not the Spirit; despise not prophesyings; prove all things; hold fast that which is good,' he enjoined a careful discrimination in distinguishing the false from the true. He besought them to 'abstain from all appearance of evil;' and closed his letter with the prayer that God would sanctify them wholly, that in 'Spirit and soul and body' they might 'be preserved blameless unto the coming of our Lord Jesus Christ. Faithful is He that calleth you,' he added, 'who also will do it.' 1 Thessalonians 5:19-24." —The Acts of the Apostles, pp. 263, 264.

"We must follow the directions given through the Spirit of prophecy. We must love and obey the truth for this time. This will save us from accepting strong delusions. God has spoken to us through His Word. He has spoken to us through the Testimonies to the church, and through the books that have helped to make plain our present duty and the position that we should now occupy." —*Testimonies for the Church*, vol. 8, p. 298.

#### FOR ADDITIONAL STUDY

"We are living in the last days, in a time when we may expect much from the Lord. These words [Joel 2:28] should bring us to the throne of grace to claim great things of Him. Here the promise is given that on the men and women and on our sons and daughters the Holy Spirit is to come; and 'whosoever shall call upon the name of the Lord shall be saved.' This brings to view a wonderful work to be done, for which we need the converting power of God in our hearts every day. It is our privilege to experience this. Heaven is full of blessings, and it is our privilege to claim the rich promises of God for our individual selves. We need to seek the Lord day and night that we may know just what steps to take and just what we ought to do." –My Life Today, p. 62.

"During the ages while the Scriptures of both the Old and the New Testament were being given, the Holy Spirit did not cease to communicate light to individual minds, apart from the revelations to be embodied in the Sacred Canon. The Bible itself relates how, through the Holy Spirit, men received warning, reproof, counsel, and instruction, in matters in no way relating to the giving of the Scriptures. And mention is made of prophets in different ages, of whose utterances nothing is recorded. In like manner, after the close of the canon of the Scripture, the Holy Spirit was still to continue its work, to enlighten, warn, and comfort the children of God." – The Great Controversy, p. viii.

\* \* \*

## 25

Sabbath, December 19, 2015

## The Temple of God

"Our bodies are Christ's purchased property, and we are not at liberty to do with them as we please. Man has done this. He has treated his body as if its laws had no penalty.... Because man has sinned against his body, and has corrupted his ways, God is dishonored." —*Counsels on Diet and Foods*, p. 18.

"When men take any course which needlessly expends their vitality or beclouds their intellect, they sin against God; they do not glorify Him in their body and spirit, which are His."—Christian Temperance and Bible Hygiene, p. 8.

### The body-temple of the Holy Spirit

- 1. As what does the word of the Lord describe the body? On that basis, what should we do with our body, soul, and spirit?
  - 1 Corinthians 6:19, 20 What? know ye not that your body is the temple of the Holy Ghost which is in you, which ye have of God, and ye are not your own? <sup>20</sup>For ye are bought with a price: therefore glorify God in your body, and in your spirit, which are God's.

Romans 14:7, 8 For none of us liveth to himself, and no man dieth to himself. \*For whether we live, we live unto the Lord; and whether we die, we die unto the Lord: whether we live therefore, or die, we are the Lord's.

"We are not our own. We have been purchased with a dear price, even the sufferings and death of the Son of God. If we could understand this, and fully realize it, we would feel a great responsibility resting upon us to keep ourselves in the very best condition of health, that we might render to God perfect service. But when we take any course which expends our vitality, decreases our strength, or beclouds the intellect we sin against God. In pursuing this course we are not glorifying Him in our bodies and spirits which are His, but are committing a great wrong in His sight." –*Testimonies for the Church*, vol. 2, p. 354.

#### The food of Eden and in the wilderness

# 2. What food did the Lord provide for Adam and Eve in Eden? What did He give His people to eat on the way to Canaan?

Genesis 1:29 And God said, Behold, I have given you every herb bearing seed, which is upon the face of all the earth, and every tree, in the which is the fruit of a tree yielding seed; to you it shall be for meat.

Exodus 16:4, 35 Then said the Lord unto Moses, Behold, I will rain bread from heaven for you; and the people shall go out and gather a certain rate every day.... <sup>35</sup>And the children of Israel did eat manna forty years, until they came to a land inhabited; they did eat manna, until they came unto the borders of the land of Canaan.

"In choosing man's food in Eden, the Lord showed what was the best diet; in the choice made for Israel, He taught the same lesson....

"When God led the children of Israel out of Egypt, it was His purpose to establish them in the land of Canaan a pure, happy, healthy people. Let us look at the means by which He would accomplish this. He subjected them to a course of discipline, which, had it been cheerfully followed, would have resulted in good, both to themselves and to their posterity. He removed flesh food from them in a great measure. He had granted them flesh in answer to their clamors, just before reaching Sinai, but it was furnished for only one day. God might have provided flesh as easily as manna, but a restriction was placed upon the people for their good. It was His purpose to supply them with food better suited to their wants than the feverish diet to which many of them had been accustomed in Egypt. The perverted appetite was to be brought into a more healthy state, that they might enjoy the food originally provided for man—the fruits of the earth, which God gave to Adam and Eve in Eden."—Counsels on Diet and Foods, pp. 374, 377, 378.

#### FOOD IN THE NEW EARTH

3. What will grow in the new earth to provide food and health for the children of the King? Keeping both the past and the future in mind, what should God's people do today to preserve their health in the best possible way?

Isaiah 65:21 And they shall build houses, and inhabit them; and they shall plant vineyards, and eat the fruit of them.

EZEKIEL 47:12 And by the river upon the bank thereof, on this side and on that side, shall grow all trees for meat, whose leaf shall not fade, neither shall the fruit thereof be consumed: it shall bring forth new fruit according to his months, because their waters they issued out of the sanctuary: and the fruit thereof shall be for meat, and the leaf thereof for medicine.

"There the Eden life will be lived, the life in garden and field. [Isaiah 65:21, 22 quoted.]" – *Education*, p. 303.

"Will the people who are preparing to become holy, pure, and refined, that they may be introduced into the society of heavenly angels, continue to take the life of God's creatures and subsist on their flesh and enjoy it as a luxury? From what the Lord has shown me, this order of things will be changed, and God's peculiar people will exercise temperance in all things." —Testimonies for the Church, vol. 2, p. 63.

"Those who have received instruction regarding the evils of the use of flesh foods, tea and coffee, and rich and unhealthful food preparations, and who are determined to make a covenant with God by sacrifice, will not continue to indulge their appetite for food that they know to be unhealthful. God demands that the appetites be cleansed, and that self-denial be practiced in regard to those things which are not good. This is a work that will have to be done before His people can stand before Him a perfected people." —Counsels on Diet and Foods, p. 36.

#### MODESTY AND DECENCY IN APPAREL

- 4. Since our bodies are the temples of God, what should characterize our outward appearance and our lives for the honor of the divine Creator?
  - 1 Timothy 2:9, 10 In like manner also, that women adorn themselves in modest apparel, with shamefacedness and sobriety; not with broided hair, or gold, or pearls, or costly array; <sup>10</sup>But (which becometh women professing godliness) with good works.
  - 1 Peter 3:2-4 While they behold your chaste conversation coupled with fear. <sup>3</sup>Whose adorning let it not be that outward adorning of plaiting the hair, and of wearing of gold, or of putting on of apparel; <sup>4</sup>But let it be the hidden man of the heart, in that which is not corruptible, even the ornament of a meek and quiet spirit, which is in the sight of God of great price.

"Dress as Christians should dress–simply, plainly adorn yourselves as becometh women professing godliness, with good works." –Child Guidance, p. 421.

"The lesson applies to believers in every age. 'By their fruits ye shall know them.' Matthew 7:20. The inward adorning of a meek and quiet spirit is priceless. In the life of the true Christian the outward adorning is always in harmony with the inward peace and holiness. 'If any man will come after Me,' Christ said, 'let him deny himself, and take up his cross, and follow Me.' Matthew 16:24. Self-denial and sacrifice will mark the Christian's life. Evidence that the taste is converted will be seen in the dress of all who walk in the path cast up for the ransomed of the Lord." –The Acts of the Apostles, p. 523.

#### The importance of temperance

- 5. What balance should we maintain, regardless of society's ideas and practices? What should be our goal in eating, drinking, dressing, speaking, and everything that we do?
  - 2 Peter 1:6 And to knowledge temperance; and to temperance patience; and to patience godliness.

GALATIANS 5:22, 23 But the fruit of the Spirit is love, joy, peace, longsuffering, gentleness, goodness, faith, <sup>23</sup>Meekness, temperance: against such there is no law.

1 Corinthians 10:31-33 Whether therefore ye eat, or drink, or whatsoever ye do, do all to the glory of God. <sup>32</sup>Give none offence, neither to the Jews, nor to the Gentiles, nor to the church of God: <sup>33</sup>Even as I please all men in all things, not seeking mine own profit, but the profit of many, that they may be saved.

"The strength of the temptation to indulge appetite can be measured only by the inexpressible anguish of our Redeemer in that long fast in the wilderness. He knew that the indulgence of perverted appetite would so deaden man's perceptions that sacred things could not be discerned. Adam fell by the indulgence of appetite; Christ overcame by the denial of appetite. And our only hope of regaining Eden is through firm self-control. If the power of indulged appetite was so strong upon the race, that, in order to break its hold the divine Son of God, in man's behalf, had to endure a fast of nearly six weeks, what a work is before the Christian! Yet, however great the struggle, he may overcome. By the help of that divine power which withstood the fiercest temptations that Satan could invent, he, too, may be entirely successful in his warfare with evil, and at last may wear the victor's crown in the kingdom of God." —Counsels on Diet and Foods, p. 167.

#### KEEPING BODY AND MIND HOLY

- 6. During His ministry, Jesus cleansed the temple twice, even though it would soon be destroyed. Now the temple of God on the earth is one's body. What should we do to keep our bodies clean?
  - 2 Corinthians 7:1 Having therefore these promises, dearly beloved, let us cleanse ourselves from all filthiness of the flesh and spirit, perfecting holiness in the fear of God.
  - 1 Thessalonians 5:23, 24 And the very God of peace sanctify you wholly; and I pray God your whole spirit and soul and body be preserved blameless unto the coming of our Lord Jesus Christ. <sup>24</sup>Faithful is he that calleth you, who also will do it.

"This is true sanctification. It is not merely a theory, an emotion, or a form of words, but a living, active principle, entering into the everyday life. It requires that our habits of eating, drinking, and dressing, be such as to secure the preservation of physical, mental, and moral health, that we may present to the Lord our bodies—not an offering corrupted by wrong habits but—'a living sacrifice, holy, acceptable unto God.'"—Counsels on Diet and Foods, p. 165.

#### **HEALTH AND BLESSING**

# 7. If we wish the Lord's blessing, what will be our purpose in life? What will be the result now if we joyfully follow the heavenly light and obey the Master's voice?

2 Corinthians 5:15 And that he died for all, that they which live should not henceforth live unto themselves, but unto him which died for them, and rose again.

Exodus 15:26 And said, If thou wilt diligently hearken to the voice of the Lord thy God, and wilt do that which is right in his sight, and wilt give ear to his commandments, and keep all his statutes, I will put none of these diseases upon thee, which I have brought upon the Egyptians: for I am the Lord that healeth thee.

PROVERBS 4:18, 22 But the path of the just is as the shining light, that shineth more and more unto the perfect day.... <sup>22</sup>For they are life unto those that find them, and health to all their flesh.

"God desired to make of His people Israel a praise and a glory. Every spiritual advantage was given them. God withheld from them nothing favorable to the formation of character that would make them representatives of Himself.

"Their obedience to the law of God would make them marvels of prosperity before the nations of the world. He who could give them wisdom and skill in all cunning work would continue to be their teacher, and would ennoble and elevate them through obedience to His laws. If obedient, they would be preserved from the diseases that afflicted other nations, and would be blessed with vigor of intellect. The glory of God, His majesty and power, were to be revealed in all their prosperity. They were to be a kingdom of priests and princes. God furnished them with every facility for becoming the greatest nation on the earth." –Christ's Object Lessons, p. 288.

#### FOR ADDITIONAL STUDY

Revelation 22:2; 1 Peter 4:2; Romans 14:7, 8.

"Let our sisters dress plainly, as many do, having the dress of good, durable material, appropriate for this age, and let not the dress question fill the mind.... They should clothe themselves in modest apparel, with shame-facedness and sobriety. Give to the world a living illustration of the inward adorning of the grace of God." —*Child Guidance*, p. 414.

"Adam and Eve fell through intemperate appetite. Christ came and withstood the fiercest temptation of Satan, and, in behalf of the race, overcame appetite, showing that man may overcome. As Adam fell through appetite, and lost blissful Eden, the children of Adam may, through Christ, overcome appetite, and through temperance in all things regain Eden." —Counsels on Diet and Foods, p. 70.

\* \* \*

## Read the Missionary Report for The Sabbath Watchman on page 134

## 26

Sabbath, December 26, 2015

## The Christian and Government

"In the name of the Lord we are to go forward, unfurling His banner, advocating His word. When the authorities command us not to do this work; when they forbid us to proclaim the commandments of God and the faith of Jesus, then it will be necessary for us to say as did the apostles: 'Whether it be right in the sight of God to hearken unto you more than unto God, judge ye. For we cannot but speak the things which we have seen and heard.' Acts 4:19, 20." —Testimonies for the Church, vol. 6, p. 395.

#### Origin and functions of government

1. What is written about the origin and existence of governments? As long as they remain within their God-given limits, what is their purpose?

Romans 13:1, 3, 4 Let every soul be subject unto the higher powers. For there is no power but of God: the powers that be are ordained of God.... <sup>3</sup>For rulers are not a terror to good works, but to the evil. Wilt thou then not be afraid of the power? do that which is good, and thou shalt have praise of the same: <sup>4</sup>For he is the minister of God to thee for good. But if thou do that which is evil, be afraid; for he beareth not the sword in vain: for he is the minister of God, a revenger to execute wrath upon him that doeth evil.

"Who, then, is to be regarded as the Ruler of the nations? The Lord God Omnipotent. All kings, all rulers, all nations, are His, under His rule and government." —Seventh-day Adventist Bible Commentary, vol. 6, p. 1081.

"Rulers are God's servants, and they are to serve their time as His apprentices. It is for their good that they faithfully follow the plain 'Thus saith the Lord,' keeping the way of the Lord to do justice and judgment. They are to exercise their powers without partiality and without hypocrisy, refusing to be bought or sold, scorning all bribes, and standing in moral independence and dignity before God. They are not to connive at one act of dishonesty or injustice. They are not to do a base, unjust action themselves, nor to sustain others in acts of oppression. Wise rulers will not permit the people to be oppressed because of the envy and jealousy of those who disregard the law of God.... All need to keep eternity in view, and not to act in such a way that God cannot ratify their judgment in the courts of heaven." —Seventh-day Adventist Bible Commentary, vol. 6, p. 1081.

- 2. When it promotes good and punishes evil, what is our duty toward every governmental authority? When it carries out its legitimate mandate, is there any reason to question its authority?
  - 1 Peter 2:13-15 Submit yourselves to every ordinance of man for the Lord's sake: whether it be to the king, as supreme; <sup>14</sup>Or unto governors, as unto them that are sent by him for the punishment of evildoers, and for the praise of them that do well. <sup>15</sup>For so is the will of God, that with well doing ye may put to silence the ignorance of foolish men.

"I saw that it is our duty in every case to obey the laws of our land, unless they conflict with the higher law which God spoke with an audible voice from Sinai, and afterward engraved on stone with His own finger. 'I will put My laws into their mind, and write them in their hearts: and I will be to them a God, and they shall be to Me a people.' He who has God's law written in the heart will obey God rather than men, and will sooner disobey all men than deviate in the least from the commandment of God. God's people, taught by the inspiration of truth, and led by a good conscience to live by every word of God, will take His law, written in their hearts, as the only authority which they can acknowledge or consent to obey. The wisdom and authority of the divine law are supreme." —Testimonies for the Church, vol. 1, p. 361.

#### Not all laws and ordinances are good and just

3. Can it be said that all laws and ordinances are right and just, for the express purpose of holding back evil and promoting good? What are some recorded examples of governmental abuses and irregularities?

Exodus 1:8-10, 15, 16 Now there arose up a new king over Egypt, which knew not Joseph. <sup>9</sup>And he said unto his people, Behold, the people of the children of Israel are more and mightier than we: <sup>10</sup>Come on, let us deal wisely with them; lest they multiply, and it come to pass, that, when there falleth out any war, they join also unto our enemies, and fight against us, and so get them up out of the land.... <sup>15</sup>And the king of Egypt spake to the Hebrews midwives, of which the name of the one was Shiphrah, and the name of the other Puah: <sup>16</sup>And he said, When ye do the office of a midwife to the Hebrews women, and see them upon the stools; if it be a son, then ye shall kill him: but if it be a daughter, then she shall live.

1 Samuel 22:11, 16 Then the king sent to call Ahimelech the priest, the son of Ahitub, and all his father's house, the priests that were in Nob: and they came all of them to the king.... <sup>16</sup>And the king said, Thou shalt surely die, Ahimelech, thou, and all thy father's house.

"Worldly men are governed by worldly principles. They can appreciate no other. Worldly policy and public opinion comprise the principle of action that governs them and leads them to practice the form of right doing. But God's people cannot be governed by these motives. The words and commands of God, written in the soul, are spirit and life, and there

is power in them to bring into subjection and enforce obedience." – *Testimonies for the Church*, vol. 1, p. 361.

#### In case of governmental overreach

4. What principle is the Christian to follow when there is a conflict between God's law and Caesar's requirements? In time of war, can a Christian take up weapons and kill his fellow human beings if the government requires it?

Matthew 22:15-17, 21 Then went the Pharisees, and took counsel how they might entangle him in his talk. <sup>16</sup>And they sent out unto him their disciples with the Herodians, saying, Master, we know that thou art true, and teachest the way of God in truth, neither carest thou for any man: for thou regardest not the person of men. <sup>17</sup>Tell us therefore, What thinkest thou? Is it lawful to give tribute unto Caesar, or not? They say unto him, Caesar's.... <sup>21</sup>Then saith he unto them, Render therefore unto Caesar the things which are Caesar's; and unto God the things that are God's.

#### Exodus 20:13 Thou shalt not kill.

"The Saviour's words, 'Render ... unto God the things that are God's' (Matthew 22:21), were a severe rebuke to the intriguing Jews. Had they faithfully fulfilled their obligations to God, they would not have become a broken nation, subject to a foreign power. No Roman ensign would have waved over Jerusalem, no Roman sentinel would have stood at her gates, no Roman governor would have ruled within her walls. The Jewish nation was then paying the penalty of its apostasy from God.

"When the Pharisees heard Christ's answer, 'they marveled, and left Him, and went their way.' Matthew 22:22. He had rebuked their hypocrisy and presumption, and in doing this He had stated a great principle, a principle that clearly defines the limits of man's duty to the civil government and his duty to God." —*The Desire of Ages*, pp. 602, 603.

5. For example, did the servants of King Saul carry out his unjust and iniquitous order? What firm position did Daniel's three friends take when they were ordered to worship the image made by the Babylonian king?

1 Samuel 22:17 And the king said unto the footmen that stood about him, Turn, and slay the priests of the Lord; because their hand also is with David, and because they knew when he fled, and did not show it to me. But the servants of the king would not put forth their hand to fall upon the priests of the Lord.

Daniel 3:15-18 Now if ye be ready that at what time ye hear the sound of the cornet, flute, harp, sackbut, psaltery, and dulcimer, and all kinds of music, ye fall down and worship the image which I have made; well: but if ye worship not, ye shall be cast the same hour into the midst of a burning fiery furnace; and who is that God that shall deliver you out of my hands? <sup>16</sup>Shadrach, Meshach, and Abednego, answered and said to the king, O Nebuchadnezzar, we are not careful to answer thee in this matter. <sup>17</sup>If it be so, our God whom we serve is able to deliver us from the

burning fiery furnace, and he will deliver us out of thine hand, O king. <sup>18</sup>But if not, be it known unto thee, O king, that we will not serve thy gods, nor worship the golden image which thou hast set up.

"Teach the people to conform in all things to the laws of their state when they can do so without conflicting with the law of God." —*Testimonies for the Church*, vol. 9, p. 238.

"The ten precepts of Jehovah are the foundation of all righteous and good laws. Those who love God's commandments will conform to every good law of the land. But if the requirements of the rulers are such as conflict with the laws of God, the only question to be settled is: Shall we obey God, or man?" —Testimonies for the Church, vol. 1, pp. 361, 362.

6. Following the same principle of fidelity to God, what did the disciples reply when the Jewish authorities commanded them to stop preaching in the name of Jesus?

Acts 4:18; 5:28, 29 And they called them, and commanded them not to speak at all nor teach in the name of Jesus. But Peter and John answered and said unto them, Whether it be right in the sight of God to hearken unto you more than unto God, judge ye.... <sup>5:28</sup>Saying, Did not we straitly command you that ye should not teach in this name? and, behold, ye have filled Jerusalem with your doctrine, and intend to bring this man's blood upon us. <sup>29</sup>Then Peter and the other apostles answered and said, We ought to obey God rather than men.

"This principle we in our day are firmly to maintain. The banner of truth and religious liberty held aloft by the founders of the gospel church and by God's witnesses during the centuries that have passed since then, has, in this last conflict, been committed to our hands. The responsibility for this great gift rests with those whom God has blessed with a knowledge of His word. We are to receive this word as supreme authority. We are to recognize human government as an ordinance of divine appointment, and teach obedience to it as a sacred duty, within its legitimate sphere. But when its claims conflict with the claims of God, we must obey God rather than men. God's word must be recognized as above all human legislation. A 'Thus saith the Lord' is not to be set aside for a 'Thus saith the church' or a 'Thus saith the state.' The crown of Christ is to be lifted above the diadems of earthly potentates." – The Acts of the Apostles, pp. 68, 69.

#### Endurance and crown of life

7. What great sacrifice did God's people make to remain faithful to the end? What promise is made to all who endure opposition, persecution, or even death for the Lord's sake?

REVELATION 12:11; 2:10 And they overcame him by the blood of the Lamb, and by the word of their testimony; and they loved not their lives unto the death.... <sup>2:10</sup>Fear none of those things which thou shalt suffer: behold, the devil shall cast some of you into prison, that ye may be tried; and ye shall have tribulation ten days: be thou faithful unto death, and I will give thee a crown of life.

"All who will can be overcomers. Let us strive earnestly to reach the standard set before us. Christ knows our weakness, and to Him we can go daily for help. It is not necessary for us to gain strength a month ahead. We are to conquer from day to day." —Seventh-day Adventist Bible Commentary, vol. 7, p. 974.

"The kingdom of Christ.... Its principles of development are the opposite of those that rule the kingdoms of this world. Earthly governments prevail by physical force; they maintain their dominion by war; but the founder of the new kingdom is the Prince of Peace. The Holy Spirit represents worldly kingdoms under the symbol of fierce beasts of prey; but Christ is 'the Lamb of God, which taketh away the sin of the world.' John 1:29. In His plan of government there is no employment of brute force to compel the conscience. The Jews looked for the kingdom of God to be established in the same way as the kingdoms of the world. To promote righteousness they resorted to external measures. They devised methods and plans. But Christ implants a principle. By implanting truth and righteousness, He counterworks error and sin." –Christ's Object Lessons, p. 77.

#### FOR ADDITIONAL STUDY

Matthew 2:16; 5:21, 22; 10:17, 18, 22.

"David's power had been given him by God, but to be exercised only in harmony with the divine law. When he commanded that which was contrary to God's law, it became sin to obey. 'The powers that be are ordained of God' (Romans 13:1), but we are not to obey them contrary to God's law. The apostle Paul, writing to the Corinthians, sets forth the principle by which we should be governed. He says, 'Be ye followers of me, even as I also am of Christ.' 1 Corinthians 11:1." —Patriarchs and Prophets, p. 719.

\* \* \*

# MISSIONARY APPEAL FOR THE SABBATH WATCHMAN

To be read on Sabbath, December 26, 2015

The Special Sabbath School Offering will be gathered on Sabbath, January 2, 2016

## A Call to Support the Publishing Work

The publications sent forth from our printing houses are to prepare a people to meet God. Throughout the world they are to do the same work that was done by John the Baptist for the Jewish nation. By startling messages of warning, God's prophet awakened men from worldly dreaming. Through him God called backsliding Israel to repentance. By his presentation of truth he exposed popular delusions. In contrast with the false theories of his time, truth in his teaching stood forth as an eternal certainty. "Repent ye: for the kingdom of heaven is at hand," was John's message. Matthew 3:2. This same message, through the publications from our printing houses, is to be given to the world today.

The prophecy that John's mission fulfilled outlines our work: "Prepare ye the way of the Lord, make His paths straight." Verse 3. As John prepared the way for the first, so we are to prepare the way for the second advent of the Saviour. Our publishing institutions are to exalt the claims of God's downtrodden law. Standing before the world as reformers, they are to show that the law of God is the foundation of all enduring reform. In clear, distinct lines they are to present the necessity of obedience to all His commandments. Constrained by the love of Christ, they are to cooperate with Him in building up the old waste places, raising up the foundations of many generations. They are to stand as repairers of the breach, restorers of paths to dwell in. Through their testimony the Sabbath of the fourth commandment is to stand as a witness, a constant reminder of God, to attract notice and arouse investigation that shall direct the minds of men to their Creator.

Let it never be forgotten that these institutions are to cooperate with the ministry of the delegates of heaven. They are among the agencies represented by the angel flying "in the midst of heaven, having the everlasting gospel to preach unto them that dwell on the earth, and to every nation, and kindred, and tongue, and people, saying with a loud voice, Fear God, and give glory to Him; for the hour of His judgment is come." Revelation 14:6, 7.

From them is to go forth the terrible denunciation: "Babylon is fallen, is fallen, that great city, because she made all nations drink of the wine of the wrath of her fornication." Verse 8.

They are represented by the third angel that followed, "saying with a loud voice, If any man worship the beast and his image, and receive his mark in his forehead, or in his hand, the same shall drink of the wine of the wrath of God." Verses 9, 10.

And in a large degree through our publishing houses is to be accomplished the work of that other angel who comes down from heaven with great power and who lightens the earth with his glory.

Solemn is the responsibility that rests upon our houses of publication. Those who conduct these institutions, those who edit the periodicals and prepare the books, standing as they do in the light of God's purpose, and called to give warning to the world, are held by God accountable for the souls of their fellow men. To them, as well as to the ministers of the word, applies the message given by God to His prophet of old: "Son of man, I have set thee a watchman unto the house of Israel; therefore thou shalt hear the word at My mouth, and warn them from Me. When I say unto the wicked, O wicked man, thou shalt surely die; if thou dost not speak to warn the wicked from his way, that wicked man shall die in his iniquity; but his blood will I require at thine hand." Ezekiel 33:7, 8.

Never did this message apply with greater force than it applies today....

To every human being in the wide world who will give heed, we are to make plain the principles at stake in the great controversy-principles upon which hangs the eternal destiny of the soul. To the people far and near we are to bring home the question: "Are you following the great apostate in disobedience to God's law, or are you following the Son of God, who declared, 'I have kept My Father's commandments'?"

This is the work before us; for this our publishing institutions were established; it is this work that God expects at their hands....

Do not encourage criticism and complaining. Let no murmurs or complaints come from your lips; remember that angels hear these words. All must be led to see that these institutions are of God's appointment. Those who disparage them in order to serve their own interests must render an account to God. He designs that everything connected with His work shall be treated as sacred....

God wants us to do much more praying and much less talking.

Brethren and sisters, the Lord will be pleased if you will take hold heartily to sustain the publishing institution with your prayers and your means. Pray every morning and evening that it may receive God's richest blessings. —*Testimonies for the Church*, vol. 7, pp. 139-142, 182, 183.

-Ellen G. White

The offerings gathered this coming Sabbath will help to publish *The Sabbath Watchman*. In addition to your prayers and donations, your suggestions, spiritual articles, news items, and personal experiences are also solicited. God bless us all in His service.

-Larry Watts General Conference Publishing Department Leader